

ADS127L21B 512kSPS、高精度、24 ビット、広帯域幅デルタ シグマ ADC

1 特長

- AC 性能と DC 精度を両立:
 - ダイナミックレンジ (200kSPS): 111.5dB (標準値)
 - INL:FSR の 0.2ppm (標準値)
 - THD:-125dB (標準値)
 - オフセットドリフト:50nV/°C (標準値)
 - ゲインドリフト:0.5ppm/°C (標準値)
- 電力スケーラブルな速度モード:
 - 最高速度:512kSPS、33mW (標準値)
 - 高速度:400kSPS、26mW (標準値)
 - 中速度:200kSPS、14mW (標準値)
 - 低速度:50kSPS、4.3mW (標準値)
- 広帯域または低レイテンシのフィルタオプション
- データレートをプログラム可能:
 - 広帯域フィルタモード:512kSPS
 - 低レイテンシフィルタモード:1.365MSPS
- プログラム可能な IIR および FIR デジタル フィルタ
- バッファ付き入力
 - 1.5µA 入力電流 (標準値)、中速度モード
- 入力範囲:±V_{RFF} または ±2V_{RFF}
- 内部または外部クロック動作
- 変換レイテンシ (低レイテンシ フィルタ):3µs
- 機能安全対応
 - 機能安全システムの設計に役立つ資料を利用可 能

2 アプリケーション

- 試験および測定機器:
 - データ アクイジション (DAQ) – デジタル マルチメータ
- ファクトリオートメーション/制御:
 - 振動、コンディション監視
- 医療:
- ドップラー超音波
- グリッド インフラストラクチャ:
 - 電力品質分析器



概略ブロック図

3 概要

ADS127L21B は、プログラマブル デジタル フィルタを特 徴とする、24 ビットのデルタ シグマ (ΔΣ) A/D コンバータ (ADC) です。このデジタル フィルタのデータ レートは、広 帯域フィルタ使用時に最大 512kSPS、低レイテンシフィ ルタ使用時に最大 1365kSPS です。本デバイスは、低消 費電力で優れた AC 性能と DC 精度を備えています。

低ドリフトの変調器は、最大 0.8ppm の INL (0°C~70°C) の優れた DC 精度と、低広帯域ノイズの優れた AC 性能 を達成しています。アーキテクチャは、消費電力に関する 拡張性が高く、データレート、分解能、消費電力を最適化 するために、4 つの速度モードがあります。信号およびリフ アレンス入力バッファは、ドライバの負荷を低減して精度を 向上させます。

プログラム可能な無限および有限インパルス応答 (IIR お よび FIR) デジタル フィルタにより、A 重み付け補償や周 波数ノッチ フィルタなどのカスタムのフィルタ プロファイル を使用できます。広帯域または低レイテンシのフィルタオ プションにより、AC 信号の性能または DC 信号のデータ スループットをすべて1つのデバイスで最適化します。

絶縁バリア越しの信号ラインの数を減らすため、シリアル インターフェイスはデイジー チェーン機能を備えていま す。動作の信頼性を高めるため、SPI 入力データとレジス タメモリの内容は巡回冗長性検査 (CRC) で検証されま す。

3mm × 3mm WQFN パッケージは、スペースに制約のあ るアプリケーション向けに設計されています。本デバイス は、-40℃~+125℃の温度範囲について完全に動作が 規定されており、ADS127L21 とピン互換です。

パッケージ情報

部品番号	パッケージ ⁽¹⁾	パッケージ サイズ ⁽²⁾
ADS127L21B	RUK (WQFN、20)	3mm × 3mm

詳細については、「メカニカル、パッケージ、および注文情報」を参 (1) 照してください。

パッケージ サイズ (長さ×幅) は公称値であり、該当する場合はピ (2) ンも含まれます。





Table of Contents

1	特長1
2	アプリケーション1
3	概要1
4	Pin Configuration and Functions
5	Specifications4
	5.1 Absolute Maximum Ratings4
	5.2 ESD Ratings 4
	5.3 Recommended Operating Conditions5
	5.4 Thermal Information5
	5.5 Electrical Characteristics
	5.6 Timing Requirements $(1.65V \le IOVDD \le 2V)$
	5.7 Switching Characteristics $(1.65V \le IOVDD \le 2V)$ 13
	5.8 Timing Requirements ($2V < IOVDD \le 5.5V$)
	5.9 Switching Characteristics ($2V < IOVDD \le 5.5V$) 14
	5.10 Timing Diagrams
	5.11 Typical Characteristics
6	Parameter Measurement Information
	6.1 Offset Error Measurement
	6.2 Offset Drift Measurement
	6.3 Gain Error Measurement
	6.4 Gain Drift Measurement
	6.6 CMDD Measurement
	6.7 DSDD Massurement
	6.8 SND Moosurement
	6.0 INIL Error Mossurement

6.10 THD Measurement	34
6.11 IMD Measurement	35
6.12 SFDR Measurement	35
6.13 Noise Performance	
7 Detailed Description	42
7.1 Overview	
7.2 Functional Block Diagram	
7.3 Feature Description.	43
7.4 Device Functional Modes	65
7.5 Programming	71
8 Register Map	83
9 Application and Implementation	99
9.1 Application Information	
9.2 Typical Applications	100
9.3 Power Supply Recommendations	
9.4 Layout	110
10 Device and Documentation Support	112
10.1 Documentation Support	112
10.2ドキュメントの更新通知を受け取る方法	112
10.3 サポート・リソース	112
10.4 Trademarks	112
10.5 静電気放電に関する注意事項	112
10.6 用語集	112
11 Revision History	112
12 Mechanical, Packaging, and Orderable	
Information	113
-	



4 Pin Configuration and Functions



図 4-1. RUK Package, 20-Pin WQFN (Top View)

表 4-1. Pin Functions

NAME	PIN NO.	TYPE	DESCRIPTION
AINN	2	Analog input	Negative analog input; see the Analog Input section for details.
AINP	1	Analog input	Positive analog input; see the <i>Analog Input</i> section for details.
AVDD1	20	Analog Supply	Positive analog supply 1; see the <i>Power Supplies</i> section for details.
AVDD2	19	Analog Supply	Positive analog supply 2; see the <i>Power Supplies</i> section for details.
AVSS	17	Analog Supply	Negative analog supply; see the <i>Power Supplies</i> section for details.
CAPA	18	Analog output	Analog voltage regulator output capacitor bypass.
CAPD	15	Analog output	Digital voltage regulator output capacitor bypass.
CLK	12	Digital input	Clock input; see the Clock Operation section for details.
CS	7	Digital input	Chip select, active low; see the Chip Select section for details.
DGND	14	Ground	Digital ground.
DRDY	11	Digital output	Data ready, active low; see the <i>Data Ready</i> section for details.
IOVDD	13	Digital Supply	I/O supply voltage; see the <i>Power Supplies</i> section for details.
REFN	5	Analog input	Negative reference input; see the <i>Reference Voltage</i> section for details.
REFP	4	Analog input	Positive reference input; see the <i>Reference Voltage</i> section for details.
RESET	6	Digital input	Reset, active low; see the <i>Reset</i> section for details.
SCLK	9	Digital input	Serial data clock; see the Serial Clock section for details.
SDI	8	Digital input	Serial data input; see the Serial Data Input section for details.
SDO/DRDY	10	Digital output	Serial data output and data ready (optional); see the SDO/DRDY section for details.
START	16	Digital input	Conversion start; see the Synchronization section for details.
VCM	3	Analog output	Common-mode voltage output; see the VCM Output Voltage section for details.
Thermal Pad	Pad	_	Thermal power pad; connect to AVSS.



5 Specifications

5.1 Absolute Maximum Ratings

over operating ambient temperature range (unless otherwise noted) (1)

		MIN	MAX	UNIT
	AVDD1 to AVSS	-0.3	6.5	
Power-supply voltage LDO output pins Digital input/output voltage	AVDD2 to AVSS	-0.3	6.5	
Power-supply voltage	AVSS to DGND	MIN MAX UNIT -0.3 6.5 -0.3 6.5 -3 0.3 -0.3 6.5 -0.3 6.5 0 -0.3 0.3 6.5 0 0.3 0.3 1.65 V 0 DGND - 0.3 1.0VDD + 0.3 V 0 DGND - 0.3 6.5 V 0 0 0.000 - 0.3 0 0.000 - 0.3 0 0.000 - 0.3 0 0.000 - 0.3 0 0.000 - 0.3 0 0.000 - 0.3 0 0.000 - 0.3 0.000 - 0.3 0.5 V 0.0000 - 0.3 0 0.0000 - 0.3 0 0.0000 - 0.3 0.0000 - 0.3 0.00000 - 0.3 0.0000 - 0.3 0.00000000000000000000000000000000000		
	IOVDD to DGND	-0.3	6.5	
LDO output pins CAPD, Digital input/output voltage SDO/D	IOVDD to AVSS		8.5	
LDO output pins	CAPD, CAPA	DGND – 0.3	1.65	V
Digital input/output voltage	PD, CAPA DGND - 0.3 1.65 V O/DRDY, DRDY, START DGND - 0.3 IOVDD + 0.3 V	V		
	CS, SCLK, SDI, RESET, CLK	-0.3 6.5 -0.3 6.5 -0.3 6.5 -0.3 6.5 -0.3 6.5 0 -0.3 0.3 6.5 0.3 6.5 0.3 6.5 0.3 6.5 0.3 6.5 0.3 1.65 V 0GND - 0.3 0GND - 0.3 10VDD + 0.3 V 0GND - 0.3 0GND - 0.3 6.5 V 0GND - 0.3 0GND - 0.3 6.5 V 0GND - 0.3 0GND - 0.3 6.5 0 0GND - 0.3 0 0GND - 0.3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	v	
Input current	Continuous, any pin except power-supply pins ⁽²⁾	-10	10	mA
Tomporaturo	D1 to AVSS -0.3 6.5 D2 to AVSS -0.3 6.5 S to DGND -0.3 6.5 D1 to DGND -3 0.3 D0 to DGND -0.3 6.5 D0 to AVSS -0.3 6.5 D1 to AVSS -0.3 1.65 D, CAPA DGND - 0.3 1.65 VDRDY, DRDY, START DGND - 0.3 10VDD + 0.3 SCLK, SDI, RESET, CLK DGND - 0.3 6.5 inuous, any pin except power-supply pins ⁽²⁾ -10 10 ttion, T _J 150 150 age, T _{stg} -65 150	°C		
	Storage, T _{stg}	-65	150	C

(1) Operation outside the Absolute Maximum Ratings may cause permanent device damage. Absolute Maximum Ratings do not imply functional operation of the device at these or any other conditions beyond those listed under Recommended Operating Conditions. If briefly operating outside the Recommended Operating Conditions but within the Absolute Maximum Ratings, the device may not sustain damage, but it may not be fully functional – this may affect device reliability, functionality, performance, and shorten the device lifetime.

(2) Analog input pins AINP, AINN, REFP, and REFN are diode-clamped to AVDD1 and AVSS. Limit the input current to 10mA in the event the analog input voltage exceeds AVDD1 + 0.3V or AVSS – 0.3V. Digital input pin START and digital output pins SDO/DRDY and DRDY are diode-clamped to IOVDD and DGND. Digital input pins CS, SCLK, SDI, RESET and CLK are diode-clamped to DGND. Limit the input current to 10mA in the event the digital input voltage exceeds IOVDD + 0.3V (for effected pins) or exceeds DGND – 0.3V.

5.2 ESD Ratings

			VALUE	UNIT
V _(ESD) Electr	Electrostatic discharge	Human-body model (HBM), per ANSI/ESDA/JEDEC JS-001 ⁽¹⁾	1500	v
	Electrostatic discharge	Charged-device model (CDM), per ANSI/ESDA/JEDEC JS-002 ⁽²⁾	1000	

(1) JEDEC document JEP155 states that 500V HBM allows safe manufacturing with a standard ESD control process.

(2) JEDEC document JEP157 states that 250V CDM allows safe manufacturing with a standard ESD control process.



5.3 Recommended Operating Conditions

over operating ambient temperature range (unless otherwise noted)

				MIN	NOM	MAX	UNIT	
POWER	SUPPLY							
			Max-speed mode	4.5		5.5		
			High-speed mode	4.5		5.5	v	
	Analog power supply	AVDD1 to AVSS	Mid-speed mode	3		5.5		
			Low-speed mode	2.85		5.5		
		AVDD1 to DGND		1.65			V	
		Absolute ratio of AVS	SS / AVDD1 to DGND			1.2	V/V	
		AVDD2 to AVSS		1.74		5.5	.,	
		AVSS to DGND		-2.75		0	V	
	Digital power supply	IOVDD to DGND		1.65		5.5	V	
ANALO	GINPUTS							
VAIND,		Precharge buffer off		AVSS - 0.05		AVDD1 + 0.05		
V _{AINN} Absolute input voltage	Precharge buffer on		AVSS + 0.1		AVDD1 - 0.1	V		
	Differential input voltage $V_{IN} = V_{AINP} - V_{AINN}$	1x input range		-V _{REF}		V _{REF}		
VIN		2x input range		-2·V _{REF}		2·V _{REF}	V	
VOLTAC	SE REFERENCE INPUTS							
v	Differential reference voltage	Low-reference range		0.5	2.5	2.75		
VREF	$V_{REF} = V_{REFP} - V_{REFN}$	High-reference range	9	1	4.096	AVDD1 – AVSS	V	
V _{REFN}	Negative reference voltage			AVSS - 0.05			V	
.,		Precharge buffer off				AVDD1 + 0.05		
VREFP	Positive reference voltage	Precharge buffer on				AVDD1 - 0.7	v	
CLOCK	SIGNAL							
		Max-speed mode		0.5	32.768	33.66		
	_	High-speed mode		0.5	25.6	26.3		
TCLK	Frequency	Mid-speed mode		0.5	12.8	13.15	MHZ	
		Low-speed mode		0.5	3.2	3.29		
DIGITAL	INPUTS							
	Input voltage			DGND		IOVDD	V	
TEMPE	RATURE RANGE							
-		Operational		-45		125	*0	
IA	Ambient temperature	Specification		-40		125	υC	

5.4 Thermal Information

		ADS127L21B	
	THERMAL METRIC ⁽¹⁾	WQFN (RUK)	UNIT
		20 PINS	
R _{0JA}	Junction-to-ambient thermal resistance	58.3	°C/W
R _{0JC(top)}	Junction-to-case (top) thermal resistance	39.9	°C/W
R _{θJB}	Junction-to-board thermal resistance	29.2	°C/W
ΨJT	Junction-to-top characterization parameter	0.8	°C/W
Ψјв	Junction-to-board characterization parameter	29.1	°C/W
R _{0JC(bot)}	Junction-to-case (bottom) thermal resistance	25.9	°C/W

(1) For more information about traditional and new thermal metrics, see the Semiconductor and IC Package Thermal Metrics application note.

minimum and maximum specifications apply from $T_A = -40^{\circ}$ C to +125°C; typical specifications are at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C; all specifications are at AVDD1 = 5V, AVDD2 = 1.8V to 5V, AVSS = 0V, IOVDD = 1.8V, $V_{IN} = 0$ V, $V_{CM} = 2.5$ V, $V_{REFP} = 4.096$ V, $V_{REFN} = 0$ V, high-reference range, 1x input range, all speed modes, input precharge buffers on, and reference precharge buffer on (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CONDITIONS	MIN TYP	MAX	UNIT
ANALOG	INPUTS, MAX-SPEED MODE				
		Precharge buffers off	125		
	Input current, differential input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	60		μΑνν
		Precharge buffers on	±4		μA
		Precharge buffers off	5		~^^//°C
	Input current drift, differential input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	2		na/v/ C
		Precharge buffers on	5		nA/°C
		Precharge buffers off	6.5		
	Input current, common-mode input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	3		μΑνν
	common mode input ronage	Precharge buffers on	±4		μA
ANALOG	INPUTS, HIGH-SPEED MODE				
		Precharge buffers off	95		
	Input current, differential input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	47		μΑνν
		Precharge buffers on	±3		μA
		Precharge buffers off	3		~^^//°C
	Input current drift, differential input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	1.5		na/v/ C
		Precharge buffers on	5		nA/°C
		Precharge buffers off	5		
	Input current, common-mode input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	2.5		μΑνν
	common mode input ronage	Precharge buffers on	±3		μA
ANALOG	INPUTS, MID-SPEED MODE				
		Precharge buffers off	47		
	Input current, differential input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	25		μΑνν
		Precharge buffers on	±1.5		μA
		Precharge buffers off	2		nA\//°C
	Input current drift, differential input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	1		IIA/V/ C
		Precharge buffers on	5		nA/°C
		Precharge buffers off	2.5		
	Input current, common-mode input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	1.3		μ-λν
		Precharge buffers on	±1.5		μA
ANALOG	INPUTS, LOW-SPEED MODE				
		Precharge buffers off	12		<u>μ</u> ΔΛ/
	differential input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	6		μννν
		Precharge buffers on	±0.4		μA
	land the summer to the fifth	Precharge buffers off	1		nA/\/°C
	differential input voltage	Precharge buffers off 2x input range	0.5		
		Precharge buffers on	0.2		nA/°C
		Precharge buffers off	0.6		
	common-mode input voltage	Precharge buffers off, 2x input range	0.3		Pr V V
		Precharge buffers on	±0.4		μA



minimum and maximum specifications apply from $T_A = -40^{\circ}$ C to $+125^{\circ}$ C; typical specifications are at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C; all specifications are at AVDD1 = 5V, AVDD2 = 1.8V to 5V, AVSS = 0V, IOVDD = 1.8V, $V_{IN} = 0$ V, $V_{CM} = 2.5$ V, $V_{REFP} = 4.096$ V, $V_{REFN} = 0$ V, high-reference range, 1x input range, all speed modes, input precharge buffers on, and reference precharge buffer on (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CONI	DITIONS	MIN	ТҮР	MAX	UNIT
DC PERF	ORMANCE						
	Resolution	OSR ≥ 32			24		Bits
	Noise			See the Nois	se Performance	section for d	etails
		$T_A = 25^{\circ}C \pm 5^{\circ}C$			0.2	0.5	
		T _A = 0°C to 70°C				0.8	ppm of
		$T_A = -40^{\circ}C$ to $125^{\circ}C$				1.4	FSR
		Max-speed mode			1.5	5	
	Offset error	T _A = 25°C		-250	±30	250	μV
	Offset drift				50	200	nV/°C
	Offset long-term drift	1000hr			0.5		μV
	Gain error	T _A = 25°C		-2500	±200	2500	ppm of FSR
	Gain drift				0.5	1	ppm of FSR/°C
	Gain long-term drift	1000hr			10		ppm
	IRR Normal-mode rejection ratio	f _{IN} = 50Hz (±1Hz), f _{DATA} = 508	SPS, sinc4 filter	100			dB
		f _{IN} = 60Hz (±1Hz), f _{DATA} = 605	SPS, sinc4 filter	100			uВ
	MRR Common-mode rejection ratio	At dc		110	130		
CMRR		Up to 10kHz			115		dB
		At dc, 2x input range			95		
		AVDD1, dc		100	120		
PSRR	Power-supply rejection ratio	AVDD2, dc		115	130		dB
		IOVDD, dc		115	130		
AC PERF	ORMANCE, MAX-SPEED MODE	(f _{CLK} = 32.768MHz)					
		Full wideband filter		4		512	
france	Data rate	FIR2 wideband filter		8		1024	kSPS
Offs Offs Gain Gain Gain MRR NOR PSRR POW AC PERFORM, fDATA DR Dyn		FIR1 wideband filter		16		2048	
		Low-latency filter		0.1024		1365.3	
			Wideband filter	109	111.5		
			Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		107.5		dB
DR	Dynamic range	Inputs shorted, OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 256kSPS	Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		108.5		
			Sinc4 filter	112	114		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		110.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		111		
			Wideband filter		110		
			Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		106		dB
SNR	Signal-to-noise ratio	f _{IN} = 1kHz, V _{IN} = -0.2dBFS, OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 256kSPS	Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		107		
			Sinc4 filter		112		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		108.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		110		

minimum and maximum specifications apply from $T_A = -40^{\circ}$ C to +125°C; typical specifications are at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C; all specifications are at AVDD1 = 5V, AVDD2 = 1.8V to 5V, AVSS = 0V, IOVDD = 1.8V, $V_{IN} = 0$ V, $V_{CM} = 2.5$ V, $V_{REFP} = 4.096$ V, $V_{REFN} = 0$ V, high-reference range, 1x input range, all speed modes, input precharge buffers on, and reference precharge buffer on (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CON	DITIONS	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT
			V _{REF} = 2.5V		-119	-108	
TUD	-	f _{IN} = 1kHz, V _{IN} = -0.2dBFS	$T_A = 25^{\circ}C \pm 5^{\circ}C$		-110	-107	15
	Iotal harmonic distortion	OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 256kSPS	$T_A = 0^{\circ}C$ to +70°C	· · ·	· · · · · ·	-105	aв
			$T_{A} = -40^{\circ}C \text{ to } +125^{\circ}C$	· · ·	· · · · · ·	-103	
		$f_{IN} = 9.7$ kHz and 10.3kHz,	Second-order terms	· · ·	-125		15
	Intermodulation distortion	$V_{IN} = -6.5 dBFS$	Third-order terms	· · ·	-120		aв
SFDR	Spurious-free dynamic range	f _{IN} = 1kHz, V _{IN} = -0.2dBFS, 0	DSR = 64		110		dB
AC PERF	FORMANCE, HIGH-SPEED MODI	E (f _{CLK} = 25.6MHz)				1	
		Full wideband filter		3.125		400	
		FIR2 wideband filter		6.25		800	1000
† _{DATA}	Data rate	FIR1 wideband filter		12.5		1600	KSPS
		Low-latency filter		0.08		1067	
			Wideband filter	109	111.5		
			Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		107.5		dB
DR	Dynamic range	Inputs shorted, OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 200kSPS	Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		108.5		
			Sinc4 filter	112	114.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5 V		110.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		111		
		f _{IN} = 1kHz, V _{IN} = -0.2dBFS, OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 200kSPS	Wideband filter		110		dB
			Wideband filter, $V_{REF} = 2.5V$		106		
SNR	Signal-to-noise ratio		Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		107		
			Sinc4 filter		112		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		108.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		110		
			V _{REF} = 2.5V		-125	-115	dB
TUD	Total harmonic distortion	f _{IN} = 1kHz, V _{IN} = –0.2dBFS,	T _A = 25°C ± 5°C		-125	-118	
		$OSR = 64, f_{DATA} = 200kSPS$	$T_A = 0^{\circ}C$ to $70^{\circ}C$			-116	
			$T_{A} = -40^{\circ}C \text{ to } +125^{\circ}C$			-109	
	Intermedulation distortion	f _{IN} = 9.7kHz and 10.3kHz,	Second-order terms		-125		dB
		$V_{IN} = -6.5 dBFS$	Third-order terms		-125		dB
SFDR	Spurious-free dynamic range	f _{IN} = 1kHz, V _{IN} = -0.2dBFS, 0	OSR = 64		125		dB



minimum and maximum specifications apply from $T_A = -40^{\circ}$ C to $+125^{\circ}$ C; typical specifications are at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C; all specifications are at AVDD1 = 5V, AVDD2 = 1.8V to 5V, AVSS = 0V, IOVDD = 1.8V, $V_{IN} = 0$ V, $V_{CM} = 2.5$ V, $V_{REFP} = 4.096$ V, $V_{REFN} = 0$ V, high-reference range, 1x input range, all speed modes, input precharge buffers on, and reference precharge buffer on (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CONI	DITIONS	MIN	ТҮР	MAX	UNIT
AC PERF	ORMANCE, MID-SPEED MODE	(f _{CLK} = 12.8MHz)					
		Full wideband filter		1.5625		200	
f	Data rato	FIR2 wideband filter		3.125		400	VSDS
DATA		FIR1 wideband filter		6.25		800	KOF O
		Low-latency filter		0.08		533.3	
			Wideband filter	109	112		
			Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		107.5		
DR	Dynamic range	Inputs shorted, OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 100kSPS	Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V 2x input range		108.5		dB
			Sinc4 filter	112	114.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		110.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		111		
			Wideband filter		110		
			Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		106		
SNR	Signal-to-noise ratio	f _{IN} = 1 kHz, V _{IN} = -0.2 dBFS, OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 100kSPS	Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		107		dB
			Sinc4 filter		112		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		108.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		110		
			V _{REF} = 2.5V		-125	-117	dB
тип	Total harmonia distortion	f_{IN} = 1kHz, V_{IN} = -0.2dBFS, OSR = 64, f_{DATA} = 100kSPS	$T_A = 25^{\circ}C \pm 5^{\circ}C$		-125	-123	
			$T_A = 0^{\circ}C$ to $70^{\circ}C$			-121	
			$T_A = -40^{\circ}C$ to $+125^{\circ}C$			–115	
ІМП	Intermodulation distortion	f _{IN} = 9.7kHz and 10.3kHz,	Second-order terms		-125		dB
		V _{IN} = –6.5dBFS	Third-order terms		-125		
SFDR	Spurious-free dynamic range	f_{IN} = 1kHz, V_{IN} = -0.2dBFS, C)SR = 64		125		dB
AC PERF	ORMANCE, LOW-SPEED MODE	E (f _{CLK} = 3.2MHz)					
		Full wideband filter		0.390625		50	kSPS
foata	Data rate	FIR2 wideband filter		0.78125		100	
DATA		FIR1 wideband filter		1.5625		200	
		Low-latency filter		0.01		133.3	
			Wideband filter	109	112		
			Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		107.5		dB
DR	Dynamic range	Inputs shorted, OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 25kSPS	Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		108.5		
			Sinc4 filter	112	114.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		110.5		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		111.5		

minimum and maximum specifications apply from $T_A = -40^{\circ}$ C to +125°C; typical specifications are at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C; all specifications are at AVDD1 = 5V, AVDD2 = 1.8V to 5V, AVSS = 0V, IOVDD = 1.8V, $V_{IN} = 0$ V, $V_{CM} = 2.5$ V, $V_{REFP} = 4.096$ V, $V_{REFN} = 0$ V, high-reference range, 1x input range, all speed modes, input precharge buffers on, and reference precharge buffer on (unless otherwise noted)

PARAMETER		TEST CONDITIONS		MIN	TYP MAX	UNIT	
			Wideband filter		110		
			Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		106		
SNR	Signal-to-noise ratio	f _{IN} = 1kHz, V _{IN} = -0.2dBFS, OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 25kSPS	Wideband filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		108	dB	
			Sinc4 filter		112		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V		108		
			Sinc4 filter, V _{REF} = 2.5V, 2x input range		110		
			V _{REF} = 2.5V	-	-125 –115		
TUD	Total barmonia distortion	f _{IN} = 1kHz, V _{IN} = –0.2dBFS,	$T_A = 25^{\circ}C \pm 5^{\circ}C$	-	-125 –122	dP	
		OSR = 64, f _{DATA} = 25kSPS	$T_A = 0^{\circ}C$ to $70^{\circ}C$		-122		
			$T_{A} = -40^{\circ}C \text{ to } +125^{\circ}C$		-115]	
	Intermodulation distortion	f _{IN} = 9.7kHz and 10.3kHz,	Second-order terms	-	-125	dB	
		$V_{IN} = -6.5 dBFS$	Third-order terms	-	-125	dB	
SFDR	Spurious-free dynamic range	f_{IN} = 1kHz, V_{IN} = -0.2dBFS, 0	OSR = 64		125	dB	
DEFAULT	FIR FILTER						
		Within envelope of pass-band ripple		0.4 · f	DATA		
	Pass-band frequency	–0.1dB frequency		0.4125 · f _{DATA}		Hz	
		-3dB frequency		0.4374 · f	DATA		
	Pass-band ripple			-0.0004	0.0004	dB	
	Stop-band frequency	At stop-band attenuation		0.5 · f	DATA	Hz	
	Stop-band attenuation ⁽²⁾				106	dB	
	Group delay			34 / f	DATA	s	
	Settling time			68 / f	DATA	s	
	Overall decimation ratio			8	4096		
PROGRA	MMABLE FIR3 FILTER			•			
	Number of taps				128		
	Coefficient resolution				32	bits	
	Coefficient format				1.31		
	Decimal range			-1	1 - 1/2 ³¹		
	Decimation ratio				2		
PROGRA	MMABLE IIR FILTER			•			
	Implementation			Four biquads, d	irect form 1		
	Scale factors				5		
	Coefficient resolution				32	bits	
	Coefficient format				2.30		
	Decimal range			-2	$2 - 2/2^{31}$		
	Decimation ratio				1		



minimum and maximum specifications apply from $T_A = -40^{\circ}$ C to $+125^{\circ}$ C; typical specifications are at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C; all specifications are at AVDD1 = 5V, AVDD2 = 1.8V to 5V, AVSS = 0V, IOVDD = 1.8V, $V_{IN} = 0$ V, $V_{CM} = 2.5$ V, $V_{REFP} = 4.096$ V, $V_{REFN} = 0$ V, high-reference range, 1x input range, all speed modes, input precharge buffers on, and reference precharge buffer on (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CON	DITIONS	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT	
VOLTAGE	REFERENCE INPUTS			•				
			Max-speed mode		225			
	DEED and DEEN input surrant	DEED procharge huffer off	High-speed mode		190			
	REFP and REFN input current	REFP precharge buller on	Mid-speed mode		130		μΑ/ν	
			Low-speed mode		80			
	REFP input current	REFP precharge buffer on			±2		μA	
			Max-speed mode		10			
	REFP and REFN	DEED procharge huffer off	High-speed mode		10		nA/°C	
	input current drift	REFP precharge buller off	Mid-speed mode		10			
			Low-speed mode		10			
	REFP input current drift	REFP precharge buffer on	-1		10		nA/°C	
INTERNA	LOSCILLATOR	1		- I		1		
	Frequency			25.4	25.6	25.8	MHz	
VCM OUT	PUT VOLTAGE	1		- I		1		
	Output voltage			(AVDI	D1 + AVSS) /	2	V	
	Accuracy			-1%	±0.1%	1%		
	Voltage noise	1kHz bandwidth			25		μV _{RMS}	
	Start-up time	C _L = 100nF			1		ms	
	Capacitive load					100	nF	
	Resistive load			2			kΩ	
	Short-circuit current limit				10		mA	
DIGITAL I	NPUTS/OUTPUTS			- I				
V _{IL}	Logic-low input threshold					0.3 IOVDD	V	
V _{IH}	Logic-high input threshold			0.7 IOVDD			V	
	Input hysteresis				150		mV	
	Input current	Excluding RESET pin		-1		1	μA	
	RESET pin pullup resistor				20		kΩ	
V		OUT_DRV = 0b, I _{OL} = 2mA				0.2 · IOVDD	V	
VOL	Logic-low output voltage	OUT_DRV = 1b, I _{OL} = 1mA				0.2 · IOVDD	v	
V	Legis high output voltage	OUT_DRV = 0b, I _{OH} = -2mA		0.8 · IOVDD			V	
VOH	Logic-nigh output voltage	OUT_DRV = 1b, I _{OH} = -1mA		0.8 · IOVDD			v	
ANALOG	SUPPLY CURRENT	1		- I		1		
		Max-speed mode			2.1	2.2		
		High-speed mode			1.7	1.8		
I _{AVDD1} ,	AVDD1 and AVSS current	Mid-speed mode			0.9	1.0	mA	
I _{AVSS}	(buffers off)	Low-speed mode			0.25	0.3		
		Standby mode			35			
		Power-down mode			5		μΑ	

minimum and maximum specifications apply from $T_A = -40^{\circ}$ C to +125°C; typical specifications are at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C; all specifications are at AVDD1 = 5V, AVDD2 = 1.8V to 5V, AVSS = 0V, IOVDD = 1.8V, $V_{IN} = 0$ V, $V_{CM} = 2.5$ V, $V_{REFP} = 4.096$ V, $V_{REFN} = 0$ V, high-reference range, 1x input range, all speed modes, input precharge buffers on, and reference precharge buffer on (unless otherwise noted)

PARAMETER		TEST CONDITIONS		MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT
			Max-speed mode		1.75	2.3	
			High-speed mode		1.35	1.9	
		Input precharge buffer	Mid-speed mode		0.7	1.0 MA	
			Low-speed mode		0.2	0.3	
I _{AVDD1} ,	AVDD1 and AVSS additional		Max-speed mode		1.8	1.95	
AVSS			High-speed mode		1.5	1.6	
		REFP precharge buffer	Mid-speed mode		0.9	1.0	mA
			Low-speed mode		0.4	0.5	
		VCM buffer			0.1		mA
		Max-speed mode			4.5	4.9	
		High-speed mode			3.5	3.8	
		Mid-speed mode			2.2	2.5	mA
IAVSS	AVDD2 and AVSS current	Low-speed mode			0.85	0.95	
		Standby mode			60		
		Power-down mode		1		μA	
DIGITAL S							
	IOVDD current	Wideband filter. OSR = 32.	Max-speed mode		7.2	8.5	mA
			High-speed mode		5.7	6.8	
		IIR filter off	Mid-speed mode		2.8	3.4	
			Low-speed mode		0.75	0.9	
			Max-speed mode		1.1	1.3	mA
		Low-latency filter. OSR = 32	High-speed mode		0.85	1.0	
IIOVDD		, ,	Mid-speed mode		0.45	0.55	
			Low-speed mode		0.15	0.18	
			External clock		10		
		Standby mode	Internal oscillator		40		μA
		Power-down mode	1		10		μA
		IIR filter on. OSR = 32.	FIR/IIR sequence		0.3		
	IOVDD additional current	High-speed mode	IIR/FIR sequence		0.6		mA
POWER D	DISSIPATION						
			Max-speed mode		32.8		
		AVDD2 = 1.8V,	High-speed mode		26		
		Precharge buffers off, IIR and FIR filters. OSR = 32	Mid-speed mode		14		mW
			Low-speed mode		4.3		
PD	Power dissipation		Max-speed mode		20.6		
		AVDD2 = 1.8V,	High-speed mode		16.3		
		Precharge butters off, Low-latency filter, OSR = 32	Mid-speed mode		9.3		mW
		,,	Low-speed mode		3.1		

(1) Best-fit method.

(2) Stop-band attenuation as provided by the digital filter. Input frequencies in the stop band intermodulate with multiples of the chop frequency beginning at f_{MOD} / 32, which results in stop-band attenuation exceeding 106dB. See the Stop-Band Attenuation figure for details.



5.6 Timing Requirements (1.65V \leq IOVDD \leq 2V)

over operating ambient temperature range, unless otherwise noted

		MIN	MAX	UNIT
CLK PIN				
	CLK period, max-speed mode	29.7	2000	
t _{c(CLK)}	CLK period, high-speed mode	38	2000	20
	CLK period, mid-speed mode	76	2000	115
	CLK period, low-speed mode	304	2000	
	Pulse duration, CLK low, max-speed mode	13.2		
+	Pulse duration, CLK low, high-speed mode	17		20
^I w(CLKL)	Pulse duration, CLK low, mid-speed mode	34		115
	Pulse duration, CLK low, low-speed mode	128		
	Pulse duration, CLK high, max-speed mode	13.2		
+	Pulse duration, CLK high, high-speed mode	17		20
w(CLKH)	Pulse duration, CLK high, mid-speed mode	34		115
	Pulse duration, CLK high, low-speed mode	128		
SPI SERIAL	INTERFACE			
t _{c(SC)}	SCLK period	25	1/(4 · f _{DATA})	ns
t _{w(SCL)}	Pulse duration, SCLK low	10		ns
t _{w(SCH)}	Pulse duration, SCLK high	10		ns
t _{d(CSSC)}	Delay time, first SCLK rising edge after $\overline{\text{CS}}$ falling edge	10		ns
t _{su(DI)}	Setup time, SDI valid before SCLK falling edge	4		ns
t _{h(DI)}	Hold time, SDI valid after SCLK falling edge	6		ns
t _{d(SCCS)}	Delay time, CS rising edge after final SCLK falling edge	10		ns
t _{w(CSH)}	Pulse duration, CS high	20		ns
t _{d(FF)}	Delay time, between SPI frames during filter coefficient read/write operations	10		t _{CLK}
RESET PIN				
t _{w(RSL)}	Pulse duration, RESET low	4		t _{CLK}
t _{d(RSSC)}	Delay time, communication start after RESET rising edge or after SPI RESET pattern	10000		t _{CLK}
START PIN				
t _{w(STL)}	Pulse duration, START low	4		t _{CLK}
t _{w(STH)}	Pulse duration, START high	4		t _{CLK}
t _{su(STCLK)}	Setup time, START high before CLK rising edge ⁽¹⁾	9		ns
t _{h(STCLK)}	Hold time, START high after CLK rising edge ⁽¹⁾	9		ns
t _{su(STDR)}	Setup time, START falling edge or STOP bit before DRDY falling edge to stop next conversion (start/stop conversion mode)	8		t _{CLK}

(1) Do not apply START rising edge between the setup and hold times of CLK rising edge.

5.7 Switching Characteristics (1.65V \leq IOVDD \leq 2V)

over operating ambient temperature range, OUT_DRV = 0b, C_{LOAD} = 20pF (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CONDITIONS	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT
SPI SERIAL	INTERFACE					
t _{w(DRH)}	Pulse duration, DRDY high		2			t _{CLK}
t _{p(CSDO)}	Propagation delay time, CS falling edge to SDO/DRDY driven state				20	ns
t _{p(CSDOZ)}	Propagation delay time, CS rising edge to SDO/DRDY high-z state				20	ns
t _{h(SCDO)}	Hold time, SCLK rising edge to invalid SDO/DRDY		3			ns
t _{p(SCDO)}	Propagation delay time, SCLK rising edge to valid SDO/DRDY				23	ns
t _{p(SCDR)}	Propagation delay time, 8th SCLK falling edge to DRDY return high				5	t _{CLK}
t _{p(DODR)}	Propagation delay time, last SCLK falling edge of read operation for SDO/DRDY transition from SDO to DRDY mode	Dual function SDO/DRDY mode			50	ns



5.8 Timing Requirements ($2V < IOVDD \le 5.5V$)

over operating ambient temperature range, unless otherwise noted

		MIN	MAX	UNIT
CLK PIN			·	
	CLK period, max-speed mode	29.7	2000	
t _{c(CLK)}	CLK period, high-speed mode	38.2	2000	
	CLK period, mid-speed mode	76.4	2000	115
	CLK period, low-speed mode	305	2000	
	Pulse duration, CLK low, max-speed mode	13.2		
+	Pulse duration, CLK low, high-speed mode	17		20
w(CLKL)	Pulse duration, CLK low, mid-speed mode	34		115
	Pulse duration, CLK low, low-speed mode	128		
	Pulse duration, CLK high, max-speed mode	13.2		
+	Pulse duration, CLK high, high-speed mode	17		20
w(CLKH)	Pulse duration, CLK high, mid-speed mode	34		115
	Pulse duration, CLK high, low-speed mode	128		
SPI SERIAL	INTERFACE		·	
t _{c(SC)}	SCLK period	19.5	1/(4 · f _{DATA})	ns
t _{w(SCL)}	Pulse duration, SCLK low	8		ns
t _{w(SCH)}	Pulse duration, SCLK high	8		ns
t _{d(CSSC)}	Delay time, first SCLK rising edge after CS falling edge	10		ns
t _{su(DI)}	Setup time, SDI valid before SCLK falling edge	4		ns
t _{h(DI)}	Hold time, SDI valid after SCLK falling edge	6		ns
t _{d(SCCS)}	Delay time, CS rising edge after final SCLK falling edge	10		ns
t _{w(CSH)}	Pulse duration, CS high	20		ns
t _{d(FF)}	Delay time, between SPI frames during filter coefficient read/write operations	10		t _{CLK}
RESET PIN				
t _{w(RSL)}	Pulse duration, RESET low	4		t _{CLK}
t _{d(RSSC)}	Delay time, communication start after RESET rising edge or after SPI RESET pattern	10000		t _{CLK}
START PIN				
t _{w(STL)}	Pulse duration, START low	4		t _{CLK}
t _{w(STH)}	Pulse duration, START high	4		t _{CLK}
t _{su(STCLK)}	Setup time, START high before CLK rising edge ⁽¹⁾	9		ns
t _{h(STCLK)}	Hold time, START high after CLK rising edge ⁽¹⁾	9		ns
t _{su(STDR)}	Setup time, START falling edge or STOP bit before DRDY falling edge to stop next conversion (start/stop conversion mode)	8		t _{CLK}

(1) Do not apply START rising edge between the setup and hold times of CLK rising edge.

5.9 Switching Characteristics ($2V < IOVDD \le 5.5V$)

over operating ambient temperature range, OUT_DRV = 0b, CLOAD = 20pF (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CONDITIONS	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT
SPI SERIAL	INTERFACE					
t _{w(DRH)}	Pulse duration, DRDY high		2			t _{CLK}
t _{p(CSDO)}	Propagation delay time, CS falling edge to SDO/DRDY driven				17	ns
t _{p(CSDOZ)}	Propagation delay time, CS rising edge to SDO/DRDY high-z state				17	ns
t _{h(SCDO)}	Hold time, SCLK rising edge to invalid SDO/DRDY		3			ns
t _{p(SCDO)}	Propagation delay time, SCLK rising edge to valid SDO/DRDY				19	ns
t _{p(SCDR)}	Propagation delay time, 8th SCLK falling edge to DRDY return high				5	t _{CLK}
t _{p(DODR)}	Propagation delay time, last SCLK falling edge of read operation for SDO/DRDY transition from SDO to DRDY mode	Dual function SDO/DRDY mode			50	ns



5.10 Timing Diagrams















5.11 Typical Characteristics





























































(2)

6 Parameter Measurement Information

6.1 Offset Error Measurement

Offset error is measured with the ADC inputs externally shorted together. The input common-mode voltage is fixed to the midpoint of the AVDD1 and AVSS power-supply range. Offset error is specified at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C.

6.2 Offset Drift Measurement

Offset drift is defined as the change in offset voltage measured at multiple points over the specified temperature range. Offset drift is calculated using the *box method*. This method is where a box is formed over the maximum and minimum offset voltages and over the specified temperature range. The box method specifies limits for the temperature error but does not specify the exact shape and slope of the device under test.

 \vec{x} 1 shows the offset drift calculation using the box method:

Offset Drift (nV/°C) =
$$10^9 \cdot (V_{OFSMAX} - V_{OFSMIN}) / (T_{MAX} - T_{MIN})$$
 (1)

where:

- V_{OFSMAX} and V_{OFSMIN} = Maximum and minimum offset voltages over the specified temperature range
- T_{MAX} and T_{MIN} = Maximum and minimum temperatures

6.3 Gain Error Measurement

Gain error is defined as the difference between the actual and the ideal slopes of the ADC transfer function. Gain error is measured by applying dc test voltages at –95% and 95% of FSR. The error is calculated by subtracting the difference of the dc test voltages (ideal slope) from the difference in the ADC output voltages (actual slope). The difference in the slopes is divided by the ideal slope and multiplied by 10⁶ to convert the error to ppm of FSR. Error resulting from the ADC reference voltage is excluded from the gain error measurement. The gain error is specified at T_A = 25°C. \neq 2 shows the calculation of gain error:

Gain Error (ppm of FSR) =
$$10^6 \cdot (\Delta V_{OUT} - \Delta V_{IN}) / \Delta V_{IN}$$

where:

- ΔV_{OUT} = Difference of two ADC output voltages
- ΔV_{IN} = Difference of two input test voltages

6.4 Gain Drift Measurement

Gain drift is defined as the change of gain error measured at multiple points over the specified temperature range. The box method is used in which a box is formed over the maximum and minimum gain errors over the specified temperature range. The box method specifies limits for the temperature error but does not specify the exact shape and slope of the device under test. $\neq 3$ describes gain drift using the box method.

where:

- GE_{MAX} and GE_{MIN} = Maximum and minimum gain errors over the specified temperature range
- T_{MAX} and T_{MIN} = Maximum and minimum temperatures

6.5 NMRR Measurement

Normal-mode rejection ratio (NMRR) specifies the ability of the ADC to reject normal-mode input signals at specific frequencies. These frequencies are typically expressed at 50Hz and 60Hz input frequencies. Normal-mode rejection is uniquely determined by the frequency response of the digital filter. In this case, nulls in the frequency response of the low-latency sinc3 and sinc4 filters located at 50Hz and 60Hz provide rejection at these frequencies.



(4)

(5)

6.6 CMRR Measurement

Common-mode rejection ratio (CMRR) specifies the ability of the ADC to reject common-mode input signals. CMRR is expressed as dc and ac parameters. For CMRR (dc) measurement, three common-mode test voltages equal to AVSS + 50mV, (AVDD1 + AVSS) / 2, and AVDD1 – 50mV are applied. For this measurement, the inputs are shorted together. The maximum change of the ADC offset voltage is recorded versus the change in common-mode test voltage. \vec{x} 4 shows how CMRR (dc) is computed.

CMRR (dc) (dB) =
$$20 \cdot \log(\Delta V_{CM} / \Delta V_{OS})$$

where:

- ΔV_{CM} = Change of dc common-mode test voltage
- ΔV_{OS} = Change of corresponding offset voltage

For the measurement of CMRR (ac), an ac common-mode signal is applied at various test frequencies at 95% full-scale range. A fast Fourier transform (FFT) plot is computed from the ADC data with the common-mode signal applied. As shown in \neq 5, the nine largest amplitude spurious frequencies in the frequency spectrum are summed as powers. These frequencies are also related to the amplitude of the common-mode test signal.

PSRR (ac) (dB) =
$$20 \cdot \log(V_{CM} / V_O)$$

where:

- V_{CM} (RMS) = Common-mode input signal amplitude
- V_O (RMS) = Root-sum-square amplitude of spurious frequencies = $\sqrt{(V_0^2 + V_1^2 + ... V_8^2)}$

6.7 PSRR Measurement

Power-supply rejection ratio (PSRR) specifies the ability of the ADC to reject power-supply interference. PSRR is expressed as ac and dc parameters. For PSRR (dc) measurement, the power-supply voltage is changed over the range of minimum, nominal, and maximum specified voltages with the inputs externally shorted together. The maximum change of ADC offset voltage is recorded versus the change in power-supply voltage. PSRR (dc) is computed as shown in \vec{x} 6 as the ratio of change of the power-supply voltage step to the change of offset voltage.

$$PSRR (dc) (dB) = 20 \cdot \log(\Delta V_{PS} / \Delta V_{OS})$$
(6)

where:

- ΔV_{PS} = Change of power-supply voltage
- ΔV_{OS} = Change of offset voltage

For PSRR (ac) measurement, the power-supply voltage is modulated by a $100mV_{PP}$ ($35mV_{RMS}$) signal at various test frequencies. An FFT of the ADC data with power-supply modulation is performed. As shown in \neq 7, the nine largest amplitude spurious frequencies in the frequency spectrum are summed as powers. These frequencies are also related to the amplitude of the power-supply modulation signal.

$$PSRR (ac) (dB) = 20 \cdot log(V_{PS} / V_O)$$
(7)

where:

- V_{PS} (RMS) = 100mV ac power-supply modulation signal
- V₀ (RMS) = Root-sum-square amplitude of spurious frequencies = $\sqrt{(V_0^2 + V_1^2 + ...V_8^2)}$

6.8 SNR Measurement



Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) is a measure of noise performance with a full-scale ac input signal. For the SNR measurement, a -0.2dBFS, 1kHz test signal is used with V_{CM} equal to the mid-supply voltage. As shown in \pm 8, SNR is the ratio of the rms value of the input signal to the root-sum-square of all other frequency components. The frequency components are derived from an FFT computation of ADC output samples. When using FFT windowing because of non-coherent sampling, the spectral leakage of frequency bins surrounding the original signal are removed. DC and harmonics of the original signal are also removed.

SNR (dB) =
$$20 \cdot \log(V_{IN} / e_n)$$

(8)

where:

- V_{IN} = Input test signal
- e_n = Root-sum-square of frequency components excluding dc and signal harmonics

6.9 INL Error Measurement

Integral nonlinearity (INL) error specifies the linearity of the ADC dc transfer function. INL is measured by applying a series of dc test voltages along a straight line computed from the slope and offset transfer function of the ADC. INL is the difference between a set of dc test voltages $[V_{IN(N)}]$ to the corresponding set of output voltages $[V_{OUT(N)}]$. \overrightarrow{x} 9 shows the *end-point method* of calculating INL error.

INL (ppm of FSR) = maximum absolute value of INL test series $[10^6 \cdot (V_{IN(N)} - V_{OUT(N)}) / FSR]$ (9)

where:

- N = Index of dc test voltage
- [V_{IN(N)}] = Set of test voltages over the range –95% to 95% of FSR
- [V_{OUT(N)}] = Set of corresponding ADC output voltages
- FSR (full-scale range) = $2 \cdot V_{REF}$ (1x input range) or $4 \cdot V_{REF}$ (2x input range)

The INL *best-fit method* uses a least-squared error (LSE) calculation to determine a new straight line to minimize the root-sum-square of the INL errors above and below the original end-point line.

6.10 THD Measurement

Total harmonic distortion (THD) specifies the dynamic linearity of the ADC with an ac input signal. For the THD measurement, a -0.2dBFS, 1kHz differential input signal with V_{CM} equal to the mid-supply voltage is used. A sufficient number of data points are collected to yield an FFT result with frequency bin widths of 5Hz or less. The 5Hz bin width reduces the noise in the harmonic bins for consistent THD measurements. As shown in \neq 10, THD is calculated as the ratio of the root-sum-square amplitude of harmonics to the input signal amplitude.

THD (dB) =
$$20 \cdot \log(V_H / V_{IN})$$

where:

- V_{H} = Root-sum-square of harmonics: $\sqrt{(V_{2}^{2}+V_{3}^{2}+...V_{n}^{2})}$, where V_{n} = Ninth harmonic voltage
- V_{IN} = Input signal fundamental

(10)



(11)

(12)

6.11 IMD Measurement

Intermodulation distortion (IMD) specifies the mixing effect of two input frequencies. Frequency mixing is caused by ADC nonlinearity resulting in sum and difference frequencies not within the original signal. The IMD second-order terms are $(f_1 + f_2)$ and $(f_1 - f_2)$. The IMD third-order terms are $(2f_1 + f_2)$, $(2f_1 - f_2)$, $(f_1 + 2f_2)$, and $(f_1 - 2f_2)$. Test signals $f_1 = 9.7$ kHz and $f_2 = 10.3$ kHz are at -6.5dBFS. IMD₂ and IMD₃ are specified as the ratio of the root-sum-square second-order and third-order terms to the sum of the original test frequencies. \vec{x} 11 calculates IMD₂ and IMD₃.

$$IMD_2 (dB) = 20 \cdot log(V_2 / V_{IN})$$

$$IMD_3 (dB) = 20 \cdot log(V_3 / V_{IN})$$

where:

- IMD₂ = Second-order IMD
- IMD_3^- = Third-order IMD
- V₂ = Root-sum-square of second-order terms
- V₃ = Root-sum-square of third-order terms
- V_{IN} = Sum amplitude of two test signals

6.12 SFDR Measurement

SFDR is the ratio of the rms value of a single-tone ac input to the highest spurious signal in the ADC frequency spectrum. Spurious-free dynamic range (SFDR) measurement includes harmonics of the original signal. For the SFDR measurement, apply a -0.2dBFS, 1kHz input signal with V_{CM} equal to the mid-supply voltage. SFDR is the ratio of the rms values of the input signal to the single highest spurious signal, including harmonics of the original signal. \overrightarrow{T} 12 calculates SFDR.

SFDR (dB) =
$$20 \cdot \log(V_{IN} / V_{SPUR})$$

where:

- V_{IN} = Input test signal
- V_{SPUR} = Single highest spurious level



(14)

6.13 Noise Performance

The ADC provides four operational speed modes that provide trade-offs between ADC resolution, power consumption, and signal bandwidth. The modes are max speed, high speed, mid speed, and low speed, with decreasing orders of device power consumption. The wideband filter offers data rates up to 512kSPS (max-speed mode), 400kSPS (high-speed mode), 200kSPS (mid-speed mode), and 50kSPS (low-speed mode). Data are also accessible from the partial filters of the intermediate FIR1 or FIR2 stages for reduced filter time latency.

The low-latency sinc4 filter offers data rates up to 1.365MSPS (max-speed mode), 1.066MSPS (high-speed mode), 533kSPS (mid-speed mode), and 133kSPS (low-speed mode).

The programmable oversampling ratio (OSR) determines the output data rate and signal bandwidth, therefore affecting total noise performance. Increasing the OSR lowers the signal bandwidth and total noise by averaging more samples from the modulator to yield one conversion result.

 \pm 6-1 through \pm 6-5 summarize the noise performance of the filters. Noise performance is specified for the 1x input range and a 4.096V reference voltage. In comparison, decreasing the reference voltage to 2.5V decreases dynamic range by 4dB (typical). 2.5V reference voltage and 2x input range operation decreases dynamic range by 3dB (typical) compared to a 4.096V reference voltage and 1x input range operation.

Noise data are the result of the standard deviation (rms) of the conversion data with inputs shorted and biased to the mid-supply voltage. Noise data are representative of typical performance at $T_A = 25^{\circ}$ C. A minimum of 1,000 or 10 seconds of consecutive conversions (whichever occurs first) are used to measure RMS noise (e_n). Because of the statistical nature of noise, repeated noise measurements potentially yield higher or lower noise results.

式 13 converts RMS noise to dynamic range. 式 14 converts RMS noise to effective resolution.

Dynamic Range (dB) =
$$20 \cdot \log_{10}[FSR / (2 \cdot \sqrt{2} \cdot e_n)]$$
 (13)

Effective Resolution (bits) = $log_2(FSR / e_n)$

where:

- FSR = $2 \cdot V_{REF}$ (1x input range)
- FSR = 4 · V_{REF} (2x input range)
- e_n = Noise voltage (RMS)

When evaluating ADC noise performance, consider the effect of the external buffer and amplifier noise to the total noise performance. The noise performance of the ADC is evaluated in isolation of the amplifiers by selecting the input short test connection of the input multiplexer.

\mathbf{z} 6-1. Wideband Fliter Noise Performance (V _{RFF} = 4.096V, 1X input Rand	表 6-1	. Wideband F	Filter Noise	Performance	$(V_{RFF} = 4.096V)$	1x Input Range	;)
---	-------	--------------	--------------	-------------	----------------------	----------------	------------

MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR	DATA RATE (kSPS)	NOISE (e _n , μV _{RMS})	DYNAMIC RANGE (dB)	EFFECTIVE RESOLUTION (Bits)
Max speed	32.768		512	11.1	108.3	19.5
High speed	25.6	30	400	10.9	108.5	19.5
Mid speed	12.8	- 32	200	10.6	108.7	19.6
Low speed	3.2		50	10.4	108.9	19.6
Max speed	32.768		256	7.64	111.6	20.0
High speed	25.6	64	200	7.50	111.7	20.1
Mid speed	12.8		100	7.30	112.0	20.1
Low speed	3.2		25	7.14	112.2	20.1
Max speed	32.768		128	5.34	114.7	20.5
High speed	25.6	128	100	5.25	114.8	20.6
Mid speed	12.8	128	50	5.07	115.1	20.6
Low speed	3.2		12.5	4.97	115.3	20.7

Copyright © 2024 Texas Instruments Incorporated


表 6-1. Wideband Filter Noise Performance (VRFF = 4.096V. 1x Input Range) (続き)
---	--------

	-			NOISE		
MODE	(MHz)	OSR	(kSPS)	(e _n , μV _{RMS})	(dB)	(Bits)
Max speed	32.768		64	3.79	117.7	21.0
High speed	25.6	256	50	3.72	117.8	21.1
Mid speed	12.8	250	25	3.58	118.2	21.1
Low speed	3.2		6.25	3.53	118.3	21.1
Max speed	32.768		32	2.71	120.6	21.5
High speed	25.6	510	25	2.67	120.7	21.5
Mid speed	12.8	512	12.5	2.54	121.2	21.6
Low speed	3.2		3.125	2.47	121.4	21.7
Max speed	32.768		16	1.88	123.8	22.1
High speed	25.6	1004	12.5	1.87	123.8	22.1
Mid speed	12.8	1024	6.25	1.82	124.0	22.1
Low speed	3.2		1.5625	1.76	124.3	22.2
Max speed	32.768		8	1.34	126.7	22.5
High speed	25.6	2049	6.25	1.32	126.8	22.5
Mid speed	12.8	2040	3.125	1.29	127.0	22.6
Low speed	3.2		0.78125	1.25	127.3	22.6
Max speed	32.768		4	0.96	129.6	23.0
High speed	25.6	4006	3.125	0.95	129.7	23.0
Mid speed	12.8	4090	1.5625	0.93	129.9	23.1
Low speed	3.2		0.390625	0.89	130.3	23.1

表 6-2. Sinc3 and Sinc4 Filter Noise Performance (V_{REF} = 4.096V, 1x Input Range)

MODE	f _{CLK}	OSR		NO (e _n , μV	ISE ′ _{RMS}) ⁽¹⁾	DYNAMIC (d	RANGE B)	EFFEC	CTIVE ON (Bits)
			(K3F3)	SINC3	SINC4	SINC3	SINC4	SINC3	SINC4
Max speed	32.768		1365.3	239	66.8	81.7	92.7	15.1	16.9
High speed	25.6	12	1066.6	235	66.6	81.8	92.8	15.1	16.9
Mid speed	12.8	12	533.3	235	63.8	81.8	93.1	15.1	17.0
Low speed	3.2		133.33	232	63.1	81.9	93.2	15.1	17.0
Max speed	32.768		1024	99.9	24.8	89.2	101.3	16.3	18.3
High speed	25.6	16	800	99.6	24.5	89.3	101.5	16.3	18.4
Mid speed	12.8	10	400	98.9	24.5	89.3	101.5	16.3	18.4
Low speed	3.2		100	96.0	24.3	89.6	101.5	16.4	18.4
Max speed	32.768		682.67	31.1	10.8	99.4	108.6	18.0	19.5
High speed	25.6	24	533.3	31.0	10.3	99.4	108.9	18.0	19.6
Mid speed	12.8	24	266.67	30.8	10.1	99.5	109.2	18.0	19.6
Low speed	3.2		66.67	30.7	9.96	99.5	109.3	18.0	19.6
Max speed	32.768		512	15.2	8.24	105.6	110.9	19.0	19.9
High speed	25.6	22	400	15.0	8.07	105.7	111.1	19.1	20.0
Mid speed	12.8	32	200	14.8	7.88	105.8	111.3	19.1	20.0
Low speed	3.2		50	14.7	7.76	105.9	111.4	19.1	20.0
Max speed	32.768		256	6.20	5.71	113.4	114.1	20.3	20.5
High speed	25.6	64	200	6.15	5.53	113.5	114.4	20.3	20.5
Mid speed	12.8	04	100	5.98	5.42	113.7	114.6	20.4	20.5
Low speed	3.2		25	5.78	5.24	114.0	114.9	20.4	20.6

資料に関するフィードバック(ご意見やお問い合わせ)を送信 37

ADS127L21B JAJSVI4 – OCTOBER 2024



表 6-2. Sinc3 and Sinc4 Filter Noise Performance (V_{REF} = 4.096V, 1x Input Range) (続き)

MODE	f _{CLK}	OSR		NΟ (e _n , μV	ISE / _{RMS}) ⁽¹⁾	DYNAMIC (d	RANGE B)	EFFEO	CTIVE ION (Bits)
	(MHZ)		(KSPS)	SINC3	SINC4	SINC3	SINC4	SINC3	SINC4
Max speed	32.768		128	4.21	3.98	116.8	117.2	20.9	21.0
High speed	25.6	120	100	4.16	3.89	116.9	117.4	20.9	21.0
Mid speed	12.8	120	50	4.10	3.75	117.0	117.8	20.9	21.1
Low speed	3.2		12.5	3.99	3.72	117.2	117.8	21.0	21.1
Mid speed	12.8	167	38.323	3.56	3.39	118.2	118.6	21.1	21.2
Max speed	32.768		64	2.99	2.78	119.7	120.4	21.4	21.5
High speed	25.6		50	2.95	2.74	119.8	120.5	21.4	21.5
Mid speed	12.8	256	25	2.87	2.69	120.1	120.6	21.4	21.5
Low speed	3.2	1	6.25	2.81	2.61	120.3	120.9	21.5	21.6
Max speed	32.768		49.201	2.67	2.50	120.7	121.3	21.5	21.6
High speed	25.6		38.438	2.59	2.46	121.0	121.4	21.6	21.7
Mid speed	12.8	- 333	19.219	2.53	2.43	121.2	121.5	21.6	21.7
Low speed	3.2		4.804	2.46	2.33	121.4	121.9	21.7	21.7
Max speed	32.768		32	2.11	1.98	122.8	123.3	21.9	22.0
High speed	25.6		25	2.09	1.93	122.8	123.5	21.9	22.0
Mid speed	12.8	512	12.5	2.01	1.88	123.2	123.8	22.0	22.1
Low speed	3.2	-	3.125	1.96	1.67	123.4	124.8	22.0	22.2
Max speed	32.768		24.564	1.90	1.77	123.7	124.3	22.0	22.1
High speed	25.6		19.19	1.86	1.75	123.8	124.4	22.1	22.2
Mid speed	12.8	- 667	9.595	1.82	1.67	124.0	124.8	22.1	22.2
Low speed	3.2	1	2.39	1.77	1.65	124.3	124.9	22.1	22.2
Max speed	32.768		16	1.50	1.41	125.7	126.3	22.4	22.5
High speed	25.6	1004	12.5	1.47	1.40	125.9	126.3	22.4	22.5
Mid speed	12.8	1024	6.25	1.43	1.34	126.1	126.7	22.4	22.5
Low speed	3.2	1	1.56	1.42	1.31	126.2	126.9	22.5	22.6
Max speed	32.768		12.291	1.36	1.25	126.6	127.3	22.5	22.6
High speed	25.6	1	9.602	1.34	1.23	126.7	127.4	22.5	22.7
Mid speed	12.8	- 1333	4.801	1.29	1.19	127.0	127.7	22.6	22.7
Low speed	3.2		1.2	1.24	1.17	127.4	127.9	22.7	22.7
Max speed	32.768		8	1.06	1.00	128.7	129.2	22.9	23.0
High speed	25.6	-	6.25	1.05	0.995	128.8	129.3	22.9	23.0
Mid speed	12.8	2048	3.125	1.02	0.952	129.1	129.7	22.9	23.0
Low speed	3.2	-	0.78	0.969	0.935	129.5	129.8	23.0	23.1
Max speed	32.768		6.143	0.967	0.890	129.5	130.3	23.0	23.1
High speed	25.6	-	4.799	0.949	0.858	129.7	130.6	23.0	23.2
Mid speed	12.8	2667	2.4	0.913	0.867	130.0	130.5	23.1	23.2
Low speed	3.2	1	0.6	0.914	0.844	130.0	130.7	23.1	23.2
Max speed	32.768		4	0.751	0.710	131.7	132.2	23.4	23.5
High speed	25.6	1	3.125	0.752	0.709	131.7	132.2	23.4	23.5
Mid speed	12.8	4096	1.563	0.725	0.681	132.0	132.6	23.4	23.5
Low speed	3.2		0.39	0.709	0.649	132.2	133.0	23.5	23.6

表 6-2. Sinc3 and Sinc4 Filter Noise Performance (Vpf = 4.0	96V. 1x Input Range) (続き))
--	---------------------------	---

		OSR		NO (e _n , μV	ISE ′ _{RMS}) ⁽¹⁾	DYNAMIC (d	CRANGE B)	EFFEC RESOLUT	CTIVE ION (Bits)
	(10112)		(KSFS)	SINC3	SINC4	SINC3	SINC4	SINC3	SINC4
Max speed	32.768		3.072	0.697	0.630	132.4	133.3	23.5	23.6
High speed	25.6	5333	2.4	0.676	0.626	132.6	133.3	23.5	23.6
Low speed	3.2		0.3	0.661	0.604	132.8	133.6	23.6	23.7
Mid speed	12.8	13333	0.437	0.410	0.60	136.3	137.0	24.2	24.3
Mid speed	12.8	16000	0.400	0.392	0.356	137.4	138.2	24.3	24.5
Max speed	32.768		0.614	0.335	0.320	138.7	139.4	24.5	24.6
High speed	25.6	26667	0.480	0.330	0.311	138.9	139.1	24.6	24.7
Low speed	3.2	-	0.06	0.316	0.290	139.2	140.0	24.7	24.8
Max speed	32.768		0.512	0.309	0.303	139.4	139.6	24.7	24.7
High speed	25.6	32000	0.4	0.306	0.294	139.5	139.9	24.7	24.7
Low speed	3.2	-	0.05	0.290	0.275	140.0	140.5	24.8	24.8
Mid speed	12.8	48000	0.133	0.251	0.274	141.2	140.5	25.0	24.8
Mid speed	12.8	80000	0.08	0.233	0.208	141.9	142.9	25.1	25.2
Max speed	32.768		0.17067	0.238	0.202	141.7	143.1	25.0	25.3
High speed	25.6	96000	0.133	0.186	0.250	143.8	141.3	25.4	25.0
Low speed	3.2		0.0167	0.245	0.207	141.5	142.9	25.0	25.2
Max speed	32.768		0.102	0.243	0.243	141.5	141.5	25.0	25.0
High speed	25.6	160000	0.08	0.232	0.242	141.9	141.6	25.1	25.0
Low speed	3.2		0.01	0.243	0.177	141.5	144.3	25.0	25.5

(1) High OSR values can yield varying noise results because of the limits of 24-bit quantization: $4.096 \text{ V} / 2^{23} = 0.488 \mu \text{V} / \text{code}$.

表 6-3.	表 6-3. Sinc3 + Sinc1 and Sinc4 + Sinc1 Filter Noise Performance (V _{REF} = 4.096V,						
MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR	DATA RATE (SPS)	NOISE (e _n , µV _{RMS}) ⁽¹⁾	DYNAMIC RANGE (dB)	EFFECTIVE RESOLUTION (Bits)	
Mid speed	12.8	13333	480	0.573	134.1	23.8	
Mid speed	12.8	16000	400	0.533	134.7	23.9	
Max speed	32.768		614	0.419	136.8	24.2	
High speed	25.6	26656	480	0.416	136.9	24.2	
Low speed	3.2		60	0.413	136.9	24.2	
Max speed	32.768		512	0.409	137.0	24.3	
High speed	25.6	32000	400	0.387	137.5	24.3	
Low speed	3.2		50	0.362	138.1	24.4	
Mid speed	12.8	48000	133	0.321	139.1	24.6	
Mid speed	12.8	80000	80	0.274	140.5	24.8	
Max speed	32.768		170.6	0.254	141.1	24.9	
High speed	25.6	96000	133	0.256	141.1	24.9	
Low speed	3.2		16.7	0.251	141.2	25.0	
Max speed	32.768		102.44	0.202	143.1	25.3	
High speed	25.6	160000	80	0.187	143.8	25.4	
Low speed	3.2		10	0.201	143.2	25.3	

(1) High OSR values can yield varying noise results because of the limits of 24-bit quantization: 4.096V / 2²³ = 0.488µV / code. Sinc3 + sinc1 and sinc4 + sinc1 filters yield equal noise performance.

ADS127L21B JAJSVI4 – OCTOBER 2024

表 6-4. FIR1 Filter Noise Performance (VREF = 4.096V, 1x Input Range)

MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR	DATA RATE (kSPS)	NOISE (e _n , μV _{RMS})	DYNAMIC RANGE (dB)	EFFECTIVE RESOLUTION (Bits)
Max speed	32.768		2048	641	73.1	13.6
High speed	25.6		1600	648	73.0	13.6
Mid speed	12.8	• •	800	662	72.8	13.6
Low speed	3.2		200	681	72.6	13.6
Max speed	32.768		1024	93.0	89.9	16.4
High speed	25.6	10	800	94.8	89.7	16.4
Mid speed	12.8	0	400	99.9	89.2	16.3
Low speed	3.2		100	105	88.8	16.2
Max speed	32.768		512	11.0	108.4	19.5
High speed	25.6	20	400	10.8	108.6	19.5
Mid speed	12.8	32	200	10.5	108.8	19.6
Low speed	3.2		50	10.3	109.0	19.6
Max speed	32.768		256	7.44	111.8	20.1
High speed	25.6	64	200	7.30	112.0	20.1
Mid speed	12.8	64	100	7.09	112.2	20.1
Low speed	3.2		25	6.93	112.4	20.2
Max speed	32.768		128	5.20	114.9	20.6
High speed	25.6	100	100	5.10	115.1	20.6
Mid speed	12.8	1 120	50	4.93	115.4	20.7
Low speed	3.2		12.5	4.82	115.6	20.7
Max speed	32.768		64	3.69	117.9	21.1
High speed	25.6	256	50	3.63	118.0	21.1
Mid speed	12.8	230	25	3.48	118.4	21.2
Low speed	3.2		6.25	3.39	118.6	21.2
Max speed	32.768		32	2.64	120.8	21.6
High speed	25.6	512	25	2.62	120.9	21.6
Mid speed	12.8	J J12	12.5	2.47	121.4	21.7
Low speed	3.2		3.125	1.27	127.1	22.6
Max speed	32.768		16	1.94	123.5	22.0
High speed	25.6	1024	12.5	1.90	123.6	22.0
Mid speed	12.8	1024	6.25	1.76	124.3	22.2
Low speed	3.2		1,5625	0.886	130.3	23.1

表 6-5. FIR2 Filter Performance (V_{REF} = 4.096V, 1x Input Range)

MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR	DATA RATE (kSPS)	NOISE (e _n , μV _{RMS})	DYNAMIC RANGE (dB)	EFFECTIVE RESOLUTION (Bits)
Max speed	32.768		1024	51.0	95.1	17.3
High speed	25.6	16	800	51.0	95.1	17.3
Mid speed	12.8		400	50.3	95.2	17.3
Low speed	3.2		100	50.0	95.3	17.3
Max speed	32.768		512	11.6	108.0	19.4
High speed	25.6	32	400	11.4	108.1	19.5
Mid speed	12.8		200	11.1	108.3	19.5
Low speed	3.2		50	10.9	108.5	19.5





	表 6-5. FIR2 Filter Performance (V _{REF} = 4.096V, 1x Input Range) (続き)								
MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR	DATA RATE (kSPS)	NOISE (e _n , μV _{RMS})	DYNAMIC RANGE (dB)	EFFECTIVE RESOLUTION (Bits)			
Max speed	32.768		256	7.85	111.3	20.0			
High speed	25.6	64	200	7.69	111.5	20.0			
Mid speed	12.8		100	7.47	111.8	21.1			
Low speed	3.2		25	7.33	111.9	21.1			
Max speed	32.768		128	5.47	114.5	20.5			
High speed	25.6	128	100	5.36	114.7	20.5			
Mid speed	12.8	120	50	5.18	114.9	20.6			
Low speed	3.2		12.5	5.07	115.1	20.6			
Max speed	32.768		64	3.86	117.5	21.0			
High speed	25.6	256	50	3.80	117.6	21.0			
Mid speed	12.8	250	25	3.66	118.0	21.1			
Low speed	3.2		6.25	3.58	118.2	21.1			
Max speed	32.768		32	2.79	120.3	21.5			
High speed	25.6	510	25	2.73	120.5	21.5			
Mid speed	12.8	512	12.5	2.59	121.0	21.6			
Low speed	3.2	-	3.125	1.76	124.3	22.2			
Max speed	32.768		16	2.01	123.2	22.0			
High speed	25.6	1024	12.5	1.99	123.3	22.0			
Mid speed	12.8	1024	6.25	1.83	124.0	22.1			
Low speed	3.2		1.5625	1.26	127.2	22.6			
Max speed	32.768		8	1.51	125.6	22.4			
High speed	25.6	2048	6.25	1.48	125.8	22.4			
Mid speed	12.8	2040	3.125	0.928	129.9	23.1			
Low speed	3.2		0.78125	0.927	129.9	23.1			



7 Detailed Description

7.1 Overview

The ADS127L21B is a high-precision, 24-bit, delta-sigma ($\Delta\Sigma$) analog-to-digital converter (ADC). The device features very low INL error with data rates up to 512kSPS in the wideband filter mode and 1.365MHz in the low-latency filter mode. Programmable IIR and FIR digital filters allow customized filter response. The device offers four speed modes that provide trade-offs between resolution, bandwidth, and power consumption.

The *Functional Block Diagram* shows the features of the ADS127L21B. Input and positive-reference precharge buffers increase the input impedance for reduced system errors. The VCM output provides a mid-supply voltage to drive the common-mode voltage of an external input driver.

The differential input signal is defined as $V_{IN} = (V_{AINP} - V_{AINN})$ and the differential reference is defined as $V_{REF} = (V_{REFP} - V_{REFN})$. The multibit delta-sigma modulator measures the differential input signal against the differential reference. The modulator shapes the quantization noise to an out-of-band frequency range where the noise is removed by the digital filter. The noise remaining within the signal band is constant-density white noise. The digital filter decimates and filters the modulator data to provide the high-resolution output data.

The digital filter has two operating modes: low-latency and wideband. The low-latency mode consists of a programmable sinc3 or sinc4 filter, with the option of a sinc1 filter in cascade operation. The low-latency filter minimizes latency time for dc signal measurements.

The wideband filter consists of a preset or programmable coefficient FIR filter with a four biquad IIR filter operating in series. The IIR filter allows customized filters such as high pass, band pass, band reject, low pass, and so on.

The programmable oversampling ratio (OSR) combined with four speed modes allows optimization of signal bandwidth, resolution, and power consumption.

The SPI-compatible serial interface is used to configure the device and read conversion data. The interface features daisy-chaining capability for simplified SPI routing in multichannel, simultaneous-sampled systems. Integrated cyclic redundancy check (CRC) error monitoring improves system-level reliability. The DRDY pin indicates when conversion data are ready. The DRDY function can be combined with the SDO/DRDY pin to reduce the number of SPI lines.

The device supports external clock operation for ac or dc signal applications and an internal oscillator for dc signal applications. The START pin synchronizes the digital filter process. The RESET pin resets the ADC.

Supply voltage AVDD1 powers the precharge buffers and the input sampling switches. AVDD2 powers the modulator via an internal voltage regulator. Supply voltage IOVDD is the digital I/O voltage that also powers the digital core with a digital voltage regulator. The internal regulators minimize power consumption while providing consistent levels of performance.

7.2 Functional Block Diagram





7.3 Feature Description

7.3.1 Analog Input (AINP, AINN)

The analog input of the ADC is differential, with the input defined as a difference voltage: $V_{IN} = V_{AINP} - V_{AINN}$. For best performance, drive the input with a differential signal with the common-mode voltage centered to midsupply (AVDD1 + AVSS) / 2.

The ADC accepts either unipolar or bipolar input signals by configuring the AVDD1 and AVSS power supplies accordingly. \boxtimes 7-1 shows an example of a differential signal with the supplies configured to unipolar operation. Symmetric input voltage headroom is available when the common-mode voltage is at mid-supply (AVDD1 / 2). Use AVDD1 = 5V and AVSS = 0V for unipolar operation (see specifications for reduced AVDD1 operation).

 \boxtimes 7-2 shows an example of a differential signal in bipolar operation. The common-mode voltage of the signal (V_{CM}) is normally at 0V. Use AVDD1 = 2.5V and AVSS = -2.5V for bipolar operation.



In either bipolar or unipolar power-supply configuration, the ADC accepts single-ended input signals by tying the AINN input to AVSS, ground, or mid-supply. However, because AINN is now fixed, the voltage range of the ADC is limited by the input voltage swing of AINP. That is, ±2.5V for bipolar operation or 0V to 5V for a 5V unipolar operation.



The simplified circuit shown in \boxtimes 7-3 represents the analog input structure.



図 7-3. Analog Input Circuit

Diodes protect the ADC inputs from electrostatic discharge (ESD) events. These events occur during the manufacturing process and during printed circuit board (PCB) assembly when manufactured in an ESD-controlled environment. If the inputs are driven below AVSS - 0.3V, or above AVDD1 + 0.3V, the protection diodes potentially conduct. If these conditions are possible, use external clamp diodes, series resistors, or both to limit the input current to the specified value.

The input multiplexer offers the option of normal or reverse input signal polarities. The multiplexer also provides two internal test modes to help verify ADC performance. The offset test mode verifies noise and offset error by providing a short to the ADC inputs. The resulting noise and offset voltage data are evaluated by the user. CMRR performance is tested using the CMRR test mode by applying a CMRR test signal to the AINP input. The resulting CMRR test data are also evaluated by the user. \gtrsim 7-1 shows the switch configurations of the input multiplexer circuit of \boxtimes 7-3.

MUX[1:0] BITS	CLOSED SWITCHES	DESCRIPTION			
00b	S ₁ , S ₄	Normal polarity input (V _{IN} = V _{AINP} - V _{AINN})			
01b	S ₂ , S ₃	Reverse polarity input (V _{IN} = V _{AINN} - V _{AINP})			
10b	S ₅ , S ₆	Internal noise and offset error test			
11b	S ₁ , S ₅	CMRR test using a signal applied to AINP			

表	7-1.	Input	Multi	plexer	Config	gurations
---	------	-------	-------	--------	--------	-----------

The ADC samples the input voltage at the modulator frequency (f_{MOD}) by storing the voltage on the C_{IN} capacitor. The capacitor is discharged on the opposite clock phase of the modulator, at which time the sample process repeats. The instantaneous charge demand of C_{IN} requires the signal to settle within a half cycle at the modulator frequency. This frequency is t = 1 / ($2 \cdot f_{MOD}$). To satisfy this requirement, the external driver bandwidth is typically required to be much larger than the original signal frequency. The bandwidth of the driver is determined sufficient when the desired THD, SNR, and gain error performance are achieved. In mid- and low-speed modes of operation, the modulator frequency is reduced, therefore more time is available for the driver to settle.



(16)

The input charge required by the sampling capacitor is modeled as a peak current and an average current flowing into the ADC inputs. As given in \neq 15 and \neq 16, the average input current is comprised of differential and absolute components.

Input Current (Differential Input Voltage) =
$$f_{MOD} \cdot C_{IN} \cdot 10^6 (\mu A/V)$$
 (15)

where:

- f_{MOD} = f_{CLK} / 2
- C_{IN} = 7.4pF (1x input range), 3.6pF (2x input range)

Input Current (Absolute Input Voltage) = $f_{MOD} \cdot C_{CM} \cdot 10^{6} (\mu A/V)$

where:

- $f_{MOD} = f_{CLK} / 2$
- C_{CM} = 0.35pF (1x input range), 0.17pF (2x input range)

For f_{MOD} = 12.8MHz (high-speed mode), C_{IN} = 7.4pF, and C_{CM} = 0.35pF, the average current resulting from the differential voltage is 95µA/V. The average current resulting from the absolute voltage is 4.5µA/V. For example, if AINP = 4.5V and AINN = 0.5V, then V_{IN} = 4V. The total AINP average current = (4V · 95µA/V) + (4.5V · 4.5µA/V) = 400µA. The total AINN average current is (-4V · 95µA/V) + (0.5V · 4.5µA/V) = -378µA.

The device incorporates input precharge buffers to significantly reduce the charge demand from the C_{IN} capacitor. When enabled, the buffers are initially in-circuit during the sampling phase. When C_{IN} is nearly fully charged, the buffers are bypassed (S_7 and S_8 of \boxtimes 7-3 in up positions). The external signal then provides the fine charge to the capacitor. At the completion of the sample phase, the sampling capacitor is discharged by the modulator to complete the conversion cycle. The buffers reduce the input current required to charge C_{IN} , therefore improving the input impedance and relaxing external driver requirements. The input buffers are enabled by the AINP_BUF and AINN_BUF bits of the CONFIG1 register. If AINN is tied to ground or to a low-impedance fixed potential, disable the AINN buffer to reduce power consumption.

7.3.1.1 Input Range

The ADC has two input ranges: 1x and 2x. The 1x range is defined by $V_{IN} = \pm V_{REF}$ and the 2x range is defined by $V_{IN} = \pm 2V_{REF}$. The 2x input range doubles the available range when using a reference voltage of 2.5V or less. The 2x input range typically improves SNR by 1dB when using a 2.5V reference. However, to achieve the full dynamic range, the inputs are required to be driven to the 5V supply rails. The best available dynamic range (4dB improvement, typical) is attained by using a 4.096V or 5V reference voltage (program the ADC to the high-reference range mode). The 2x range operation is internally forced to the 1x range mode when the high-reference range is selected. See the CONFIG1 register to program the input range. $\frac{1}{2}$ 7-2 summarizes the ADC input range options.

INP_RNG BIT ⁽¹⁾	INPUT RANGE (V)
0	±V _{REF}
1	±2V _{REF}

表 7-	2. ADC	Cinput	Range
------	--------	--------	-------

(1) The input range is forced to 1x when the high-reference range is selected.

In some cases, the full available input range is limited by the power-supply voltage and cannot be measured. For example, the input range exceeds the power-supply voltage when using a 3V AVDD1 power supply with a 2.5V reference voltage in 2x range mode.

The ADC also provides the option of extending the input range beyond the standard full-scale range. In this mode, the input range is extended by 25% to provide signal headroom before clipping of the signal occurs. Output data are scaled such that the positive and negative full-scale output codes (7FFFFFh and 800000h) are at $\pm 1.25 \cdot k \cdot V_{REF}$. In this calculation, k is the 1x or 2x input range option.



Because of modulator saturation, the SNR performance degrades when the signal exceeds 110% of the standard full-scale range. The MOD_FLAG bit of the STATUS1 register indicates modulator saturation. \boxtimes 7-4 depicts SNR performance when operating in the extended range. See the CONFIG1 register to program the extended range mode.



図 7-4. Extended Range SNR Performance

7.3.2 Reference Voltage (REFP, REFN)

A reference voltage is required for operation. The reference voltage input is differential, defined as: $V_{REF} = V_{REFP} - V_{REFN}$, and is applied to the REFP and REFN pins. See the *Reference Voltage Range* section for details of the reference voltage operating range.

As shown in \boxtimes 7-5, the reference inputs have an input structure similar to the analog inputs. ESD diodes protect the reference inputs. Make sure the voltages on the reference pins do not go below AVSS by more than 0.3V, or above AVDD1 by 0.3V. These limits keep the ESD diodes from turning on. If these conditions are possible, use external clamp diodes, series resistors, or both to limit the input current to the specified value.



🖾 7-5. Reference Input Circuit

The reference voltage is sampled by a sampling capacitor, C_{REF} . In unbuffered mode, current flows through the reference inputs to charge the sampling capacitor. The current consists of a dc component and an ac component that varies with the frequency of the modulator sampling clock. See the Electrical Characteristics table for the reference input current specification.

Charging the reference sampling capacitor requires the reference voltage to settle at the end of the sample phase t = 1 / $(2 \cdot f_{MOD})$. Incomplete settling of the reference voltage increases gain error and gain error drift. Operation in the lower-speed modes reduces the modulator sampling clock frequency, therefore allowing more time for the reference driver to settle.



The ADC provides a precharge buffer option for the REFP input to reduce the charge drawn by the sampling capacitor. The precharge buffer provides the coarse charge for the reference sampling capacitor, C_{REF} . Halfway through the sample phase, the precharge buffer is bypassed (S₁ is in an up position as demonstrated in \boxtimes 7-5). At this time, the external driver provides the fine charge to the sampling capacitor. Because the buffer reduces the charge demand of the sampling capacitor, the reference input impedance increases.

Many applications ground REFN, therefore a precharge buffer for REFN is not necessary for these cases. For applications when REFN is not a low-impedance source, consider buffering the REFN input.

7.3.2.1 Reference Voltage Range

The reference voltage is divided into two ranges: low-reference range and high-reference range. Program the voltage range to match the applied reference voltage, such as 2.5V or 4.096V. The low-reference operating range is 0.5V to 2.75V, and the high-reference operating range is 1V to the AVDD1 – AVSS power supplies. For best noise performance where the ranges overlap, such as 2.5V, use the low-reference range. Program the REF_RNG bit of the CONFIG1 register to the appropriate reference voltage. When the high-reference range is selected, the input range is internally forced to 1x range.

7.3.3 Clock Operation

 \boxtimes 7-6 shows the block diagram of the ADC clock circuit. The ADC is operated by an external clock signal applied to the CLK pin or by the internal oscillator. Clock operation is made by the CLK_SEL bit of the CONFIG3 register. The output of the clock divider produces the ADC system clock (f_{CLK}). The system clock is further divided by two to derive the modulator clock (f_{MOD}).



図 7-6. Clock Block Diagram

If necessary, use the clock divider to program the appropriate frequency for the selected speed mode. 7-3 shows the nominal clock frequencies for the respective speed modes and the corresponding data rates at the minimum OSR setting. Clock division factors of div-2 or div-16 force the low-latency filter OSR values of all speed modes to those of the mid-speed mode.

For clock divider values > 1, ADC synchronization to an external synchronizing signal has uncertainty due to the unknown phase of the divided clock signal. To avoid synchronization uncertainty, use the divide by 1 option.

	- •			
		MAXIMUM RATED DATA RATE (kSPS)		
SPEED WODE		WIDEBAND FILTER	LOW-LATENCY FILTER	
Max	32.768	512	1365.3	
High	25.6	400	1066.6	
Mid	12.8	200	533.3	
Low	3.2	50	133.333	

表 7-3. ADC Clock Frequency

7.3.3.1 Internal Oscillator

At power-up and device reset, the ADC defaults to internal oscillator mode (CLK_SEL bit = 0b). Because the internal oscillator frequency is fixed to 25.6MHz, use the clock divider when using the mid- and low-speed modes. The internal oscillator is not available for the maximum-speed mode. Because of the clock jitter of the



internal oscillator, only use the internal oscillator for dc signal measurements. The internal oscillator is not recommended when measuring ac signals.

When changing the clock mode from an external clock to the internal oscillator, maintain the external clock. Make sure this clock is maintained for at least four clock cycles after completing the SPI register write command used to change the clock mode. After the clock mode changes, the ADC ignores control inputs (the START and RESET pins) for a period of 150µs. This time period allows the internal oscillator to stabilize.



7.3.3.2 External Clock

For external clock operation, program the CLK_SEL bit to 1b. Apply the clock signal to the CLK pin before programming the bit. A clock divider is available to divide the clock frequency. For example, divide a 25.6MHz clock signal by 8 to produce 3.2MHz internal clock for the low-speed mode.

Decrease the clock frequency to yield specific data rates between OSR values. However, when reducing the clock frequency, the conversion noise is the same as the original clock frequency. Reducing the conversion noise is only possible by increasing the OSR value or changing the filter mode.

Clock jitter results in timing variations when the signal is sampled, leading to degraded SNR performance. A lowjitter clock is essential to meet data sheet SNR performance. For example, with a 200kHz signal frequency, an external clock with <10ps (rms) jitter is required. For lower signal frequencies, the clock jitter requirement is relaxed by –20dB per decade of signal frequency. For example, with f_{IN} = 20kHz, 100ps clock jitter is acceptable. Many types of RC oscillators exhibit high levels of jitter that are to be avoided for ac signal measurement. Instead, use crystal or bulk acoustic wave type oscillators. Avoid ringing on the clock input. A series resistor placed at the output of the clock buffer often helps reduce ringing.

7.3.4 Modulator

The modulator is a switched-capacitor, third-order architecture achieving excellent noise and linearity performance while maintaining low power consumption. As with most modulators, when driven by high amplitude or by out-of-band signals, modulator saturation potentially occurs. When saturated, the in-band signal still converts, however the noise floor increases. \boxtimes 7-7 shows the amplitude limit versus frequency to avoid modulator saturation. The amplitude limit for in-band signals is 1dBFS.



図 7-7. Amplitude Limit to Avoid Modulator Saturation

Modulator saturation is indicated by the MOD_FLAG bit of the STATUS1 register. The modulator saturation status is latched during the conversion period and is refreshed at completion of the conversion. Modulator saturation as a result of out-of-band signals is avoided by using an antialias filter at the ADC inputs. The *THS4551 Antialias Filter Design* section discusses an example of a fourth-order antialias filter. However, a low-order filter is acceptable if the input amplitude is below the saturation limit.

7.3.5 Digital Filter

The digital filter performs low-pass filtering and decimation to the low-resolution data of the modulator to produce high-resolution, lower speed conversion data. The oversampling ratio (OSR) determines the amount of filtering and decimation that, in turn, affects signal bandwidth, conversion noise, and the final data rate. The output data rate is defined as: $f_{DATA} = f_{MOD} / OSR$.

As given in \boxtimes 7-8, the ADC provides two filter modes: wideband and low latency. The filters optimize between frequency response characteristics (wideband filter mode) or time-domain characteristics (low-latency filter mode). The wideband filter features an IIR filter for emulation of analog-type filters. The coefficients of the wideband FIR and IIR filters are user programmable.

Copyright © 2024 Texas Instruments Incorporated





🗵 7-8. Digital Filter Diagram

7.3.5.1 Wideband Filter

The pass-band, transition-band, and stop-band characteristics of the wideband filter are useful for ac signal measurement. The wideband filter supports a 211kHz input signal bandwidth in the maximum-speed mode operation. The wideband filter is operated using default coefficients, with characteristics described in the *Specifications* section, or operated using user-programmed coefficients. The wideband filter also includes an IIR filter consisting of four biquads for digital filter emulation of analog filters.

☑ 7-9 shows the wideband filter block diagram.



図 7-9. Wideband Filter Diagram

7.3.5.1.1 Wideband Filter Options

The wideband filter provides inter-stage bypassing and the option of reversing the FIR3-IIR filter sequence. 7-10 shows the wideband filter options. Disabling a filter stage bypasses the filter function and associated decimation. For example, with the FIR2, FIR3, and IIR filter stages disabled, FIR1 filter data are output at four times the normal data rate. There are no restrictions to the number of filter options. However, if FIR2 is disabled, then disable the FIR3 and IIR filters for an overall OSR of 16.







7.3.5.1.2 Sinc5 Filter Stage

The sinc5 filter prefilters the modulator data through averaging and decimation. The variable OSR of the sinc5 filter determines the range of final data rates. The sinc5 filter OSR is programmable from 4 to 512 by the FLTR_OSR[4:0] bits of the FILTER1 register, which results in the final range of OSR 32 to 4096.

7.3.5.1.3 FIR1 Filter Stage

The FIR1 filter stage follows the sinc5 filter. The FIR1 filter band-limits and decimates the data while compensating the sinc5 filter roll-off. The coefficients of the FIR1 filter are fixed with divide-by-2 decimation. FIR1 filter data are routed directly to the output by disabling the FIR2, FIR3, and IIR filters. ⊠ 7-11 shows the frequency response of the FIR1 filter output.



☑ 7-11. FIR1 Filter Frequency Response (OSR = 32)

See \pm 6-4 for the FIR1 filter noise performance. \pm 7-4 lists the filter latency time values.

	201		inter Latency rime	
MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR ⁽¹⁾	DATA RATE (kSPS)	LATENCY TIME ⁽²⁾ (µs)
Max speed	32.768		2048	5.9
High speed	25.6		1600	7.5
Mid speed	12.8	ð	800	15.0
Low speed	3.2		200	59.8
Max speed	32.768		1024	11.0
High speed	25.6		800	14.1
Mid speed	12.8	16	400	28.1
Low speed	3.2		100	112.3
Max speed	32.768		512	21.3
High speed	25.6		400	27.2
Mid speed	12.8	32	200	54.4
Low speed	3.2		50	217.2
Max speed	32.768		256	41.8
High speed	25.6		200	53.4
Mid speed	12.8	04	100	106.9
Low speed	3.2		25	427.4
Max speed	32.768		128	82.8
High speed	25.6	100	100	105.9
Mid speed	12.8	128	50	211.8
Low speed	3.2		12.5	847.2
Max speed	32.768		64	164.8
High speed	25.6	050	50	210.9
Mid speed	12.8	256	25	421.9
Low speed	3.2		6.25	1687.3

表 7-4. FIR1 Filter Latency Time

Copyright © 2024 Texas Instruments Incorporated

資料に関するフィードバック(ご意見やお問い合わせ)を送信 51



MODE	LATENCY TIME ⁽²⁾ (µs)						
Max speed	32.768		32	328.9			
High speed	25.6	510	25	420.9			
Mid speed	12.8	512	12.5	841.9			
Low speed	3.2		3.125	3367.4			
Max speed	32.768		16	657.0			
High speed	25.6	1024	12.5	840.9			
Mid speed	12.8	1024	6.25	1681.9			
Low speed	3.2		1.5625	6727.3			

表 7-4. FIR1 Filter Latency Time (続き)

(1) The FIR1 OSR is the FILT_OSR[4:0] setting of the FILTER1 register divided by 4.

(2) Latency time increases by $8 / f_{CLK}$ (µs) when analog input buffers are enabled.

7.3.5.1.4 FIR2 Filter Stage

The FIR2 filter is an intermediate stage *half-band* low-pass filter that reduces the data rate by divide-by-2 decimation. FIR2 filter data are supplied directly to the output by disabling the FIR3 and IIR filter stages. \boxtimes 7-12 shows the frequency response of the FIR2 filter output.



図 7-12. FIR2 Filter Frequency Response (OSR = 32)

 \pm 7-5 and \pm 6-5 illustrate the FIR2 filter latency time and noise performance.

MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR ⁽¹⁾	DATA RATE (kSPS)	LATENCY TIME ⁽²⁾ (µs)
Max speed	32.768		1024	19.8
High speed	25.6	16	800	25.3
Mid speed	12.8	10	400	50.6
Low speed	3.2		100	202.3
Max speed	32.768		512	38.9
High speed	25.6	22	400	49.7
Mid speed	12.8	32	200	99.4
Low speed	3.2		50	397.2
Max speed	32.768		256	76.9
High speed	25.6	64	200	98.4
Mid speed	12.8	04	100	196.9
Low speed	3.2		25	787.4
Max speed	32.768		128	153.1
High speed	25.6	100	100	195.9
Mid speed	12.8	120	50	391.9
Low speed	3.2		12.5	1567.5

表 7-5. FIR2 Filter Latency Time



	A 7-5. FINZ FILLER Latency Time (配合)							
MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR ⁽¹⁾	DATA RATE (kSPS)	LATENCY TIME ⁽²⁾ (µs)				
Max speed	32.768		64	305.5				
High speed	25.6	256	50	390.9				
Mid speed	12.8	200	25	781.8				
Low speed	3.2		6.25	3127.4				
Max speed	32.768		32	610.1				
High speed	25.6	512	25	780.9				
Mid speed	12.8	512	12.5	1561.8				
Low speed	3.2		3.125	6247.5				
Max speed	32.768		16	1219.5				
High speed	25.6	1024	12.5	1560.9				
Mid speed	12.8	1024	6.25	3121.8				
Low speed	3.2		1.5625	12487				
Max speed	32.768		8	2438.3				
High speed	25.6	2049	6.25	3120.9				
Mid speed	12.8	2040	3.125	6241.9				
Low speed	3.2		0.78125	24.968				

表 7-5. FIR2 Filter Latency Time (続き)

(1) The FIR2 OSR is the FILT_OSR[4:0] setting of the FILTER1 register divided by 2.

(2) Latency time increases by 8 / f_{CLK} (µs) when analog input buffers are enabled.

7.3.5.1.5 FIR3 Filter Stage

The FIR3 filter uses either the preset or programmable coefficients. The FIR3 filter has a bypass option, including bypassing of the filter x2 decimation. \boxtimes 7-13 shows the structure of the FIR3 filter.



2 7-13. FIR3 Filter Structure

The FIR3 filter consists of 128 taps using fixed divide-by-2 decimation to perform the final data rate reduction. The coefficients are 32-bit integer values in signed 1.31 format with the MSB as the sign bit. This bit represents the decimal range of -1 (8000000h) to $1 - 1/2^{31}$ (7FFFFFFh). The coefficients are typically designed to sum to unity for 0dB gain in the pass band. Pad the end coefficients with zero values if fewer taps are used.

Because the ADC uses 128 taps, latency time of the first conversion is 75 / f_{DATA} + 16 / f_{CLK} , compared to 68 / f_{DATA} + 16 / f_{CLK} for the preset coefficients. The *group delay* of the filter, however, is determined by the design of the filter coefficients.

The FLTR_OSR[4:0] register bits program the overall OSR and final data rate of the wideband filter. FLTR_SEL[2:0] register bits = 000b selects the default coefficient operation and 111b selects the programmable coefficient operation. See the FILTER1 register for details.

The programmable coefficients of the FIR3 filter are written to the FIR_BANK register. The register is a single address (address 13h) that stores 512 bytes of the 128 coefficient values. To read or write the coefficients, repeat the read or write operation to the same register address. The device automatically increments a memory pointer to the next internal memory location after completion of each read or write operation. As given in $\frac{\pi}{7}$ 7-6, the first byte of the operation is the MSB of the 127th coefficient (h₁₂₇), followed by MSB-1, MSB-2, and LSB bytes. The next byte is the MSB of the 126th coefficient, and so on. The last byte (byte 512) of the read/write operation is the LSB of coefficient h₀. Any register address change during the read or write operation to another address resets the coefficient pointer to the first memory location (MSB of h₁₂₇). If an SPI CRC error occurs

during the write operation, clear the SPI_ERR bit of the STATUS1 register. This process restarts the coefficient read or write operation at the beginning.

A minimum 10 × t_{CLK} delay time is required between SPI frames when reading or writing filter coefficients. Synchronize the ADC after writing the filter coefficients.

FIR3 COEFFICIENT	BYTE SEQUENCE	BYTES					
h ₁₂₇	1, 2, 3, 4	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB					
h ₁₂₆	5, 6, 7, 8	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB					
h ₀	509, 510, 511, 512	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB					

表 7-6. FIR3 Coefficient Upload Byte Sequence (Register Address = 13h)

7.3.5.1.6 FIR3 Default Coefficients

FIR3 coefficients are available without the need to supply custom coefficients. The default coefficients are selected by the FLTR_SEL[2:0] bits = 000b of the FILTER1 register. The default coefficients feature linear phase response, low pass-band ripple, narrow transition band, and high stop-band attenuation.

 \boxtimes 7-14 through \boxtimes 7-18 illustrate the default wideband filter frequency response. \boxtimes 7-14 shows the pass-band ripple. \boxtimes 7-15 shows the frequency response at the transition band.



⊠ 7-16 illustrates the filter response up to f_{DATA} for OSR ≥ 64. The stop band begins at f_{DATA} / 2 to reduce signal aliasing. ⊠ 7-17 illustrates the filter to f_{MOD} . In the stop-band region, signal frequencies intermodulate with multiples of the chop frequency at f_{MOD} / 32. Thus, creating a series of response peaks that exceed the attenuation provided by the digital filter. The width of the response peaks is twice the filter bandwidth. Stop-band attenuation is improved when the ADC input is filtered by an analog antialias filter. See the *THS4551 Antialias Filter Design* section for details of a fourth-order antialias filter at the ADC input.





 \boxtimes 7-18 shows the filter response at f_{MOD}. As shown, the filter response repeats for input signals at f_{MOD}. If not removed by an antialias filter, signal frequencies at f_{MOD} appear as aliased frequencies in the pass band.



図 7-18. Wideband Filter Frequency Response at f_{MOD}

Aliasing also occurs with input frequencies occurring at multiples of f_{MOD}. These frequency bands are defined by:

Alias frequency bands: $(N \cdot f_{MOD}) \pm f_{BW}$

(17)

where:

- *N* = 1, 2, 3, and so on
- f_{MOD} = Modulator sampling frequency
- f_{BW} = Filter bandwidth

The group delay of the filter is the propagation time for an input signal to appear at the output of the filter. Because the filter is a linear-phase design, the envelope of a complex input signal is undistorted by the filter. The group delay (expressed in units of time) is constant versus frequency, equal to $34 / f_{DATA}$. After a step input is applied, fully settled data occur 68 data periods later. \boxtimes 7-19 illustrates the filter group delay ($34 / f_{DATA}$) and the settling time to a step input ($68 / f_{DATA}$).





図 7-19. Wideband Filter Step Response

The digital filter is restarted when the ADC is synchronized. The ADC suppresses the first 68 conversion periods until the filter is fully settled. There is no need to discard data after synchronization. The time of data suppression is the conversion latency time as listed in the *latency time* column of \gtrsim 7-7. Sixteen f_{CLK} cycles of overhead time are incurred for all data rates. If a step input is applied randomly to the conversion period without synchronizing, the next 69 conversions are unsettled data. The –0.1dB frequency of the amplitude response is 0.4125 × f_{DATA} and the –3dB frequency is 0.4374 × f_{DATA} for all data rates.

MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR	DATA RATE (kSPS)	-0.1dB FREQUENCY (kHz)	–3dB FREQUENCY (kHz)	LATENCY TIME ⁽¹⁾ (µs)
Max speed	32.768		512	211.2	223.9	135.5
High speed	25.6	32	400	165	174.96	173.4
Mid speed	12.8	52	200	82.5	87.48	346.9
Low speed	3.2		50	20.63	21.87	1387.8
Max speed	32.768		256	105.6	112.0	270.4
High speed	25.6	64	200	82.5	87.48	346.1
Mid speed	12.8	04	100	41.25	43.74	692.2
Low speed	3.2		25	10.31	10.94	2768.7
Max speed	32.768		128	52.8	55.99	540.0
High speed	25.6	100	100	41.25	43.74	691.2
Mid speed	12.8	120	50	20.63	21.87	1382.3
Low speed	3.2		12.5	5.1562	5.468	5529.2
Max speed	32.768		64	26.4	28.00	1079.2
High speed	25.6	256	50	20.625	21.87	1381.3
Mid speed	12.8	230	25	10.31	10.93	2762.6
Low speed	3.2		6.25	2.578	2.734	11051
Max speed	32.768		32	13.2	14.00	2157.6
High speed	25.6	512	25	10.312	10.935	2761.6
Mid speed	12.8	512	12.5	5.156	5.467	5523.3
Low speed	3.2		3.125	1.289	1.367	22093
Max speed	32.768		16	6.6	7.998	4314.2
High speed	25.6	1024	12.5	5.156	5.467	5522.3
Mid speed	12.8	1024	6.25	2.578	2.734	11045
Low speed	3.2		1.5625	0.645	0.6834	44178

表 7	7-7.	Wideband	Default	Filter	Characteristics
-----	------	----------	---------	--------	-----------------

MODE	f _{CLK} (MHz)	OSR	DATA RATE (kSPS)	–0.1dB FREQUENCY (kHz)	–3dB FREQUENCY (kHz)	LATENCY TIME ⁽¹⁾ (µs)	
Max speed	32.768		8	3.3	3.499	8627.8	
High speed	25.6	2048	6.25	2.578	2.734	11044	
Mid speed	12.8	2040	3.125	1.289	1.367	22087	
Low speed	3.2		0.78125	0.322	0.3417	88348	
Max speed	32.768		4	1.65	1.750	17254	
High speed	25.6	4006	3.125	1.289	1.367	22086	
Mid speed	12.8	4090	1.5625	0.645	0.6834	44172	
Low speed	3.2	1	0.390625	0.161	0.1709	176690	

表 7-7. Wideband Default Filter Characteristics (続き)

(1) IIR filter bypassed. Latency time increases by 8 / f_{CLK} (µs) when analog input buffers are enabled.

7.3.5.1.7 IIR Filter Stage

The wideband filter has an IIR filter option. As shown in \boxtimes 7-20, the IIR filter is composed of four biquad filters with five scaling factors (g₁ through g₅). The IIR filter block is enabled by the IIR_DIS bit of the FILTER2 register (default is disabled). The IIR filter can operate before or after the FIR3 filter.



7-20. IIR Filter Block Diagram

As shown in \boxtimes 7-21, the biquad filter sections are implemented in direct form 1. \ddagger 18 shows the biquad transfer function.



図 7-21. IIR H(z)

$$H(z) = \frac{b_0 + b_1 z^{-1} + b_2 z^{-2}}{1 + a_1 z^{-1} + a_2 z^{-2}}$$

(18)

The biquad coefficients are 32-bit signed integers, in 2.30 format with the MSB as the sign bit, representing the decimal range of -2 (8000000h) to $2 - 2/2^{31}$ (7FFFFFFh). The coefficients are uploaded to the IIR_BANK register. The register is a single address (address 16h) that stores the 100-byte set of the IIR coefficients, comprised of 80 coefficient bytes and 20 scaling factor bytes.

To read and write the coefficients, perform sequential read and write operations to the same register address (address 16h). An internal pointer automatically increments to the next memory location after each read or write operation. As given in 表 7-8, the first byte of the operation is the MSB of coefficient g_5 , followed by MSB-1, MSB-2, and LSB bytes; followed next by the MSB of a_{42} , and so on. Coefficient a_{42} signifies the a_2 coefficient of the fourth biquad $H_4(z)$. The last byte (byte 100) is the LSB of g_1 . Any change of address to another register during the sequence of read or write operations resets the pointer to the first memory location. If an SPI CRC error occurs during the write operation, clear the SPI_ERR bit of the STATUS1 register, which resets the

coefficient write operation to the beginning. A minimum 10 × t_{CLK} delay time is required between SPI frames when reading or writing filter coefficients.

Synchronize the ADC after writing the filter coefficients.

The default configuration of the IIR filter is a unity-gain, all-pass filter. That is, g_1 through $g_5 = 1$, $b_{x0} = 1$, and b_{x1} , b_{x2} , a_{x1} , $a_{x2} = 0$, where x is the biquadratic number.

		BYTES	DEFAULT VALUE					
	BITE SEQUENCE	BITES	HEX	DECIMAL				
g 5	1, 2, 3, 4	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	4000000h	1.0				
a ₄₂	5, 6, 7, 8	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	0000000h	0				
a ₄₁	9, 10, 11, 12	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	0000000h	0				
b ₄₂	13, 14, 15, 16	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	00000000h	0				
b ₄₁	17, 18, 19, 20	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	0000000h	0				
b ₄₀	21, 22, 23, 24	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	4000000h	1.0				
9 4	25, 26, 27, 28	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	4000000h	1.0				
b ₁₀	93, 94, 95, 96	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	4000000h	1.0				
g 1	97, 98, 99, 100	MSB, MSB-1, MSB-2, LSB	4000000h	1.0				

表 7-8. IIR Coefficient Upload Byte Sequence (Register Address = 16h)

7.3.5.1.7.1 IIR Filter Stability

An IIR filter designed for stable operation requires the pole radius of the polynomial H(z) denominator to be within the unit circle. That is, the pole radius r must be < 1. However, because of the finite resolution of the ADS127L21B IIR filter, the IIR filter potentially exhibits signal artifacts when the pole radius is close to 1. Artifacts include dead-band effects at zero signal input and rounding noise not contained in the original signal. The artifacts occur when the pole radius is > 0.98. \boxtimes 7-22 shows the unit circle in the z-plane and the IIR filter 0.98 pole radius.



🖾 7-22. Z-Plane

The pole radius of the H(z) prototype filter design is computing by $\sqrt{a_2}$. In this computation, a_2 is the coefficient of the 1 + a_1z^{-1} + a_2z^{-2} polynomial in the H(z) denominator. The pole radius is reduced by decreasing the ratio of the data rate to the filter frequency. Evaluate the suitability of the prototype IIR filter design by testing the filter in the ADC.

7.3.5.2 Low-Latency Filter (Sinc)

The low-latency filter is a cascaded-integrator-comb (CIC) topology that minimizes the delay (latency) when conversion data propagates through the filter. The CIC filter is otherwise known as a sinc filter because of the characteristic sinx/x (sinc) frequency response. The latency time is shorter than the wideband filter, making the



(19)

sinc filter designed for fast acquisition of dc signals or for use in control loops. As illustrated in \boxtimes 7-23, the device offers programmable OSR and several sinc filter configurations: sinc3, sinc4, followed by the option of a cascaded sinc1 stage. The configurations of the sinc filter allow trade-offs between acquisition time, noise performance, and line-cycle rejection.



🛛 7-23. Sinc Filter Bock Diagram

式 19 describes the general expression of the sinc-filter frequency response. For the single-stage sinc filter mode, the second stage is not used.

lu 1-	$\sin\left[\frac{A\pi f}{f_{MOD}}\right]^n$	$\sin\left[\frac{AB\pi f}{f_{MOD}}\right]$
⊓(f) −	$\operatorname{Asin}\left[\frac{\pi f}{f_{\text{MOD}}}\right]^{*}$	$Bsin\left[\frac{A\pi f}{f_{MOD}}\right]$

where:

- n = Filter order of stage 1 (3 or 4)
- A = Sinc3 or sinc4 stage OSR
- B = Sinc1 stage OSR
- f = Input signal frequency
- $f_{MOD} = f_{CLK} / 2$

Latency is defined as the time from the start of the first conversion to the falling edge of $\overline{\text{DRDY}}$. Fully settled data are available at this time. There is no need to discard data because unsettled data are suppressed by the ADC. Detailed latency data for each sinc filter mode are given in $\frac{1}{5}$ 7-9 and $\frac{1}{5}$ 7-12.

Changing the input signal while actively converting (without synchronizing to the START pin or the START bit) results in the temporary output of partially settled data. To determine the elapsed time for fully settled data to appear, round the latency time value listed in the sinc filter tables to the next whole number of conversion periods.

7.3.5.2.1 Sinc3 and Sinc4 Filters

The sinc filter averages and decimates the high-speed modulator data to produce high-resolution output data at reduced data rate. Increasing the OSR value decreases the data rate and simultaneously reduces signal bandwidth and conversion noise resulting from increased decimation and data averaging. 7-9 lists the sinc3 and sinc4 filter –3dB frequency and latency time.



表 7-9. Sinc3 and Sinc4 Filter Characteristics

MODE	f _{CLK}	OSB	DATA RATE (kSPS)	-3dB FREQUENCY (kHz)		LATENCY TIME ⁽¹⁾ (µs)	
MODE	(MHz)	USR		SINC3	SINC4	SINC3	SINC4
Max speed	32.768		1365.3	357.0	310.2	2.97	3.66
High speed	25.6	12	1066.6	278.9	242.3	3.73	4.69
Mid speed	12.8		533.3	139.5	121.2	7.46	9.36
Low speed	3.2		133.33	34.9	30.3	29.8	37.4
Max speed	32.768		1024	267.8	232.7	3.66	4.63
High speed	25.6	10	800	209.2	181.8	4.67	5.95
Mid speed	12.8	10	400	104.6	90.9	9.33	11.9
Low speed	3.2		100	26.2	22.7	37.4	47.3
Max speed	32.768		682.67	178.5	155.1	5.12	6.64
High speed	25.6	04	533.3	139.5	121.2	6.57	8.43
Mid speed	12.8	24	266.67	69.7	60.6	13.1	16.9
Low speed	3.2		66.67	17.4	15.1	52.3	67.4
Max speed	32.768		512	133.9	116.3	6.59	8.55
High speed	25.6	22	400	104.6	90.9	8.42	10.9
Mid speed	12.8	32	200	52.3	45.4	16.9	21.8
Low speed	3.2		50	13.1	11.4	67.3	87.2
Max speed	32.768	64	256	66.9	58.2	12.4	16.4
High speed	25.6		200	52.3	45.4	16.0	21.0
Mid speed	12.8		100	26.2	22.7	31.8	41.9
Low speed	3.2		25	6.54	5.68	127	167
Max speed	32.768	128	128	33.5	29.1	24.2	32.0
High speed	25.6		100	26.2	22.7	31.0	41.0
Mid speed	12.8		50	13.1	11.4	61.9	81.9
Low speed	3.2		12.5	3.27	2.84	247	327
Mid speed	12.8	167	38.323	10.0	8.71	80.2	106
Max speed	32.768		64	16.7	14.5	47.6	63.2
High speed	25.6	256	50	13.1	11.4	60.9	80.9
Mid speed	12.8	250	25	6.54	5.68	121.9	162
Low speed	3.2		6.25	1.63	1.42	487	648
Max speed	32.768		49.201	12.9	11.2	61.7	82.0
High speed	25.6	222	38.438	10.1	8.73	79.0	105
Mid speed	12.8	- 555	19.219	5.03	4.37	158	210
Low speed	3.2		4.804	1.26	1.09	631	840
Max speed	32.768		32	8.37	7.27	94.5	126
High speed	25.6	510	25	6.54	5.68	121	161
Mid speed	12.8	512	12.5	3.27	2.84	242	322
Low speed	3.2		3.125	0.817	0.710	967	1287
Max speed	32.768		24.564	6.42	5.58	123	164
High speed	25.6	667	19.19	5.02	4.36	157	209
Mid speed	12.8		9.595	2.51	2.18	314	419
Low speed	3.2	1	2.39	0.627	0.545	1258	1675



		<u> 1</u>						
MODE	f _{CLK}	OSR	DATA RATE	-3dB FREQUENCY (kHz)		LATENCY TIME ⁽¹⁾ (µs)		
	(MHz)	OOK	(kSPS)	SINC3	SINC4	SINC3	SINC4	
Max speed	32.768		16	4.18	3.64	188	251	
High speed	25.6	1024	12.5	3.27	2.84	241	321	
Mid speed	12.8	1024	6.25	1.63	1.42	482	642	
Low speed	3.2		1.5625	0.409	0.355	1927	2567	
Max speed	32.768		12.291	3.21	2.79	245	326	
High speed	25.6	1222	9.602	2.51	2.18	313	417	
Mid speed	12.8	- 1333	4.801	1.26	1.09	627	835	
Low speed	3.2		1.2	0.314	0.273	2507	3340	
Max speed	32.768		8	2.09	1.82	376	501	
High speed	25.6	0040	6.25	1.63	1.42	481	641	
Mid speed	12.8	2048	3.125	0.817	0.710	962	1282	
Low speed	3.2	-	0.7813	0.204	0.178	3847	5127	
Max speed	32.768		6.143	1.61	1.40	489	652	
High speed	25.6	0007	4.799	1.26	1.09	626	834	
Mid speed	12.8	2007	2.4	0.628	0.545	1252	1669	
Low speed	3.2		0.6	0.157	0.136	5008	6675	
Max speed	32.768		4	1.046	0.909	751	1001	
High speed	25.6		3.125	0.817	0.710	961	1281	
Mid speed	12.8	4096	1.563	0.409	0.355	1922	2562	
Low speed	3.2	-	0.391	0.102	0.089	7687	10247	
Max speed	32.768		3.072	0.803	0.698	977	1303	
High speed	25.6	5333	2.4	0.628	0.545	1251	1667	
Low speed	3.2		0.3	0.078	0.068	10006	13340	
Mid speed	12.8	13333	0.480	0.126	0.109	6251	8335	
Mid speed	12.8	16000	0.400	0.105	0.0909	7501	10002	
Max speed	32.768		0.614	0.161	0.140	4884	6511	
High speed	25.6	26667	0.480	0.126	0.109	6251	8334	
Low speed	3.2		0.06	0.0157	0.0136	50008	66675	
Max speed	32.768		0.512	0.134	0.116	5860	7813	
High speed	25.6	32000	0.4	0.105	0.091	7501	10001	
Low speed	3.2		0.05	0.0131	0.0114	60007	80007	
Mid speed	12.8	48000	0.133	0.0349	0.0303	22502	30002	
Mid speed	12.8	80000	0.08	0.0209	0.0182	37502	50002	
Max speed	32.768		0.17067	0.0446	0.0388	17579	23438	
High speed	25.6	96000	0.133	0.0349	0.0303	22501	30001	
Low speed	3.2		0.0166	0.0044	0.0038	180007	240007	
Max speed	32.768		0.102	0.0268	0.0233	29298	39063	
High speed	25.6	160000	0.08	0.0209	0.0182	37501	50001	
Low speed	3.2	1	0.01	0.0026	0.0023	300005	400004	

表 7-9. Sinc3 and Sinc4 Filter Characteristics (続き)

(1) Latency time increases by 8 / f_{CLK} (µs) when analog input buffers are enabled.

Because of the reduction of data averaging performed in the filtering process, the full 24 bits of output data are not available for OSR \leq 24. \gtrsim 7-10 summarizes output resolution for OSR values \leq 24.



表 7-10. Sinc3 and Sinc4 Data Resolution				
OSR	RESOLUTION (Bits)			
12	19			
16	20.5			
24	23			

⊠ 7-24 and ⊠ 7-25 show the sinc filter frequency response. The frequency response consists of a series of response nulls occurring at f_{DATA} and multiples thereof. At the null frequencies, the filter has zero gain. ⊠ 7-25 shows the folding of the frequency response starting at the f_{MOD} / 2 frequency. No attenuation is provided by the filter at input frequencies near n · f_{MOD} (n = 1, 2, 3, and so on).



表 7-11 shows the normal-mode rejection of the filter for data rates equal to common line-cycle frequencies.

MODE	OSB	f _{DATA} (SPS)	2% CLOCK	VARIATION	6% CLOCK VARIATION	
MODE OSK	USK		SINC3 FILTER	SINC4 FILTER	SINC3 FILTER	SINC4 FILTER
Low-speed	96000	16.6	100 dB	135 dB	72 dB	95 dB
Low-speed	32000	50				
Low-speed	26667	60				
High-speed	32000	400	-			

表 7-11. Normal-Mode Rejection

7.3.5.2.2 Sinc3 + Sinc1 and Sinc4 + Sinc1 Cascade Filter

For selected data rates, the sinc3 and sinc4 filters offer the option of a cascade sinc1 filter section. Compared to a single-stage sinc3 or sinc4 filter, cascading the sinc1 filter shortens latency time when operated at the same data rate. However, sinc3 and sinc4 filters provide greater rejection of 50Hz and 60Hz interference signals because of the wide frequency-rejection range at the data rate frequency. When operated in cascade mode, the OSR of the sinc3 or sinc4 stage is fixed at 32 (OSR = A). The decimation of the sinc1 stage (OSR = B) determines the output data rate. The first stage of the cascade filter is programmable to sinc3 or sinc4. $\frac{1}{57}$ 7-12 summarizes the cascade filter characteristics.

MODE	f _{CLK}	$OSP(A \times P)(1)$	DATA RATE	-3dB FREQUENCY	LATENCY TIME (µs)		
MODE	(MHz)	USR (A * D)	(SPS)	(Hz)	SINC3 + SINC1	SINC4 + SINC1	
Mid speed	12.8	13334 (32 × 417)	480	212	2097	2102	
Mid speed	12.8	16000 (32 × 500)	400	177	2512	2517	
Max speed	32.768		614	271	1632	1634	
High speed	25.6	26656 (32 × 833)	480	212	2089	2091	
Low speed	3.2		60	26.5	16708	16728	
Max speed	32.768		512	226	1958	1960	
High speed	25.6	32000 (32 × 1000)	400	177	2506	2509	
Low speed	3.2		50	22.1	20048	20068	
Mid speed	12.8	48000 (32 × 1500)	133	58.9	7512	7517	
Mid speed	12.8	80000 (32 × 2500)	80	35.4	12512	12517	
Max speed	32.768		170.6	75.4	5864	5866	
High speed	25.6	96000 (32 × 3000)	133.3	58.9	7506	7508	
Low speed	3.2		16.7	7.37	60048	60068	
Max speed	32.768		102.4	45.3	9770	9772	
High speed	25.6	160000 (32 × 5000)	80	35.4	12506	12508	
Low speed	3.2		10	4.42	100047	100067	

表 7-12. Sinc3 + Sinc1 and Sinc4 + Sinc1 Cascade Filter Characteristics

(1) A = OSR of the first stage sinc3 or sinc4, B = OSR of the sinc1 second stage.

⊠ 7-26 illustrates the frequency response of the sinc1 cascade mode filter with the first stage in sinc4 mode for OSR = 26656 and 32000. These OSR values represent f_{DATA} = 50SPS and 60SPS in low-speed mode operation. Nulls in the frequency response occur at n · f_{DATA} , n = 1, 2, 3, and so on. At the null frequencies, the filter has zero gain. Assuming no ADC clock frequency error, the normal-mode rejection is 34dB (typical) over a ±2% signal frequency variation at the filter null frequencies.



図 7-26. Sinc1 Cascaded Filter Frequency Response

7.3.6 Power Supplies

The device has three analog power supplies (AVDD1, AVSS, and AVDD2) and one digital power supply (IOVDD).

7.3.6.1 AVDD1 and AVSS

AVDD1 and AVSS are analog power supplies that power the input and voltage reference precharge buffers and sampling switches. Depending on the type of signal input, configure the ADC for bipolar supply operation or for unipolar supply operation. Example values for bipolar supply operation are AVDD1 = 2.5V, AVSS = -2.5V and for unipolar supply operation are AVDD1 = 5V, AVSS = DGND.



7.3.6.2 AVDD2

AVDD2 is an analog power supply with respect to AVSS and is used to power the modulator core. In unipolar supply operation, connect AVDD2 to AVDD1 to reduce the required number of power-supply voltages, or connect AVDD2 to a lower voltage supply to reduce device power consumption.

7.3.6.3 IOVDD

IOVDD is the digital I/O power-supply voltage of the device. IOVDD is internally regulated to 1.35V to power the digital core. The voltage level of IOVDD is independent of the analog power-supply voltage levels.

7.3.6.4 Power-On Reset (POR)

The ADC uses power-supply monitors to detect power-up and supply brownout events. Power-up or powercycling of the IOVDD digital supply results in device reset. Power-up or power-cycling of the analog power supplies does not reset the ADC.

☑ 7-27 illustrates the digital power-on thresholds of the IOVDD and the internal CAPD voltages. When the voltages are above the respective thresholds, the ADC is released from reset. DRDY transitions high when the SPI is ready for communication. If the START pin is high, the ADC immediately begins conversions with the DRDY pin pulsing for each conversion. However, valid conversion data only occur after the power supplies and reference voltage are stabilized. The POR_FLAG bit of the STATUS register indicates the device POR. Write 1b to clear the bit to detect the next POR event.



図 7-27. Digital Supply Threshold

 \boxtimes 7-28 shows the power-on thresholds of the analog power supplies. Four monitors are used for four analog supply voltage conditions (AVDD1 – AVSS), (AVDD1 – DGND), (AVDD2 – AVSS), and (CAPA – AVSS). Valid conversion data are available after all power supplies and the reference voltage are stabilized after power on. The ALV_FLAG bit of the STATUS register sets when any analog power voltage falls below the respective threshold. Write 1b to clear the bit to detect the next analog supply low-voltage condition. Power cycling the analog power supplies does not reset the ADC. Because a low voltage on the IOVDD supply resets the internal analog LDO (CAPA), the analog low-voltage flag (ALV_FLAG) is set when the POR_FLAG sets.







7.3.6.5 CAPA and CAPD

CAPA and CAPD are the output voltages of the internal analog and digital voltage regulators. The regulators reduce the supply voltage to operate internal sub-circuits at reduced power consumption. These regulators are not designed to drive external loads. CAPA is the analog regulator voltage output and is powered from AVDD2. The output voltage is 1.6V with respect to AVSS. Bypass CAPA with a 1 μ F capacitor to AVSS.

CAPD is the digital regulator voltage output, powered from IOVDD. The regulator output is 1.35V with respect to DGND. Bypass CAPD with a 1µF capacitor to DGND.

7.3.7 VCM Output Voltage

The VCM output is a bias voltage for the control input of the output common-mode of a fully differential amplifier (FDA). The bias voltage establishes the common-mode voltage for the ADC input signal. The VCM voltage is regulated to the mid-point of the AVDD1 – AVSS power supply. With many types of FDAs, the same common-mode voltage is provided when the common-mode control input is floated when the FDA and ADC use the same power supply. However, if the FDA and ADC power supplies have different values, bias the FDA common-mode voltage with the VCM voltage. If the VCM voltage is not used, leave the pin unconnected. The VCM output is enabled by the VCM bit of the CONFIG1 register.

7.4 Device Functional Modes

7.4.1 Speed Modes

The ADC offers power-scalable speed modes that allow optimization of signal bandwidth, data rate, and power consumption. For overlapping data rate values among the speed modes, using a higher value of OSR improves the dynamic range performance. Max-speed mode provides the highest data rate and signal bandwidth, and low-speed mode minimizes power consumption for applications not requiring large signal bandwidths. The ADC clock frequency is adapted by the user according to the speed mode. See the *Clock Operation* section for the clock frequencies and clock divider options. The speed mode is selected by the SPEED_MODE[1:0] bits of the CONFIG2 register.

7.4.2 Idle Mode

When conversions are stopped, the ADC offers the option to remain in a full-powered idle mode or to enter a low-power standby mode. In idle mode, the analog circuit remains fully operational, including sampling of the signal and voltage reference inputs. Only the digital filter is inactive. When conversions are restarted, the digital filter begins the conversion process. Idle mode (default) is programmed by the STBY_MODE bit of the CONFIG2 register.

7.4.3 Standby Mode

The ADC has the option of a low-power standby mode when conversions are stopped. The standby mode function is engaged automatically when enabled by the STBY_MODE bit of the CONFIG2 register. During standby, sampling of the signal and reference voltages are stopped. When conversions are restarted, sampling of the signal and reference voltages resume. When standby mode is exited, the latency time for the first conversion increases 24 f_{CLK} cycles.

7.4.4 Power-Down Mode

Power-down mode is engaged by setting the PWDN bit of the CONFIG2 register. In power-down mode, the analog and digital sections are powered off, except for a small bias current required to maintain SPI operation needed to exit power-down mode by clearing the PWDN bit. The digital LDO also remains active to maintain user register settings. Sampling of the signal and voltage reference is stopped during power-down mode. Exit power-down mode by writing 0b to the PWDN bit or by resetting the device.

7.4.5 Reset

The ADC performs an automatic reset at power-on and is also reset manually by the $\overrightarrow{\text{RESET}}$ pin or SPI operation. At reset, the control logic, digital filter, and SPI restart and the user registers reset to the default values. See \boxtimes 5-5 for details when the ADC is available for operation after reset.



7.4.5.1 RESET Pin

The RESET pin is an active-low input. The ADC is reset by taking RESET low then back high. Because the RESET pin has an internal $20k\Omega$ pullup resistor, RESET does not need to be tied high if not used. The RESET pin is a Schmitt-triggered input designed to reduce noise sensitivity. See \boxtimes 5-5 for RESET pin timing and when SPI communications are available after reset. Because the ADC performs an automatic reset at power-on, manual reset is not required.

7.4.5.2 Reset by SPI Register Write

The device is reset through SPI operation by writing 01011000b to the CONTROL register. Writing any other value to this register does not result in a reset. In 4-wire SPI mode, reset takes effect at the end of the frame at the time \overline{CS} is taken high. In 3-wire SPI mode, reset takes effect on the last falling edge of SCLK of the register write operation. Reset in 3-wire SPI mode requires that the SPI communication is synchronized to the host. If SPI synchronization is lost, use the pattern described in the *Reset by SPI Input Pattern* section to reset the device. Reset is validated by checking the POR_FLAG of the STATUS register.

7.4.5.3 Reset by SPI Input Pattern

The device is also reset through SPI operation by inputting a long bit pattern. The input pattern is not part of the regular command format. \overline{CS} must remain low for the entire bit sequence. There are two input patterns that can reset the ADC: pattern 1 and pattern 2. Pattern 1 consists of a *minimum* 1023 consecutive ones followed by one zero. The device resets on the falling edge of SCLK when the final zero is shifted in. This pattern is used for either 3- or 4-wire SPI modes. \boxtimes 7-29 shows a pattern 1 reset example.



図 7-29. Reset Pattern 1 (3-Wire or 4-Wire SPI Mode)

Reset pattern 2 is only used with the 4-wire SPI mode. To reset, input a *minimum* of 1024 consecutive ones (no ending zero value), followed by taking \overline{CS} high, at which time reset occurs. Use pattern 2 when the devices are connected in daisy-chain mode. \boxtimes 7-30 shows a pattern 2 reset example.



Z 7-30. Reset Pattern 2 (4-Wire SPI Mode)

7.4.6 Synchronization

Conversions are synchronized and controlled by the START pin or, optionally, through SPI operation. If controlling conversions through SPI operation, keep the START pin low to avoid contention with the pin. Except for the CRC registers, writes to the MUX register and beyond cause an ongoing conversion to restart, thus resulting in loss of synchronization. Resynchronization of the ADC is sometimes necessary in this case.

For clock divider values > 1, ADC synchronization to an external synchronizing signal has uncertainty due to the unknown phase of the divided clock signal. To avoid synchronization uncertainty, use the divide by 1 option.



The ADC has three modes to synchronize and control conversions: *synchronized, start/stop, and one-shot* modes, each with specific functional differences. Program the desired synchronization mode with the START_MODE[1:0] bits of the CONFIG2 register. Only the start/stop and one-shot modes offer control through SPI operation.

After the ADC is synchronized, the first conversion provides fully settled data but incurs a delay (latency time) compared to the normal data period. This latency is needed to account for full settling of the digital filter and depends on the specific data rate and the filter mode. See the *Digital Filter* section for filter latency details.

7.4.6.1 Synchronized Control Mode

In synchronized control mode, the ADC converts continuously regardless if the START pin is high or low. The ADC is synchronized on the rising edge of START. When synchronized, the first \overline{DRDY} falling edge is delayed to account for the filter settling time (latency time). Both a single-pulse input and a continuous-clock input equal to data rate multiples can be applied to the START pin in this mode.

The ADC synchronizes at the rising edge of START. If the time to the next rising edge of START is an *n* multiple of the conversion period, within a $\pm 1 / f_{CLK}$ window, the ADC does not resynchronize (n = 1, 2, 3, and so on). Synchronization does not occur because the ADC conversion period is already synchronized to the period of the START signal. If the period of the applied START signal is *not* an *n* multiple of the conversion period, the ADC resynchronizes. As a result of the propagation delay of the digital filter, a phase difference exists between the START signal and the DRDY output. \boxtimes 7-31 shows the synchronization to the START signal when the period of START pulses is not equal to an *n* multiple of the conversion period.



図 7-31. Synchronized Control Mode

7.4.6.2 Start/Stop Control Mode

Start/stop control mode is a gate-control mode used to start and stop conversions. Conversions are started by taking the START pin high or, if conversions are controlled through SPI operation, by writing 1b to the START bit of the CONTROL register.

Conversions continue until stopped by taking the START pin low, or by writing 1b to the STOP bit through SPI operation. \overrightarrow{DRDY} is driven high at conversion start and is driven low when each conversion data are ready. If START is taken low or 1b is written to the STOP bit while conversions are in progress, the ongoing conversion runs to completion and then stops. (See \boxtimes 5-6 for detailed START timing).

To restart an ongoing conversion, pulse START low to high, or write 1b to the START bit a second time. \boxtimes 7-32 shows the START and DRDY operation. If conversions are stopped when standby mode is enabled, DRDY returns high three clock cycles after falling low, otherwise when not in standby mode DRDY remains low until being forced high at the eighth SCLK edge during conversion data readout. If data are not read, DRDY remains low and pulses high just before the next DRDY falling edge.





図 7-32. Start/Stop Control Mode

7.4.6.3 One-Shot Control Mode

One-shot control mode initiates a single conversion when START is taken high or, through SPI operation, when the START bit of the CONTROL register is set to 1b. DRDY drives high to indicate the conversion is started and drives low when the conversion is complete. Data are available for readback at that time.

Taking START low, or writing 1b to the STOP bit, does not interrupt the ongoing conversion. The STOP bit has no effect. To restart the conversion, pulse START low to high, or write 1b to the START bit a second time. \boxtimes 7-33 illustrates the one-shot control mode operation. When standby mode is enabled, DRDY returns high three clock cycles after transitioning low, otherwise DRDY remains low until forced high at the next rising edge of START.



🛛 7-33. One-Shot Control Mode

7.4.7 Conversion-Start Delay Time

A programmable delay time is available to delay the start of the first conversion cycle when the START pin or START bit are asserted. This delay time allows for settling of external components, such as the voltage reference after exiting standby mode, or for additional settling time when switching the signal through an external multiplexer. After the initial delay time, subsequent conversions are not delayed. The programmable delay value adds time to the latency time value of the digital filter. See the DELAY[2:0] bits of the FILTER2 register for details.

7.4.8 Calibration

The ADS127L21B offers offset and gain calibration by the user offset and gain calibration registers. As shown in \boxtimes 7-34, the 24-bit offset calibration value is subtracted from the conversion data before being multiplied by the 24-bit gain calibration value. Output data are rounded to the final resolution (16- or 24-bit) and clipped to +FS and -FS code values after the scaling operation.





🛛 7-34. Calibration Block Diagram

 \neq 20 shows how conversion data are calibrated:

Final Output Data = (Data – OFFSET) × GAIN / 400000h

(20)



7.4.8.1 OFFSET2, OFFSET1, OFFSET0 Calibration Registers (Addresses 0Ch, 0Dh, 0Eh)

The offset calibration value is a 24-bit value consisting of three 8-bit registers coded in two's-complement format. The offset value is subtracted from the conversion data. Register 0Ch is the most-significant byte, register 0Dh is the middle byte, and register 0Eh is the least-significant byte. If the ADC is programmed to provide 16-bit resolution, the least-significant offset byte provides sub-LSB offset accuracy. $\frac{1}{27}$ 7-13 shows example offset calibration values.

OFFSET REGISTER VALUE	OFFSET APPLIED					
000010h	-16LSB					
000001h	–1LSB					
FFFFFh	1LSB					
FFFF0h	16LSB					

表 7-13. OFFSET Register Values

7.4.8.2 GAIN2, GAIN1, GAIN0 Calibration Registers (Addresses 0Fh, 10h, 11h)

The gain calibration value is a 24-bit value consisting of three 8-bit registers coded in straight-binary format and normalized to unity gain at 400000h. For example, to correct a gain error greater than 1, the gain calibration value is less than 400000h. Register 0Fh is the most-significant byte, register 10h is the middle byte, and register 11h is the least-significant byte. 表 7-14 shows example gain calibration values.

GAIN REGISTER VALUE	GAIN APPLIED				
433333h	1.05				
400000h	1				
3CCCCCh	0.95				

表 7-14. GAIN Register Values

7.4.8.3 Calibration Procedure

The recommended calibration procedure is as follows:

- 1. Preset the offset and gain calibration registers to 000000h and 400000h, respectively.
- Perform offset calibration by shorting the ADC inputs. Alternatively, short the inputs at the system level to include the offset error of the external amplifier stages. Acquire conversion data and write the average value of the data to the offset calibration registers. Averaging the data reduces conversion noise to improve calibration accuracy.
- 3. Perform gain calibration by applying a calibration signal to the ADC input. Apply this signal at the system level to include the gain error of the external buffer stages. For the standard input range mode, choose the calibration voltage to be less than the full-scale input range to avoid clipping the output code. Clipped output codes result in inaccurate calibration. For example, use a 3.9V calibration signal with V_{REF} = 4.096V. When operating in extended range mode, setting the calibration signal equal to V_{REF} does not cause clipped output codes. Acquire conversion data and average the results. Use 式 21 to calculate the gain calibration value.

Gain Calibration Value = (expected output code / actual output code) · 400000h

For example, the expected output code of a 3.9V calibration voltage using a 4.096V reference voltage is: $(3.9V / 4.096V) \cdot 7FFFFh = 79E000h$.

(21)



7.5 Programming

7.5.1 Serial Interface (SPI)

The serial interface reads conversion data, configures device registers, and controls ADC conversions. The optional CRC mode validates error-free data transmission between the host and ADC. Additional CRCs validate the register map contents after the register data are loaded.

The serial interface consists of four signals: \overline{CS} , SCLK, SDI, and SDO/DRDY. The interface operates in peripheral mode (passive) where SCLK is driven by the host. The interface is compatible to SPI mode 1 (CPOL = 0 and CPHA = 1). In SPI mode 1, SCLK idles low and data are updated on SCLK rising edges and are read on SCLK falling edges. The interface supports full-duplex operation, meaning input data and output data can be transmitted simultaneously. The interface also supports daisy-chain connection of multiple ADCs to simplify the SPI connection.

7.5.1.1 Chip Select (CS)

 \overline{CS} is an active-low input that enables the interface for communication. The communication frame is started by taking \overline{CS} low and is ended by taking \overline{CS} high. When \overline{CS} is taken high, the device ends the frame by interpreting the last 16 bits of input data (24 bits in CRC mode) regardless of the total number of bits shifted in. When \overline{CS} is high, the SPI interface resets, commands are blocked, and SDO/DRDY enters a high-impedance state. DRDY is an active output regardless of the state of \overline{CS} . Tie \overline{CS} low to operate the interface in 3-wire SPI mode.

7.5.1.2 Serial Clock (SCLK)

SCLK is the serial clock input used to shift data into and out of the ADC. Output data are updated on the rising edge of SCLK and input data are latched on the falling edge of SCLK. SCLK is a Schmitt-triggered input designed to increase noise immunity. Even though SCLK is noise resistant, keep SCLK as noise-free as possible to avoid unintentional SCLK transitions. Avoid ringing and overshoot on the SCLK input. A series-termination resistor at the SCLK driver often reduces ringing.

7.5.1.3 Serial Data Input (SDI)

SDI is the serial interface data input to the device. The ADC latches input data on the falling edge of SCLK. Idle SDI high or low when not active.

7.5.1.4 Serial Data Output/Data Ready (SDO/DRDY)

SDO/DRDY is a dual-function output pin. This pin is programmable to provide output data only, or to provide output data and the data-ready indication. The dual-function mode multiplexes output data and data-ready operations on a single pin. Output data are updated on the rising edge of SCLK. The SDO/DRDY pin is in a high-Z state when \overline{CS} is high. See the SDO/DRDY section for details of dual-function operation. The DATA_MODE[1:0] bits of the FILTER3 register programs the mode.

7.5.1.5 SPI Frame

Communication through the serial interface is based on the concept of frames. A frame consists of a prescribed number of SCLKs required to shift in or shift out data. A frame is started by taking \overline{CS} low and is ended by taking \overline{CS} high. When \overline{CS} is taken high, the device interprets the last 16 bits (or 24 bits in CRC mode) of input data. The device interprets the last 16 (or 24) bits regardless of the amount of data shifted into the device. In typical use, the input frame is sized to match the output frame by padding the frame with leading zeros if needed. However, if not transmitting and receiving data in full-duplex mode, the 16-bit frame option (24-bit frame in CRC mode) shortens the frame size. The output frame size, given in $\frac{1}{27}$ 7-15, depends on the programmed data resolution (16 or 24 bits) and the optional STATUS header and CRC bytes. After the ADC is powered up or reset, the default output frame size is 24 bits. In 3-wire SPI mode, make sure the input frame matches the size of the output frame for the SPI to remain synchronized.



RESOLUTION (Bits)	STATUS BYTE	CRC BYTE	FRAME SIZE (Bits)				
24	No	No	24				
24	No	Yes	32				
24	Yes	No	32				
24	Yes	Yes	40				
16	No	No	16				
16	No	Yes	24				
16	Yes	No	24				
16	Yes	Yes	32				

表 7-15. Output Frame Size

7.5.1.6 Full-Duplex Operation

The serial interface supports full-duplex operation. Full-duplex operation allows the simultaneous transmission and reception of data in one frame. For example, input the register read command for the next register at the same time that data of the previously addressed register are output. This process doubles the throughput for reading registers. An example of full-duplex operation is illustrated in \boxtimes 7-36.

7.5.1.7 Device Commands

Commands are used to read and write register data. The register map of $\frac{1}{5}$ 8-1 consists of a series of one-byte registers, accessible by read and write operations. The minimum frame length of the input command sequence is two bytes (three bytes in CRC mode). If desired, pad the input command sequence with leading zeros to match the length of the output data frame. In CRC mode, the device interprets the two bytes immediately preceding the CRC byte at the end of the frame. $\frac{1}{5}$ 7-16 shows the ADS127L21B device commands.

DESCRIPTION	BYTE1	BYTE2	BYTE 3 (Optional CRC Byte)
No operation	00h	00h	D7h
Read register command	40h + address [4:0]	Don't care	CRC of byte 1 and byte 2
Write register command	80h + address [4:0]	Register data	CRC of byte 1 and byte 2

表 7-16. SPI Commands

There are extended-length bit patterns that are different from the standard command length. These patterns reset the ADC and the SPI frame in three-wire SPI operation. These patterns are explained in the *Reset by SPI Input Pattern* and *3-Wire SPI Mode* sections.

7.5.1.7.1 No-Operation

The no-operation command bytes are <00h 00h>. Use these bytes when no command is desired, such as reading conversion data. If the SPI CRC is enabled, the CRC byte is required (byte 3), which is always D7h for bytes <00h 00h>. Hold SDI low during data readback, but in CRC mode the SPI_ERR flag is set, which blocks future register write operations. Ignore the SPI_ERR flag when reading conversion data until a register write operation is desired. At that point, clear the SPI_ERR flag of the STATUS register by writing 1b.

7.5.1.7.2 Read Register Command

The read register command reads register data. The command follows an off-frame protocol where the read command is sent in one frame and the ADC responds with register data in the next frame. The first byte of the command is the base command value (40h) added to the 4-bit register address. The value of the second command byte is arbitrary, but is used together with the first byte for the CRC. The response to registers outside the valid address range is 00h. The register data format is most-significant-bit first.


 \boxtimes 7-35 shows an example of reading register data using the 16-bit output frame size. Frame 1 is the command frame and frame 2 is the data response frame. The frames are delimited by taking \overline{CS} high. The data response frame is padded with 00h after the register data byte to fill the 16-bit frame. If desired, shorten the data response frame after the data byte by taking \overline{CS} high.

If operating in full-duplex mode (such as a simultaneous read of 24-bit conversion data during the input of the register read command), pad the command frame with a leading 00h value to match the length of the data response frame. When configuring multiple registers, full-duplex operation is optional to double the throughput of the read register operations by inputting the next read register command during the data response frame of the previous register.



- A. Previous state of SDO/DRDY before the first SCLK.
- B. Data are either 16 bits of conversion data, or if register data, the data field is the register data byte + 00h.

2 7-35. Read Register Data, Minimum 16-Bit Frame Size

☑ 7-36 illustrates an example of the read register operation using the maximum 40-bit frame size in full-duplex operation. In frame 1, conversion data are output simultaneous with the input of the read register command (if the previous frame is not a read register command). The input command is padded with two don't care bytes to match the length of the output data frame. The padded input bytes are excluded from the CRC-IN code calculation. Frame 2 shows the input of the next read register command concurrent with the output of the previous register data. Zeros are padded after the register data to place CRC-OUT in the same location as in the conversion data output frame. The CRC-OUT code includes all preceding bytes within the data output frame. The SPI_ERR bit of the STATUS header indicates if an SPI CRC error occurred and whether the read register command is accepted.



A. Optional CRC byte. If CRC is disabled, the frame shortens by one byte.

B. Optional STATUS byte. If STATUS is disabled, the frame shortens by one byte.

- C. Depending on the previous operation, the data field is either conversion data or register data + two 00h pad bytes.
- D. Previous state of SDO/DRDY before the first SCLK.

図 7-36. Read Register Data, Maximum 40-Bit Frame Size

7.5.1.7.3 Write Register Command

The write register command writes register data. The write register operation is performed in a single frame. The first byte of the command is the base value (80h) added to the 4-bit register address. The second byte of the command is the register data. Writing to registers outside the valid address range is ignored.

⊠ 7-37 shows an example of a register write operation using the 16-bit frame size. If operating in full-duplex mode (simultaneous reading of 24-bit conversion data during the input of the register write command), include one or more leading pad bytes to the input data to match the length of the output frame. When configuring a series of registers (when conversion data are ignored), the minimum 16-bit frame size improves throughput.



- A. Previous state of SDO/DRDY before the first SCLK.
- B. Data are either conversion data, or if register data, the field is register data byte + one 00h pad byte.

図 7-37. Write Register Data, Minimum 16-Bit Frame Size



☑ 7-38 shows an example of a write register operation using the maximum 40-bit frame size. Full-duplex operation is also illustrated to show simultaneous input of the command and output of conversion data. The input frame is prefixed with two *don't care* bytes to match the output frame so all conversion data bytes are transmitted. Successful write operations are verified by reading back the register data, or by checking the SPI_ERR bit of the STATUS byte for input byte CRC errors. If an input SPI CRC error occurred, the SPI_ERR is set and further register write operations are blocked (except for the STATUS register) until reset by writing 1b to the same SPI_ERR bit.



- A. Optional CRC byte. If CRC is disabled, the frame shortens by one byte.
- B. Optional STATUS byte. If STATUS is disabled, the frame shortens by one byte.
- C. The data field is either 24 bits of conversion data, or if the read register command was sent in the prior frame, register data byte + two 00h pad bytes.
- D. Previous state of SDO/DRDY before the first SCLK.

図 7-38. Write Register Data, Maximum 40-Bit Frame Size

7.5.1.8 Read Conversion Data

Conversion data are read by taking \overline{CS} low and by applying SCLK to shift out the data directly (no command is used). Conversion data are buffered, which allows data to be read up to one f_{MOD} clock cycle before the next DRDY falling edge. Reading conversion data multiple times before the next conversion data are ready is also possible. If the register read command is sent in the previous frame then register data replaces the conversion data.

☑ 7-39 shows an example of reading 24-bit conversion data with the STATUS and CRC bytes disabled.



- A. Before the first SCLK, SDO/DRDY is the previous state when SDO_MODE = 0b. Otherwise, SDO/DRDY follows DRDY.
- B. The data field is two bytes (16-bit resolution) or three bytes (24-bit resolution).
- C. In synchronized and start/stop control modes, DRDY returns high at the eighth SCLK falling edge. In one-shot control mode, DRDY remains low until a new conversion is started.

🛛 7-39. Conversion Data Read, Short Format

☑ 7-40 is an example of the long-format read data operation, which includes the STATUS byte and the CRC byte. This example shows the optional use of a full-duplex transmission when a register command is input at the



same time the conversion data are output. If no input command is desired, the input bytes are 00h, 00h, and D7h. The output CRC (CRC-OUT) code computation includes the STATUS byte. If the conversion data readback is stopped after the eighth SCLK of the MSB data, DRDY returns high. The DRDY bit of the STATUS byte then goes low to indicate a data-read attempt.



A. Optional CRC byte. If the CRC is disabled, the frame shortens by one byte.

- B. Optional STATUS header. If STATUS is disabled, the frame shortens by one byte.
- C. Data are two bytes (16-bit resolution) or three bytes (24-bit resolution).
- D. If the SDO_MODE bit = 0, the previous state of SDO/DRDY remains until SCLK begins. Otherwise, SDO/DRDY follows DRDY.
- E. In synchronized and start/stop control modes, DRDY returns high at the 16th SCLK falling edge (eighth bit of the MS data byte). In oneshot control mode, DRDY stays low until a new conversion is started.

図 7-40. Conversion Data Read, Long Format

In normal operation, reading of conversion data ready is synchronized to the \overline{DRDY} signal, but data are capable to be read asynchronously to \overline{DRDY} . However, when conversion data are read close to the \overline{DRDY} falling edge, there is uncertainty whether previous data or new data are output. If the SCLK shift operation starts at least one f_{MOD} clock cycle before the \overline{DRDY} falling edge, then old data are provided. If the shift operation starts at least one f_{MOD} clock cycle *after the* \overline{DRDY} falling edge, then new data are output. The DRDY bit of the STATUS byte indicates if the data are old (previously read data) or new.

7.5.1.8.1 Conversion Data

Conversion data are coded in two's-complement format, MSB first (sign bit), with resolution programmable to 24 bits or 16 bits. The 24-bit or 16-bit resolution is programmed by the DATA bit of the CONFIG1 register. The SNR of 16-bit data is limited to 98.1dB as a result of 16-bit quantization noise. 表 7-17 shows the output code for standard and extended input ranges for 24-bit resolution mode. The conversion data clips to positive and negative full-scale code values when the input signal exceeds the respective positive and negative full-scale values.

	24-BIT OUTPUT DATA ⁽²⁾							
	STANDARD RANGE	EXTENDED RANGE						
$1.25 \cdot k \cdot V_{REF} \cdot (2^{23} - 1) / 2^{23}$	7FFFFh	7FFFFh						
$k \cdot V_{REF} \cdot (2^{23} - 1) / 2^{23}$	7FFFFh	666666h						
k · V _{REF} / 2 ²³	000001h	000001h						
0	000000h	000000h						
-k · V _{REF} / 2 ²³	FFFFFh	FFFFFh						
–k · V _{REF}	800000h	99999Ah						

表 7-17.	24-Bit	Output	Data	Format
---------	--------	--------	------	--------



St i i 24 Bit Output Butu i officiat (MEC)						
	24-BIT OUTPUT DATA ⁽²⁾					
	STANDARD RANGE	EXTENDED RANGE				
–1.25 · k · V _{REF}	800000h	800000h				
	•					

表 7-17. 24-Bit Output Data Format (続き)

(1) k = 1x or 2x input range option.

(2) Ideal output data excluding offset and gain errors, and reduced resolution for OSR values < 32.

7.5.1.8.2 Data Ready

There are several methods available to determine when conversion data are ready for readback.

- 1. Hardware: Monitor the DRDY or the SDO/DRDY pin
- 2. Software: Monitor the DRDY bit of the STATUS byte
- 3. Clock count: Count the number of ADC clocks to predict when data are ready

7.5.1.8.2.1 DRDY

DRDY is the data-ready output signal. DRDY drives high when conversions are started or resynchronized, and drives low when conversion data are ready. DRDY is driven back high at the eighth SCLK during conversion data read. This behavior applies to the synchronized and the start/stop control modes. In one-shot control mode, DRDY stays low during conversion data read. If the ADC is programmed to enter standby mode (STBY_MODE bit = 1b), DRDY is driven back high three f_{CLK} cycles after transitioning low. If conversion data are not read, DRDY pulses high just prior to the next falling edge. See the *Synchronization* section for details of the DRDY operation for each of the conversion control modes. DRDY is an active output whether CS is high or low.

7.5.1.8.2.2 SDO/DRDY

SDO/DRDY is a dual-function output pin. This pin is programmable to fixed data output mode or to automatically change modes from data ready (not reading data) to data output mode (reading data). In automatic mode, the pin replaces the function of the DRDY pin to conserve the number of SPI I/O lines. When in automatic mode and when \overline{CS} is low, SDO/DRDY mirrors the DRDY pin until the first rising edge of SCLK. At this time, the pin changes to data output mode. When the data-read operation is complete, the pin reverts back to the DRDY mode. The data-read operation is complete on the 24th falling edge of SCLK, or the 40th edge if the CRC and STATUS bytes are included. The DATA_MODE[1:0] bits = 01b programs the automatic mode. The 10b setting also operates in automatic mode, but maintains SDO/DRDY as an active output when \overline{CS} is high. \boxtimes 7-41 illustrates the SDO/DRDY operation.



A. In synchronized and start/stop control modes, DRDY returns high at the eighth SCLK falling edge (eighth bit of MSB data). In one-shot control mode, DRDY stays low until a new conversion is started.

☑ 7-41. SDO/DRDY and DRDY Function



7.5.1.8.2.3 DRDY Bit

The software method of determining data ready is by polling the DRDY bit (bit 0 of the STATUS byte). When DRDY = 1b, the data are new from the last data read operation, otherwise the data supplied are the previous data. After data are read, the bit stays cleared until the next conversion data are ready. To avoid missing data, poll the bit at least as often as the output data rate.

7.5.1.8.2.4 Clock Counting

Another method to determine if data are ready is to count clock cycles. This method is only possible when using an external clock because the internal clock oscillator is not observable. After synchronization or conversion start, the number of clock cycles for the first conversion is larger compared to the normal conversion period. The clock cycles of the first conversion is equivalent to the latency time, as listed in the *Digital Filter* section.

7.5.1.8.3 STATUS Byte

STATUS is an optional byte prefixed to the conversion data. See $\frac{1}{8}$ 8-5 for the STATUS byte field descriptions. The STATUS byte is enabled by setting the STATUS bit of the CONFIG3 register. The STATUS byte sent with conversion data has the same content as the STATUS register.

7.5.1.9 Daisy-Chain Operation

In simultaneous-sampling systems with multiple ADCs, a daisy-chain string connection reduces the number of SPI I/Os to the host controller. A daisy-chain connection links the SPI output of one device to the SPI input of the next device. This connection results in the chained devices appearing as a single logical device to the host controller. There is no special programming required for daisy-chain operation, simply apply additional shift clocks to access all devices in the chain. For simplified operation, program the same SPI frame size for each device. For example, when enabling the CRC option of all devices, thus producing a 32-bit frame size.

 \boxtimes 7-42 illustrates four devices connected in a daisy-chain configuration. The SDI of ADS127L21B (1) connects to the host SPI data out, and SDO/DRDY of ADS127L21B (4) connects to the host SPI data input. The shift operation is simultaneous for all devices in the chain. After each ADC completes the conversion data shifting, the shifted-in data of SDI appears on SDO/DRDY. This pin then drives the SDI of the next device in the chain. The shift operation continues until the last device in the chain is reached. The SPI frame ends when \overline{CS} is taken high, at which time the data shifted into each device is interpreted. Program the SDO/DRDY pin to data-output-only mode.



図 7-42. Daisy-Chain Connection

☑ 7-43 shows the 24-bit frame size of each device used at initial communication after device power up.



図 7-43. 24-Bit Data Input Sequence



To input data, the host first shifts in the data intended for the last device in the chain. The number of input bytes for each ADC is sized to match the output frame size. The default frame size is 24 bits, so initially each ADC requires three bytes by prefixing a pad byte before the two command bytes. The input data of ADC (4) is first, followed by the input data of ADC (3), and so forth.

 \boxtimes 7-44 illustrates the detailed input data sequence for the daisy-chain write register operation of \boxtimes 7-42. 40-bit frames for each ADC are shown (24-bits of data, with the STATUS and CRC bytes enabled). Command operations are potentially different for each ADC. The read register operation requires a second frame operation to read out register data.



A. Optional CRC byte. If CRC is disabled, the individual frames shorten by one byte.

- B. Previous state of SDO/DRDY before SCLK is applied.
- C. Optional STATUS byte. If STATUS is disabled, the individual frames shorten by one byte.

図 7-44. Write Register Data in Daisy-Chain Connection

 \boxtimes 7-45 shows the clock sequence to read conversion data from the device connection provided in \boxtimes 7-42. This example illustrates a 32-bit output frame (24-bits of data, with the CRC byte enabled). The output data of ADC (4) is first in the sequence, followed by the data of ADC (3), and so on. The number of bits per frame multiplied by the number of devices in the chain is the number of clocks required to shift out data. In this example, 32-bit output frames × four devices result in 128 total clocks.



A. Optional CRC byte. If CRC is disabled, the individual frames shorten by one byte.

B. Previous state of SDO/DRDY before SCLK is applied.

図 7-45. Read Conversion Data in Daisy-Chain Connection

The maximum number of devices connected in daisy-chain configuration is limited by the SCLK signal frequency, data rate, and number of bits per frame. \neq 22 calculates the maximum number of devices allowed in a chain. The same limitation applies to parallel-connected SPI because the data from each ADC is also read in series.

Maximum devices in a chain = $\lfloor f_{SCLK} / (f_{DATA} \cdot bits per frame) \rfloor$ (22)

For example, the maximum number of daisy-chain connected devices is the floor of: $\lfloor 20 \text{ MHz} / (100 \text{ kHz} \cdot 32) \rfloor = 6$. Assuming $f_{SCLK} = 20 \text{ MHz}$, $f_{DATA} = 100 \text{ kSPS}$, and 32-bit frames are used.



7.5.1.10 3-Wire SPI Mode

The ADC has the option of 3-wire SPI operation by grounding \overline{CS} . Engage 3-wire mode by grounding \overline{CS} at power up or after reset. The 3-wire SPI mode is indicated by bit 7 (CS_MODE) of the STATUS register. The device changes to 4-wire SPI mode when \overline{CS} is taken high.

Because \overline{CS} no longer controls the frame timing in 3-wire mode, SCLKs are counted by the ADC to determine the frame beginning and end. Make sure the number of SCLK bits are controlled by the host and match the size of the output frame. The number of bits per frame depends on the device configuration. The size of the output frame is given in $\frac{1}{2}$ 7-15. Because frame timing is determined by the number of SCLKs, avoid inadvertent SCLK transitions, such as those occurring at power up.

The 3-wire SPI mode supports the same command format and clocking as 4-wire mode, except there is no \overline{CS} toggling. There are no wait time requirements between frames for the remaining registers. Except for read/write operations of the programmable filter coefficients, where a $10f_{CLK}$ cycle delay is required between frames.

7.5.1.10.1 3-Wire SPI Mode Frame Reset

In 3-wire SPI mode, unintended SCLK transitions potentially misaligns the frame, resulting in loss of SPI synchronization. As shown in \boxtimes 7-46, the SPI is resynchronized by sending an SPI reset pattern. The reset pattern is a minimum of 63 consecutive 1s followed by one 0 at the 64th SCLK. The 65th SCLK starts a new SPI frame. Optionally, completely reset the ADC by toggling RESET or by the reset pattern described in the *Reset by SPI Input Pattern* section.



図 7-46. 3-Wire Mode SPI Reset Pattern

7.5.1.11 SPI CRC

The SPI cyclic redundancy check (CRC) is an SPI check code used to detect transmission errors to and from the host controller. An input CRC byte is transmitted with the input data on SDI by the host and a CRC byte is transmitted with the output data on SDO/DRDY by the ADC. The SPI CRC error check is enabled by the SPI_CRC bit of the CONFIG3 register.

The CRC code is calculated by the host on the two command bytes. Any input bytes padded to the start of the frame are not included in the CRC calculation. The ADC checks the input command CRC code against an internal code calculated over the two input command bytes. If the CRC codes do not match, the command is not executed and the SPI_ERR bit is set in the STATUS byte. Register write operations are blocked except to the STATUS register to allow clearing the SPI CRC error by writing 1b to the SPI_ERR bit. Register read operations are not blocked unless an SPI_CRC error is detected in the SPI frame of a register read command.

The number of bytes used to calculate the output CRC code depends on the amount of data bytes transmitted in the frame. All data bytes that precede the output CRC code are used in the CRC calculation. \pm 7-18 shows the number of bytes used for the output CRC calculation.

	, ,
BYTE COUNT	BYTE FIELD DESCRIPTION
2	16 bits of conversion data
2	One byte of register data + 00h pad byte
3	16 bits of conversion data + STATUS byte
3	24 bits of conversion data
3	One byte of register data + two 00h pad bytes
4	24 bits of conversion data + STATUS byte

表 7-18.	Byte Count	of Output	CRC Code
---------	------------	-----------	----------



表 7-18. Byte Count of Output CRC Code (続き)

BYTE COUNT BYTE FIELD DESCRIPTION

4

One byte of register data + three 00h pad bytes

The CRC value is the 8-bit or 16-bit remainder of a bitwise exclusive-OR (XOR) operation of the variable length argument with the CRC polynomial. The ADS127L21B uses 8-bit and 16-bit CRC lengths depending on the CRC function. An 8-bit CRC is used for SPI, main program memory, and IIR filter coefficients. The 8-bit CRC is based on the CRC-8-ATM (HEC) polynomial: $X^8 + X^2 + X^1 + 1$. The nine coefficients of the polynomial are: 1 00000111.

A 16-bit CRC is used exclusively for the 128 FIR filter coefficients. The 16-bit CRC is based on the CRC-16-IBM polynomial: $X^{16} + X^{15} + X^2 + 1$. The 17 coefficients are 1 10000000 00000101.



The following procedure computes the CRC value:

- 1. Left shift the initial data value by eight bits (16 bits for the 16-bit CRC) by appending 0s in the LSB, creating a new data value.
- 2. Perform an initial XOR to the MSB of the new data value from step 1 with FFh (FFFh for the 16-bit CRC).
- 3. Align the MSB of the CRC polynomial to the left-most, logic 1 of the data.
- 4. The bits of the data value that are not in alignment with the CRC polynomial drop down and append to the right of the new XOR result. XOR the data value with the aligned CRC polynomial. The XOR operation creates a new, shorter-length value.
- 5. If the XOR result is less than or equal to the 8-bit or 16-bit CRC length, the procedure ends, yielding an 8-bit or 16-bit CRC code result. Otherwise, continue with the XOR operation at step 3 using the current XOR result. The number of loop iterations depend on the value of the initial data.

7.5.2 Register Memory CRC

CRCs are used to detect unintended changes in the user register memory. The register memory consists of three spaces with corresponding CRC values: the main program memory, the FIR filter coefficient memory, and the IIR filter coefficient memory. Error flags indicate CRC errors in the three spaces (see the STATUS2 register). The flags are ORed to set the global register map CRC error flag (CRC_ERR) of the STATUS1 register. The CRC function is enabled by the REG_CRC bit of the CONFIG3 register.

7.5.2.1 Main Program Memory CRC

The main program memory CRC is calculated over register addresses 00h to 11h using the 8-bit CRC polynomial shown in the *SPI CRC* section. This range excludes addresses 02h, 03h, and 04h (STATUS1, STATUS2, and CONTROL registers). Write the CRC value to the MAIN_CRC register whenever the program memory is changed. The ADC compares the value to an internal calculation. If the values do not match, the M_CRC_ERR bit in the STATUS2 register is set. This error is ORed with the other CRC memory errors and is shown in the global CRC_ERR of the STATUS1 register. If the M_CRC_ERR is set, check the memory contents and update the CRC value. Allow a delay for the ADC to compute the internal CRC then write 1b to the bit to clear. The CRC error check is enabled by the REG_CRC bit of the CONFIG3 register.

Because the REV_ID potentially changes during device production without notice, read the contents of the REV_ID register when calculating the CRC value.

7.5.2.2 FIR Filter Coefficient CRC

The FIR filter coefficient CRC is used to validate FIR coefficient memory. The FIR CRC value is calculated over the 128, 32-bit FIR coefficients, including zero-valued ending coefficients. A 16-bit CRC polynomial is used for the FIR memory (see the *SPI CRC* section for details). After the FIR coefficients are loaded to the ADC, write the 16-bit CRC value to the two, eight-bit FIR CRC registers (see the FIR_CRC1 and FIR_CRC0 registers). The ADC compares the CRC value to an internal calculation. If the values do not match, the F_CRC_ERR bit in the STATUS2 register is set. The bit is ORed with the other CRC error flags to set the global CRC_ERR bit of the STATUS1 register. If the error flag is set, check the FIR coefficient contents and update the CRC value then disable and re-enable the REG_CRC bit to clear the bit. The FIR coefficient CRC is disabled if the FIR3 filter is disabled by the FIR3_DIS bit of the FILTER2 register.

7.5.2.3 IIR Filter Coefficient CRC

The IIR filter coefficient CRC validates the IIR coefficient memory. The IIR CRC value is calculated over the 25, 32-bit IIR coefficients, using the 8-bit CRC polynomial; see the *SPI CRC* section. After the IIR coefficients are loaded to the ADC, write the 8-bit CRC value to the IIR_CRC register. The ADC compares the CRC value to an internal calculation. If the values do not match, the I_CRC_ERR bit of the STATUS2 register is set, which is logically ORed with the other CRC error flags to set the global CRC_ERR bit of the STATUS1 register. If the error bit is set, check the IIR coefficient contents and update the CRC value then disable and re-enable the REG_CRC bit to clear the bit. The IIR coefficient CRC is disabled if the IIR filter is disabled by the IIR_DIS bit of the FILTER2 register.



8 Register Map

表 8-1 shows the ADS127L21B register map. Register data are read or written one register byte at a time for each SPI operation. The FIR_BANK and IIR_BANK registers use a single address to read or write filter coefficients. Except for the CRC registers, writes to the MUX register (05h) and registers beyond result in conversion restart and loss of synchronization. If conversions are stopped (START pin low or STOP bit written), conversions are not restarted after register writes.

ADDRESS	REGISTER	DEFAULT	BIT 7	BIT 6	BIT 5	BIT 4	BIT 3	BIT 2	BIT 1	BIT 0
00h	DEV_ID	03h				DEV_I	D[7:0]			
01h	REV_ID	xxh				REV_I	D[7:0]			
02h	STATUS1	x1100xxxb	CS_MODE	ALV_FLAG	POR_FLAG	SPI_ERR	CRC_ERR	ADC_ERR	MOD_FLAG	DRDY
03h	STATUS2	00h			RESERVED			I_CRC_ERR	F_CRC_ERR	M_CRC_ERR
04h	CONTROL	00h			RESE	F[5:0]			START	STOP
05h	MUX	00h		_	RESER	RVED			MUX	([1:0]
06h	CONFIG1	00h	DATA	EXT_RNG	REF_RNG	INP_RNG	VCM	REFP_BUF	AINP_BUF	AINN_BUF
07h	CONFIG2	08h	RESE	RVED	START_N	ODE[1:0]	SPEED_I	MODE[1:0]	STBY_MODE	PWDN
08h	CONFIG3	00h	CLK_SEL	CLK_D	IV[1:0]	OUT_DRV	RESERVED	SPI_CRC	REG_CRC	STATUS
09h	FILTER1	00h		FLTR_SEL[2:0]				FLTR_OSR[4:0]]	
0Ah	FILTER2	01h	RESERVED		DELAY[2:0]		FLTR_SEQ	FIR2_DIS	FIR3_DIS	IIR_DIS
0Bh	FILTER3	01h			RESEF	RVED		DATA_MODE[1:0]		
0Ch	OFFSET2	00h				OFFSE	T[23:16]			
0Dh	OFFSET1	00h				OFFSE	T[15:8]			
0Eh	OFFSET0	00h				OFFSE	ET[7:0]			
0Fh	GAIN2	40h				GAIN[23:16]			
10h	GAIN1	00h				GAIN	[15:8]			
11h	GAIN0	00h				GAIN	I [7:0]			
12h	MAIN_CRC	00h				MAIN_C	RC[7:0]			
13h	FIR_BANK	xxh		FIR_BANK[7:0]						
14h	FIR_CRC1	xxh	FIR_CRC[15:8]							
15h	FIR_CRCx0	xxh	FIR_CRC[7:0]							
16h	IIR_BANK	xxh				IIR_BA	NK[7:0]			
17h	IIR_CRC	xxh				IIR_CF	RC[7:0]			

表 8-1. ADS127L21B Register Map Overview

 $\frac{1}{8}$ 8-2 lists the access codes of the registers.

表 8-2. Register Access Codes

Access Type	Code	Description
Read	R	Read only
Write	W	Write only
Read and write	R/W	Read and write
Reset or default value	-n	Value after reset or the default value



DEV_ID Register (Address = 00h) [reset = 02h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-1. DEV_ID Register										
7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0										
DEV_ID[7:0]										
R-02h										

表 8-3. DEV_ID Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:0	DEV_ID[7:0]	R	02h	Device ID.
				03h = ADS127L21B

REV_ID Register (Address = 01h) [reset = xxh]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-2. REV_ID Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		
REVID[7:0]									
R-xxxxxxb									

表 8-4. REV_ID Register Field Descriptions

				•
Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:0	REV_ID[7:0]	R	xxxxxxxb	Die revision ID.
				The die revision ID can change during device production without
				notice.

STATUS1 Register (Address = 02h) [reset = x1100xxxb]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-3. STATUS1 Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
CS_MODE	ALV_FLAG	POR_FLAG	SPI_ERR	CRC_ERR	ADC_ERR	MOD_FLAG	DRDY
R-xb	R/W-1b	R/W-1b	R/W-0b	R-0b	R-xb	R-xb	R-xb

表 8-5. STATUS1 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7	CS_MODE	R	xb	\overline{CS} mode. This bit indicates 4-wire or 3-wire SPI mode. The mode is determined by the state of \overline{CS} at power up or after reset. 0b = 4-wire SPI operation (\overline{CS} is active) 1b = 3-wire SPI operation (\overline{CS} is tied low)
6	ALV_FLAG	R/W	1b	Analog supply low-voltage flag. This bit indicates a low-voltage is detected on the analog power supplies. Write 1b to clear the flag to detect the next low-voltage condition. 0b = No low-voltage detection from when the flag is last cleared 1b = Low-voltage detected



表 8-5. STATUS1 Register Field Des	criptions (続き)
-----------------------------------	----------------

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description	
5	POR_FLAG	R/W	1b	Power-on reset (POR) flag. This bit indicates a reset at device power-on, by a brownout of the IOVDD supply, or by a user-initiated reset. Write 1b to clear the flag to detect the next reset. 0b = No reset from when the flag is last cleared 1b = Device reset occurred	
4	SPI_ERR	R/W	Ob	SPI communication CRC error. This bit indicates an SPI CRC error. If set, register write operations are blocked, except for the STATUS register that allows clearing the error (write 1b to clear the error). Register read operations remain functional. The SPI CRC error detection is enabled by the SPI_CRC bit of the CONFIG4 register. 0b = No SPI CRC error 1b = SPI CRC error	
3	CRC_ERR	R	Ob	Global memory CRC error. This bit is an OR of the main memory, the FIR coefficients, and t IIR coefficients CRC errors. If the values written to the associate CRC registers do not match the ADC calculation, individual error are set in the I_CRC_ERR, F_CRC_ERR, and M_CRC_ERR bit the STATUS2 register. This flag auto-clears when the individual of errors are cleared. Set the REG_CRC bit of the CONFIG3 regist enable memory CRC error check. 0b = No global memory CRC error 1b = Global memory CRC error	
2	ADC_ERR	R	xb	Internal ADC error. ADC_ERR indicates an internal error. Perform a power cycle or reset the device. 0b = No ADC error 1b = ADC error	
1	MOD_FLAG	R	xb	Modulator saturation flag. This bit indicates modulator saturation occurred during the conversion cycle. The flag is valid at the end of the conversion cycle Ob = No modulator saturation 1b = Modulator saturation during the conversion cycle	
0	DRDY	R	xb	Data-ready bit. This bit asserts when new conversion data are ready. The bit is to inverse of the DRDY pin. Poll this bit in lieu of the DRDY pin to determine if conversion data are new or are repeated data from last read operation. In one-shot control mode, this bit remains at until a new conversion is started. 0b = Data are not new 1b = Data are new	



STATUS2 Register (Address = 03h) [reset = 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-4. STATUS2 Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
		RESERVED			I_CRC_ERR	F_CRC_ERR	M_CRC_ERR
		R-00000b	R-0b	R-0b	R/W-0b		

表 8-6. STATUS2 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:3	RESERVED	R	00000b	Reserved
2	I_CRC_ERR	R	Ob	IIR coefficient memory CRC error. If the value written to the IIR memory CRC register (register address 17h) does not match the internal calculation, the error is flagged to this bit and to the global CRC_ERR bit of the STATUS1 register. Clear the error by correcting the IIR_CRC register value and disable and re-enable the register CRC check (REG_CRC bit of the CONFIG3 register). Set the REG_CRC bit (CONFIG3 register) to enable the IIR memory error check. 0b = No IIR coefficient memory CRC error 1b = IIR coefficient memory CRC error
1	F_CRC_ERR	R	ОЬ	FIR coefficient memory CRC error. If the value written to the FIR memory CRC register (register addresses 14h and 15h) do not match the internal calculation, the error is flagged to this bit and to the global CRC_ERR bit of the STATUS1 register. Clear the error by correcting the FIR_CRC register values and disable and re-enable the register CRC check (REG_CRC bit of the CONFIG3 register). Set the REG_CRC bit (CONFIG3 register) to enable the register bank error check. 0b = No FIR coefficient memory CRC error 1b = FIR coefficient memory CRC error
0	M_CRC_ERR	R/W	Ob	Main memory CRC error. If the value written to the main register memory CRC register (register address 12h) does not match the internal calculation, the error is flagged to this bit and to the global CRC_ERR bit of the STATUS1 register. Clear the error by correcting the MAIN_CRC register value, then write 1b to this bit. Set the REG_CRC bit (CONFIG3 register) to enable the register bank error check. 0b = No main memory CRC error 1b = Main memory CRC error



CONTROL Register (Address = 04h) [reset = 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-5. CONTROL Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
RESET[5:0]							STOP
W-00000b							W-0b

表 8-7. CONTROL Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description	
7:2	RESET[5:0]	W	000000Ь	Device reset. Write 010110b to reset the ADC. Set the adjacent START and STOP bits to 00b in the same write operation to reset the ADC. These bits always read 000000b.	
1	START	W	Ob	Start conversion. Conversions are started or restarted by writing 1b. In one-shot control mode, one conversion is started. In start/stop control mode conversions are started and continue until stopped by the STOP Writing 1b to the START bit while a conversion is ongoing restart the conversion. This bit has no effect in synchronized control mode Writing 1b to both the START and STOP bits has no effect. The START bit is self-clearing and always reads 0b. 0b = No operation 1b = Start or restart conversion	
0	STOP	W	Ob	 Stop conversion. This bit stops conversions after the current conversion completes. This bit has no effect in synchronized control mode. Writing 1b to both the START and STOP has no effect. STOP is self-clearing and always reads 0b. 0b = No operation 1b = Stop conversion after the current conversion completes 	



MUX Register (Address = 05h) [reset = 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

🖾 8-6. MUX Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
	MUX	([1:0]					
R-00000b							-00b

表 8-8. MUX Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:2	RESERVED	R	00000b	Reserved
1:0	MUX[1:0]	R/W	00b Input multiplexer selection.	
				These bits select the polarity of the analog input and select the test
				modes. See the Analog Input section for details.
				00b = Normal input polarity
				01b = Inverted input polarity
				10b = Offset and noise test: AINP and AINN disconnected, ADC
				inputs internally shorted to (AVDD1 + AVSS) / 2
				11b = Common-mode test: ADC inputs internally shorted and
				connected to AINP



CONFIG1 Register (Address = 06h) [reset = 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

🛛 8-7. CONFIG1 Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
DATA	EXT_RNG	REF_RNG	INP_RNG	VCM	REFP_BUF	AINP_BUF	AINN_BUF
R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b

表 8-9. CONFIG1 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description	
7	DATA	R/W	0b	Data resolution selection. This bit selects the output data resolution. 0b = 24-bit resolution 1b = 16-bit resolution	
6	EXT_RNG	R/W	0b	Extended input range selection. This bit extends the input range by 25%. See the <i>Input Range</i> section for more details. 0b = Standard input range 1b = 25% extended input range	
5	REF_RNG	R/W	Ob	Voltage reference range selection. Program this bit to select the low- or high-reference voltage range to match the applied reference voltage. See the Recommended Operating Conditions table for the reference voltage range. When the high-reference range is selected, the INP_RNG bit is internally overridden to the 1x input range. 0b = Low-reference range 1b = High-reference range	
4	INP_RNG	R/W	0b	Input range selection. This bit selects the 1x or 2x input range. See the <i>Input Range</i> section for more details. 0b = 1x input range 1b = 2x input range	
3	VCM	R/W	0b	VCM output enable. This bit enables the VCM output voltage pin. The VCM voltage is (AVDD1 + AVSS) / 2. 0b = Disabled 1b = Enabled	
2	REFP_BUF	R/W	0b	Reference positive buffer enable. This bit enables the REFP reference input precharge buffer. 0b = Disabled 1b = Enabled	
1	AINP_BUF	R/W	0b	Analog input positive buffer enable. This bit enables the AINP analog input precharge buffer. 0b = Disabled 1b = Enabled	
0	AINN_BUF	R/W	0b	Analog input negative buffer enable. This bit enables the AINN analog input precharge buffer. 0b = Disabled 1b = Enabled	



CONFIG2 Register (Address = 07h) [reset = 08h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図	8-8.	CONFIG2	Register
---	------	---------	----------

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
RESE	RVED	START_M	ODE[1:0]	SPEED_N	IODE[1:0]	STBY_MODE	PWDN
R	-0b	R/W-	-00b	R/W	-10b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b

表 8-10. CONFIG2 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:6	RESERVED	R	00b	Reserved
5:4	START_MODE[1:0]	R/W	00Ь	START mode selection. These bits program the mode of the START pin. See the <i>Synchronization</i> section for more details. 00b = Start/stop control mode 01b = One-shot control mode 10b = Synchronized control mode 11b = Reserved
3:2	SPEED_MODE[1:0]	R/W	10b	Speed mode selection. These bits program the speed modes of the device. The ADC clock frequency listed corresponds to the mode. $00b = Low$ -speed mode ($f_{CLK} = 3.2MHz$) $01b = Mid$ -speed mode ($f_{CLK} = 12.8MHz$) $10b = High$ -speed mode ($f_{CLK} = 25.6MHz$) $11b = Max$ -speed mode ($f_{CLK} = 32.768MHz$, external only)
1	STBY_MODE	R/W	Ob	 Standby mode selection. This bit enables the automatic standby mode when conversions are stopped. 0b = Idle mode; the ADC remains fully powered when conversions stop. 1b = Standby mode; the ADC powers down when conversions stop. Standby mode is exited when conversions restart.
0	PWDN	R/W	Ob	Power-down mode selection. This bit powers down the ADC. All functions are powered down except for SPI operation and the digital LDO to retain user register settings. 0b = Normal operation 1b = Power-down mode



CONFIG3 Register (Address = 08h) [reset = 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

	図 8-9. CONFIG3 Register											
7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0					
CLK_SEL	CLK_DI	V[1:0]	OUT_DRV	RESERVED	SPI_CRC	REG_CRC	STATUS					
R/W-0b	R/W-0)0b	R/W-0b	R-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b					

表 8-11. CONFIG3 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description	
7	CLK_SEL	R/W	Ob	Clock selection. Selects internal or external clock operation. 0b = Internal oscillator operation 1b = External clock operation	
6:5	CLK_DIV[1:0]	R/W	00Ь	Clock divider selection. Select the clock division factor for either internal or external clock Selecting the divide-by-2 and divide-by-16 clock division factors the low-latency filter OSR values of the mid-speed mode to all of speed modes. See the FILTER1 register for a list of OSR values the speed modes. $00b = f_{CLK} / 1$ $01b = f_{CLK} / 2$ $10b = f_{CLK} / 8$ $11b = f_{CLK} / 16$	
4	OUT_DRV	R/W	0b	Digital output drive selection. Select the drive strength of the digital outputs. 0b = Full-drive strength 1b = Half-drive strength	
3	RESERVED	R	0b	Reserved	
2	SPI_CRC	R/W	Ob	SPI CRC enable. This bit enables the SPI CRC error detection. When enabled, the device verifies the CRC input byte and appends a CRC byte to the output data. The SPI_ERR bit of the STATUS byte sets if an input SPI CRC error is detected. Write 1b to the SPI_ERR bit to clear the error. 0b = Disabled 1b = Enabled	
1	REG_CRC	R/W	Ob	Memory CRC enable. This bit enables the main, IIR coefficient, and FIR coefficient memory CRC error check. If the values written to the associated CRC value registers do not match the ADC calculation, individual errors are reported to the I_CRC_ERR, F_CRC_ERR, and M_CRC_ERR error bits of the STATUS2 register. If any CRC error bit is set, the global CRC error bit (CRC_ERR) is set in the STATUS1 register. Toggle the REG_CRC bit to clear the I_CRC_ERR and F_CRC_ERR flags after correcting the CRC value. 0b = Disabled 1b = Enabled	



Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description						
0	STATUS	R/W	0b	STATUS1 byte output enable.						
				Program this bit to prefix the STATUS1 register data to the						
				conversion data. The STATUS1 register data are also prefixed to the						
				register data output when reading registers.						
				0b = Disabled						
				1b = Enabled						
		1								

表 8-11. CONFIG3 Register Field Descriptions (続き)

FILTER1 Register (Address = 09h) [reset = 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

🛛 8-10. FILTER1 Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
	FLTR_SEL[2:0]				FLTR_OSR[4:0]		
	R/W-000b				R/W-00000b		

表 8-12. FILTER1 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:5	FLTR_SEL[2:0]	R/W	000b	Digital filter selection.
				The function of these bits depend on the wideband or sinc filter mode
				selection made by the FLTR_OSR[4:0] bits.
				If the wideband filter is selected by FLTR_OSR[4:0], these bits select
				the preset or programmable FIR filter coefficients.
				000b = Preset FIR filter coefficients
				001b to 110b = Reserved
				111b = Programmable FIR filter coefficients
				If the sinc filter is selected by FLTR_OSR[4:0], these bits select the
				sinc3 or sinc4 first stage filter.
				000b = Sinc4 first stage filter
				001b = Sinc3 first stage filter
				010b to 111b = Reserved



Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
4:0	FLTR_OSR[4:0]	R/W	00000b	Digital filter mode and oversampling ratio selection.
				These bits select the oversampling ratio and the filter mode
				(wideband or sinc). For sinc filter mode, sincx = sinc3 or sinc4 filter
				selection made by FLTR_SEL[2:0]. The wideband filter OSR values
				decrease by 2 if FIR2 or FIR3 is disabled, and decrease by 4 if FIR2
				and FIR3 are disabled. The output data rate is equal to f _{MOD} / OSR.
				00000b = Wideband, OSR = 32
				00001b = Wideband, OSR = 64
				00010b = Wideband, OSR = 128
				00011b = Wideband, OSR = 256
				00100b = Wideband, OSR = 512
				00101b = Wideband, OSR = 1024
				00110b = Wideband, OSR = 2048
				00111b = Wideband, OSR = 4096
				01000b = Sincx, OSR = 12
				01001b = Sincx, OSR = 16
				01010b = Sincx, OSR = 24
				01011b = Sincx, OSR = 32
				01100b = Sincx, OSR = 64
				01101b = Sincx, OSR = 128
				01110b = Sincx, OSR = 256 (167 mid-speed mode)
				01111b = Sincx, OSR = 333 (256 mid-speed mode)
				10000b = Sincx, OSR = 512 (333 mid-speed mode)
				10001b = Sincx, OSR = 667 (512 mid-speed mode)
				10010b = Sincx, OSR = 1024 (667 mid-speed mode)
				10011b = Sincx, OSR = 1333 (1024 mid-speed mode)
				10100b = Sincx, OSR = 2048 (1333 mid-speed mode)
				10101b = Sincx, OSR = 2667 (2048 mid-speed mode)
				10110b = Sincx, OSR = 4096 (2667 mid-speed mode)
				10111b = Sincx, OSR = 5333 (4096 mid-speed mode)
				11000b = Sincx, OSR = 26667 (13333 mid-speed mode)
				11001b = Sincx, OSR = 32000 (16000 mid-speed mode)
				11010b = Sincx, OSR = 96000 (48000 mid-speed mode)
				11011b = Sincx, OSR = 160000 (80000 mid-speed mode)
				11100b = Sincx + sinc1, OSR = 26656 (13334 mid-speed mode)
				11101b = Sincx + sinc1, OSR = 32000 (16000 mid-speed mode)
				11110b = Sincx + sinc1, OSR = 96000 (48000 mid-speed mode
				11111b = Sincx + sinc1, OSR = 160000 (80000 mid-speed mode)

表 8-12. FILTER1 Register Field Descriptions (続き)

93



FILTER2 Register (Address = 0Ah) [reset = 01h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

义	8-11.	FILTER2	Register
---	-------	---------	----------

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
RESERVED		DELAY[2:0]		FLTR_SEQ	FIR2_DIS	FIR3_DIS	IIR_DIS
R/W-0b		R/W-000b		R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-0b	R/W-1b

表 8-13. FILTER2 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description		
7	RESERVED	R	0b	Reserved		
6:4	DELAY[2:0]	R/W	000Ь	Conversion-start delay time selection. These bits program a delay time between when the START pin is high or when writing to the START bit to the start of the first conversion ($f_{MOD} = f_{CLK} / 2$). 000b = 0 001b = 4 / f_{MOD} 010b = 8 / f_{MOD} 011b = 16 / f_{MOD} 100b = 32 / f_{MOD} 101b = 128 / f_{MOD} 110b = 512 / f_{MOD} 111b = 1024 / f_{MOD}		
3	FLTR_SEQ	R/W	Ob	Wideband filter computation sequence. This bit programs the computational sequence of the IIR and FIR3 wideband filter sections. 0b = FIR3 then IIR 1b = IIR then FIR3		
2	FIR2_DIS	R/W	0b	Wideband filter, FIR2 section disable. This bit disables the FIR2 section of the wideband filter. 0b = Enabled 1b = Disabled		
1	FIR3_DIS	R/W	0b	Wideband filter, FIR3 section disable. This bit disables the FIR3 section of the wideband filter. 0b = Enabled 1b = Disabled		
0	IIR_DIS	R/W	1b	Wideband filter, IIR section disable. This bit disables the IIR section of the wideband filter. 0b = Enabled 1b = Disabled		



FILTER3 Register (Address = 0Bh) [reset = 01h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-12. FILTER3 Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
		RESE	RVED			DATA_M	ODE[1:0]
		R-000	000b			R/W	′-01b

表 8-14. FILTER3 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:2	Reserved[5:0]	R	000000b	Reserved
1:0	DATA_MODE[1:0]	R/W	01b	Data output pin function selection.
				These bits program the function of the SDO/DRDY pin. For SPI
				daisy-chain connection, use the data-output only mode.
				00b = SDO/DRDY pin is data-output only mode
				01b = SDO/DRDY is a dual mode: Data output and data ready
				10b = Same as mode 01b, except SDO/ \overline{DRDY} is active when \overline{CS} is
				high
				11b = Reserved

OFFSET2, OFFSET1, OFFSET0 Registers (Addresses = 0Ch, 0Dh, 0Eh) [reset = 00h, 00h, 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-13. OFFSET2, OFFSET1, OFFSET0 Registers

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			
	OFFSET[23:16]									
			R/W-000	00000b						
7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			
	OFFSET[15:8]									
			R/W-000	00000b						
7	7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0									
OFFSET[7:0]										
			R/W-000	00000b						

表 8-15. OFFSET Registers Field Description

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
23:0	OFFSET[23:0]	R/W	000000h	User offset calibration value.
				Three registers form the 24-bit offset calibration word. OFFSET[23:0]
				is in two's-complement representation and is subtracted from the
				conversion result. The offset operation precedes the gain operation.



GAIN2, GAIN1, GAIN0 Registers (Addresses = 0Fh, 10h, 11h) [reset = 40h, 00h, 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-14. GAIN2, GAIN1, GAIN0 Registers										
7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			
GAIN[23:16]										
	R/W-0100000b									
7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			
			GAIN	[15:8]						
			R/W-00	000000b						
7	7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0									
GAIN[7:0]										
			R/W-00	00000b						

表 8-16. GAIN Registers Field Description

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
23:0	GAIN[23:0]	R/W	400000h	User gain calibration value.
				Three registers form the 24-bit gain calibration word. GAIN[23:0] is a
				straight binary representation and normalized to 400000h for gain =
				1. The conversion data are multiplied by GAIN[23:0] / 400000h after
				the offset operation.

MAIN_CRC Register (Address = 12h) [reset = 00h]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-15. MAIN_CRC Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
			MAIN_C	RC[7:0]			
			R/W-000	00000b			

表 8-17. MAIN_CRC Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:0	MAIN_CRC[7:0]	R/W	00h	Main memory CRC value.
				The main memory CRC is computed over registers 0h and 1h,
				skipping registers 2h, 3h, and 4h, and continuing with registers 5h
				through 11h. Write the computed CRC value to this register. If the
				value does not match the internal calculation, the M_REG_ERR bit is
				set in the STATUS2 register. The global CRC_ERR bit is also set in
				the STATUS1 register. Set the REG_CRC bit of the CONFIG3
				register to enable all three types of memory CRC.



FIR_BANK Register (Address = 13h) [reset = xxh]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-16. FIR_BANK Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
			FIR_BA	NK[7:0]			
			R/W	-xxh			

表 8-18. FIR_BANK Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:0	FIR_BANK[7:0]	R/W	xxh	FIR programmable filter coefficient register memory bank
				This register is a single address space that stores the 128
				coefficients of the programmable FIR filter memory. Perform
				sequential read and write operations to the same register address to
				increment an internal pointer to the next memory location. Any
				change of address to another register in a read or write operation
				resets the internal pointer to the first memory space. The reset
				values of the programmable coefficients are undefined. See the FIR3
				Filter Stage section for the FIR coefficient byte sequence.

FIR_CRC1, FIR_CRC0 Registers (Addresses = 14h, 15h) [reset = xxh, xxh]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-17. FIR_CRC1, FIR_CRC0 Registers

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		
FIR_CRC1[15:8]									
	R/W-xxh								
7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		
FIR_CRC0[7:0]									
R/W-xxh									

表 8-19. FIR_CRC1, FIR_CRC0 Registers Field Description

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
23:0	FIR_CRC[23:0]	R/W	xxxxh	Programmable FIR filter coefficients CRC value.
				The programmable FIR filter coefficients CRC is a user-computed
				value for the 128, 32-bit FIR filter coefficients. A 16-bit polynomial is
				used for the FIR coefficient CRC ($x^{16} + x^{15} + x^2 + 1$). FIR_CRC1 is
				the high byte value. If the value written does not match an internal
				calculation, the F_REG_ERR bit is set in the STATUS2 register. The
				global CRC_ERR bit is also set in the STATUS1 register. Set the
				REG_CRC bit of the CONFIG3 register to enable all three types of
				memory bank CRC. See the FIR Filter Coefficient CRC section for
				more details.



IIR_BANK Register (Address = 16h) [reset = xxh]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

8-18. IIR_BANK Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		
	IIR_BANK[7:0]								
	R/W-xxh								

表 8-20. IIR_BANK Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:0	IIR_BANK[7:0]	R/W	xxh	IIR programmable filter coefficients register bank. This register is a single address space that stores the programmable coefficients for the IIR filter. Successive read and write operations to this register increment an internal pointer to the next memory byte
				coefficients. Any change of address to another resister during a read or write operation resets the operation to the first IIR coefficient memory location.

IIR_CRC Register (Address = 17h) [reset = xxh]

Return to the Register Map Overview.

図 8-19. IIR_CRC Register

7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
IIR_CRC[7:0]							
R/W-xxh							

表 8-21. IIR_CRC Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
7:0	IIR_CRC[7:0]	R/W	xxh	IIR filter coefficients memory CRC value.
				The IIR filter coefficients memory CRC is a user-computed value of
				the entire IIR filter memory. If the value written does not match an
				internal calculation, the I_REG_ERR bit is set in the STATUS2
				register. The global CRC_ERR bit is also set in the STATUS1
				register. Set the REG_CRC bit of the CONFIG3 register to enable all
				three types of memory bank CRC. See the <i>IIR Filter Coefficient CRC</i>
				section for more details.



9 Application and Implementation

注

Information in the following applications sections is not part of the TI component specification, and TI does not warrant its accuracy or completeness. TI's customers are responsible for determining suitability of components for their purposes, as well as validating and testing their design implementation to confirm system functionality.

9.1 Application Information

The high-performance characteristics of the ADS127L21B are achieved when familiar with the requirements of the input driver, antialias filter, reference voltage, SPI clocking, and PCB layout. The following sections provide design guidelines.

9.1.1 SPI Operation

Although the ADC provides flexible SPI clock options and the wide IOVDD voltage range, the following guidelines help achieve full data sheet performance.

- 1. If possible, use an SCLK signal that is phase coherent to the CLK signal (that is, ratios of 2:1, 1:1, 1:2, 1:4, and so on)
- 2. Minimize phase skew between SCLK and CLK (< 5ns)
- 3. Operate IOVDD at the lowest voltage possible to reduce digital noise coupling
- 4. If IOVDD ≥ 3.3V, consider operating SCLK continuously over the full conversion period to spread the effects of noise coupling over the full conversion period
- 5. Keep the trace capacitance of SDO/DRDY ≤ 20pF to limit the peak currents associated with the digital code transitions

The ADC updates data on the SCLK rising edge for latching the data on the SCLK falling edge. The practical limit of the SCLK signal frequency is 22MHz using an IOVDD supply of 3.3V. This limit takes into consideration data propagation delay time after assertion on the SCLK rising edge. Reading 24-bit data at f_{DATA} = 512kSPS with a 40-bit payload is possible assuming there are no other delays in the SDO/DRDY signal path.

The FIR1 filter output mode provides data at up to 2.048MSPS, requiring a 49.152MHz SCLK signal to read the 24-bit data. Reading data at an SCLK of 49.152MHz requires non-standard SPI clocking by latching the data on the same rising edge that the data updates. The ADC data hold time specification holds the old data briefly before updating the new data. Additional hold time is provided by delaying the SDO/DRDY signal by adding a discrete buffer leading to the external controller.

9.1.2 Input Driver

The ADC incorporates precharge buffers that reduce the settling and bandwidth requirement of the analog input driver. Enable the input precharge buffers if a 10MHz or less bandwidth driver is used. Also enable the buffers if there is a long distance between the driver and the ADC inputs (such as a cable connection). For higher gain-bandwidth drivers, disable the precharge buffers to reduce power consumption. In any case, full-rated THD and SNR data sheet performance is realized with the input precharge buffers active. The low-speed mode operates the modulator at a slower rate, and therefore the driver has more time to settle between the modulator sampling intervals. Use of a low bandwidth input driver with precharge buffers disabled is possible for low-speed mode operation.

9.1.3 Antialias Filter

Input signals occurring near the modulator sampling rate ($f_{MOD} = f_{CLK} / 2$) fold back (or alias) to the pass band, resulting in data errors. When aliased, the frequency errors cannot be removed by post processing. An analog antialias filter at the ADC inputs removes out-of-band frequencies from the input signal before being aliased by the ADC. The required order of the antialias filter is dependent on the selected OSR and the target value of signal attenuation at f_{MOD} . A large value of OSR means more frequency range between the f_{DATA} Nyquist frequency and f_{MOD} for the filter to provide the desired attenuation. For example, for OSR = 128, more than two



decades of frequency separates f_{DATA} and f_{MOD} . With a corner frequency = f_{DATA} , a third-order, 60dB per decade filter provides a 120dB alias rejection at f_{MOD} .

9.1.4 Reference Voltage

For data sheet performance, the ADC requires a reference voltage with low noise and good drive strength to charge the sampled reference input. Because the modulator continuously samples the reference voltage whether conversions are ongoing or not (except for standby and power-down modes), the reference loading is constant. Therefore, incomplete settling of the reference voltage appears as a gain error to the system. The gain error is removed by performing user calibration. A 22μ F decoupling capacitor at the reference output and 1μ F and 0.1μ F capacitors directly across the reference input pins filters the reference kickback voltage. This voltage is caused by capacitor sampling. The ADC incorporates an optional reference precharge buffer that greatly reduces the kickback voltage and gain error.

9.1.5 Simultaneous-Sampling Systems

When using the ADC in a multichannel system, the same design principles apply with additional considerations for clock routing, synchronization, shared reference voltage, and SPI clocking. The *ADS127L11 in Simultaneous-Sampling Systems* application brief discusses a similar ADC (ADS127L11) and provides details for use in simultaneous-sampling systems.

9.2 Typical Applications

9.2.1 A-Weighting Filter Design

 \boxtimes 9-1 shows the ADS127L21B IIR filter performing A-weighting frequency compensation from a microphone signal. A-weighting shapes the original input frequency spectrum to account for the frequency-dependent sensitivity of the human ear to the perceived sound pressure level (SPL). As such, occupational health and safety standards specify SPL exposure limits in high noise environments using A-weighted compensated instrumentation. \boxtimes 9-2 shows the A-weighting compensating curve.









A-weighting compensation is specified by poles in the continuous-time domain by ANSI S1.43 and IEC 616672-1. The continuous-time poles cannot be used directly as Z-domain poles for a digital filter design. This application summarizes the transformation steps of the continuous-time poles to the Z-domain poles for use in the ADS127L21B IIR digital filter.

9.2.1.1 Design Requirements

The ANSI A-weighting standard specifies three classes of accuracy depending on the application requirements. \pm 9-1 shows the instrumentation class accuracy levels at ±22.5° microphone angles of incident. As such, less than a 0.3dB filter compliance error can be achieved in this design.

			
FREQUENCY RANGE (Hz)	TYPE 0 (dB)	TYPE 1 (dB)	TYPE 2 (dB)
31.5 to 2000	±0.5	±1	±2
2000 to 4000	±1	+1.5, –1	±2.5
4000 to 5000	±1	+2, -1.5	±3
5000 to 6300	±1.5	+2.5, -2	±3.5
6300 to 8000	±2	+3, -2.5	±4.5
8000 to 10000	±2	+3.5, -3.5	None specified
10000 to 12500	±3	+4, -6.5	None specified

表 9-1. ANSI A-Weighting Instrumentation Class Accuracy (±22.5° Microphone Angle of Incident)

As shown in $\frac{1}{20}$ 9-2, the target error of the IIR filter design is less than ±0.3dB over the 10Hz to 20kHz bandwidth. The 50kSPS sample rate supporting a 20.6kHz, -0.1dB bandwidth is selected for compliance over the full 20kHz audio band.

PARAMETER	VALUE
Frequency range	10Hz to 20kHz
Compensation accuracy	< ±0.3dB
Sample rate	50kHz

表 9-2. Design Requirements

9.2.1.2 Detailed Design Procedure

The bilinear transform converts the continuous time function H_A (s) to the discrete time function H_A (z). From an analytical perspective, the bilinear transform substitutes a function of z for s in H_A (s) to produce H_A (z).

ightarrow 23 shows the A-weighting transfer function of the ANSI standard. The denominator pole frequencies are in Hz.

$$H_{A}(f) = 20 \times Log \left[\frac{12194^{2} \times f^{4}}{(f^{2} + 20.6^{2}) \times \sqrt{(f^{2} + 107.7^{2}) \times (f^{2} + 737.9^{2})} \times (f^{2} + 12194^{2})} \right] + 2$$
(23)

 \neq 24 shows the S-plane conversion of \neq 23 by multiplying the frequency terms by 2π to convert to angular frequency (radians/s).

$$H_{A}(s) = \frac{7.39014 \times 10^{9} \times s^{4}}{(s + 129.4)^{2} \times (s + 767.4) \times (s + 4636) \times (s + 76818)^{2}}$$
(24)



The bilinear transform substitutes the variable s in H_A (s) with $\neq 25$, to produce H_A (z) of each separated denominator term.

$$s = \frac{2}{T} \times \frac{1 - z^{-1}}{1 + z^{-1}}$$
(25)

where:

• T = 1 / 50 kSPS

In the z-plane transformation, frequency error occurs when the poles are close to the ADC Nyquist frequency (f_{DATA} / 2). As such, the error of the pole closest to the Nyquist frequency at 12,194Hz is compensated by a new equation for variable s, replacing $\neq 25$. $\neq 26$ shows the new equation for variable s.

$$s = \frac{\omega_0}{tan\left[\frac{\omega_0 \times T}{2}\right]} \times \frac{1 - z^{-1}}{1 + z^{-1}}$$
(26)

where:

• $\omega_0 = 2\pi \times f$

• f = corner frequency

H_A (z) is found by collecting like powers of variable z then multiplying through by z^{-1} / z^{-1} to yield the H_A (z) function in the biquad form of $\neq 27$.

$$H(z) = \frac{b_0 + b_1 z^{-1} + b_2 z^{-2}}{1 + a_1 z^{-1} + a_2 z^{-2}}$$
(27)

 \pm 9-3 shows the biquad coefficient values in decimal and 2.30 hex format for the IIR filter design. The gain coefficients including g₅ are 1.0 (4000000h). The coefficient upload procedure is described in the *IIR Filter Stage* section.

COEFFICIENT(1)	BIQUAD 1	BIQUAD 2	BIQUAD 3	BIQUAD 4
b.	0.997417013	0.993278382	0.955663664	0.481661428
D _{x0}	3FD5AE2Bh	3F91DF7Eh	3D2997EEh	1ED38A74h
h	-1.994834026	-0.99327838	-0.955663664	0.161859553
D _{x1}	8054A3AAh	C06E2082h	C2D66812h	0A5BE82Ch
b.	0.997417013	0.0000000	0.0000000	0.00000000
D _{x2}	3FD5AE2Bh	0000000h	0000000h	0000000h
2	-1.99483069	-0.986556766	-0.911327329	-0.395604811
a _{x1}	8054B1ACh	C0DC4103h	C5ACD023h	E6AE6929h
	0.994837367	0.00000000	0.00000000	0.039125792
a _{x2}	3FAB6A59h	0000000	0000000h	02810977h
a	1.0000000	1.0000000	1.0000000	1.0000000
yx yx	4000000h	4000000h	4000000h	4000000h

表 9-3. A-Weighting IIR Filter Coefficients (Decimal, 2.30 Hex Format)

1. x = biquad number.



9.2.1.3 Application Curve

 \boxtimes 9-3 shows the ADS127L21B A-weighting IIR filter error with a swept sine-wave signal over the 10Hz to 20kHz frequency band. The filter conformity error is less than the design target of ±0.3dB. The filter conformity error is for the ADC alone and does not include microphone errors. The filter is scaled to provide a –1dB full-scale ADC output at a 2kHz full-scale signal input. Additional signal headroom for overload conditions is achieved by reducing the gain of the ADC input amplifier stage.



2 9-3. A-Weighting IIR Filter Error

9.2.2 PGA855 Programmable Gain Amplifier

 \boxtimes 9-4 shows the PGA855 programmable gain amplifier driving the ADS127L21B inputs. The PGA855 features differential inputs and differential outputs with 24V input capability using ±15V power supplies. The PGA accepts single-ended signals by converting the signal to differential for driving the ADC differential inputs. Pin-controlled gains scale the signal to the ADC input range. The PGA855 operates by independent input and output power supplies. For example, use ±15V power supplies for the input section and a 5V power supply for the output section. The 5V output operation prevents overloading the ADC inputs during PGA overdrive conditions. The VCM output of the ADC drives the common-mode voltage of the PGA outputs.

The goal of the application is the evaluation of SNR and THD performance of the PGA and ADC combination across gain settings. A two-pole antialias filter is also described.



3 9-4. PGA855 Driver Circuit



9.2.2.1 Design Requirements

表 9-4 lists the design parameters of the PGA855 application.

PARAMETER	VALUE
Input voltages (V _{PP} , differential)	20V, 16V, 8V, 4V, 2V, 1V, 0.5V, 0.25V
ADC reference voltage	4.096V
Data rate	187.5kSPS, OSR = 64
Alias rejection	–35dB at 12MHz f _{MOD}
Test frequency	1kHz
THD (gain = 1)	< -120dB
SNR (gain = 1, wideband filter)	> 107dB
SNR (gain = 1, sinc4 filter)	> 109dB

表 9-4. Design Parameters

9.2.2.2 Detailed Design Procedure

Two first-order antialias filters are implemented with the PGA855 circuit. Referring to \boxtimes 9-4, the first filter is provided by C_{FB} in parallel with the PGA 5k Ω feedback resistors. The PGA resistors are ±15% absolute tolerance, as such, consider the effect of the tolerance on the filter cutoff frequency. C_{FB} = 47pF results in a filter cutoff frequency of 675kHz. On the high side of the resistor tolerance, the filter frequency changes to 574kHz. At this tolerance, the filter maintains –0.1dB flatness at the edge of the wideband filter signal band (77kHz).

The second antialias filter is at the ADS127L21B inputs. Filter values $R_{FIL} = 47.4\Omega$ and $C_{DIFF} = 560$ pF yield a filter cutoff frequency of 2.8MHz. The ADC input precharge buffers significantly reduce the sample-phase input charge that raises the ADC input impedance to decrease gain error. Because of the buffers, R_{FIL} and C_{DIFF} are increased in the design to improve antialias rejection.

C0G dielectric capacitors are used throughout the signal path (C_{FB} , C_{DIFF} , and C_{CM}) to provide low distortion performance.

9.2.2.3 Application Curves

A 1kHz sine-wave test signal generates the SNR and THD data. The amplitude is adjusted to provide a - 0.2dBFS output from the ADC.

 $\frac{1}{8}$ 9-5 summarizes the SNR, ENOB, and THD combined performance of the PGA855 driving the ADS127L21B, with ADC input buffers enabled. At gain = 1, the design achieves -121.4dB THD and 107.6dB SNR for the wideband filter and 109.6dB SNR for the sinc4 filter.

		SNR (dB)		EFFECTIVE RESOLUTION (Bits)		
		WIDEBAND	SINC4	WIDEBAND	SINC4	
0.125	20	106.0	107.6	19.1	19.4	-119.6
0.25	16	107.5	109.0	19.4	19.6	-119.0
0.5	8	107.7	109.8	19.4	19.7	-121.2
1	4	107.6	109.6	19.4	19.7	-121.4
2	2	107.0	109.6	19.3	19.7	-121.4
4	1	105.4	107.4	19.0	19.3	-121.4
8	0.5	101.7	104.0	18.4	18.8	-121.4
16	0.25	96.7	99.1	17.6	17.9	-117.0

表 9.	-5.	PGA855	and	ADS127L21B	Performance	Summarv
------	-----	---------------	-----	------------	-------------	---------



 \boxtimes 9-5 and \boxtimes 9-6 show the respective 1kHz, full-scale FFT plots for the wideband and sinc4 filters. Because of the frequency roll-off of the sinc4 filter, SNR performance improves by an average of 2dB compared to the wideband filter. The filters provide identical THD results.



 \boxtimes 9-7 shows the response of the two-pole antialias filter. The filter provides –38dB antialias rejection at the 12MHz f_{MOD} frequency.



図 9-7. PGA855 Antialias Filter Response



9.2.3 THS4551 Antialias Filter Design

 \boxtimes 9-8 shows an application of the ADS127L21B used in a precision data acquisition system. Many sensors are limited in the amount of high-frequency signal content. For this reason, a first- or second-order filter can be sufficient to filter the high-frequency noise of the sensor and amplifier to prevent aliasing the noise to the pass band. However, in some applications the signal is unknown, requiring the use of a high-order antialiasing filter. The goal of this design is a THS4551 FDA antialias filter at the ADC input to attenuate out-of-band signals at the modulator sample rate (f_{MOD}).



図 9-8. ADS127L21B Circuit Diagram

9.2.3.1 Design Requirements

The antialias filter design requirement is 90dB attenuation at the critical f_{MOD} frequency using the OSR = 32 setting in wideband filter mode. The critical f_{MOD} frequency is 12.8MHz in high-speed mode. The filter is designed for a flat amplitude response and low group delay error within the pass band of the signal.

 $\frac{1}{5}$ 9-6 lists the target design values and the actual values in this design example.

	esign Requirement	5
FILTER PARAMETER	TARGET VALUE	ACTUAL VALUE
/oltage gain	0dB	0dB
Alias rejection at 12.8MHz	90dB	90dB
-0.1dB frequency	250kHz	260kHz
-3dB frequency	500kHz	550kHz
Amplitude peaking	20mdB	12mdB
Group delay linearity	0.1µs	0.017µs
Total noise of filter and ADC (165kHz bandwidth)	12µV	11.8µV

表 9-6. Antialias Filter Design Requirements



9.2.3.2 Detailed Design Procedure

The antialias filter consists of a passive first-order input filter, an active second-order filter, and a passive first-order output filter. The filter is fourth-order overall, necessitated by the selection of a low value of OSR (32). OSR 32 results in less than two decades of frequency range between the Nyquist frequency at f_{DATA} and the f_{MOD} frequency. The fourth-order filter provides 90dB rolloff over this frequency range. The filter rolloff at f_{MOD} is the key function of the filter.

The THS4551 amplifier is selected for the active filter stage because of the 135MHz gain-bandwidth product (GBP) and 50ns settling time. The amplifier GBP is sufficient to maintain the filter rolloff at 12.8MHz, even with the dc gain of 15dB. For example, for applications where gain is desired, a 10MHz amplifier has marginal GBP to fully support the required rolloff at the f_{MOD} frequency. The settling time specification of the THS4551 also makes the device a good choice for driving the ADC sampled inputs.

The design of the active filter section begins with an equal-R assumption to reduce the number of determined component values. The dc gain of the filter is $R_3 / (R_1 + R_2)$. Use of $1k\Omega$ resistors are low enough to keep resistor noise and amplifier input current noise from affecting the noise of the ADC.

The 1k Ω input resistor is divided into two 499 Ω resistors (R₁ and R₂) to implement the first-order filter using C₁. The first-order filter is decoupled from the second-order active filter, but shares R₁ and R₂ to determine each filter stage corner frequency. The corner frequency is given by C₁ and the Thevenin resistance at the terminals of C₁ (R_{TH} = 2 × 250 Ω).

The *Design Methodology for MFB Filters in ADC Interface Applications* application note provides filter design equations used in this example. The design inputs are filter f_0 and filter Q for the multiple-feedback active filter topology. Given an arbitrary selection of R_4 , the values of the C_3 feedback capacitors and the single 330pF differential capacitor (C_2) are determined. R_4 is 2 × 499 Ω and C_3 is 2 × 180pF in this case. The differential capacitor (C_4) is not part of the filter design but helps improve filter phase margin. The 5 Ω resistors (R_5) isolate the amplifier outputs from stray capacitance to further improve filter phase margin.

The final stage RC filter at the ADC inputs serves two purposes. First, the filter provides a fourth pole to the overall filter response, thereby increasing the filter rolloff. The other purpose of the filter is a charge reservoir to filter the capacitor sampled input of the ADC. The charge reservoir reduces the instantaneous charge demand of the amplifier, maintaining low distortion and low gain error that otherwise degrades from incomplete amplifier settling. The input filter values are $2 \times 22\Omega$ and 2.2nF. The 22Ω resistors are outside the THS4551 filter loop to isolate the amplifier outputs from the 2.2nF capacitor to maintain phase margin.

Low voltage-coefficient C0G capacitors are used everywhere in the signal path for the low distortion properties. The amplifier gain resistors are 0.1% tolerance to provide best possible THD performance. The ADC VCM output connection to the amplifier VOCM input pin is optional because the same function is provided by the amplifier.

See the THS4551 data sheet for additional examples of active filter designs and application.

9.2.3.3 Application Curves

The following figures are produced by the TINA-TI[™], SPICE-based analog simulation program. Download the THS4551 SPICE model at the THS4551 product folder.



 \boxtimes 9-9 shows the frequency response of the antialias filter and the *total* response of the antialias filter and ADC. As shown in this image, the filter provides 90dB stop-band attenuation from the Nyquist frequency to the 12.8MHz f_{MOD} frequency.

⊠ 9-10 shows the analog filter group delay. The 0.575 μ s group delay is small in comparison to the 85 μ s group delay of the ADC digital filter (34 / f_{DATA}). The analog filter group delay linearity is 0.017 μ s, peaking at the edge of the 165kHz pass-band.



⊠ 9-11 shows the noise density of the antialias filter circuit, the noise density of the ADC, and the combined noise density of the filter and ADC. Noise density is the noise voltage per \sqrt{Hz} of bandwidth plotted versus frequency.

⊠ 9-12 shows the total noise from the 1Hz start frequency up to the ADC final bandwidth. Below 200Hz, noise is dominated by 1 / f voltage and current noise of the THS4551 amplifier. Above 200Hz, noise is dominated by ADC noise. The combined noise of the filter and ADC over the 165kHz bandwidth is 11.8µV, meeting the 12µV target value.

Improved low-frequency noise performance is possible by substituting the THP210 input driver with the THS4551. See the *THP210 and ADS127L11 Performance* application note for details.




9.3 Power Supply Recommendations

The ADC has three analog power supplies and one digital power supply. The power supplies are able to be sequenced in any order and are tolerant of slow or fast power-supply voltage ramp rates. However, make sure the analog and digital inputs do not exceed the respective AVDD1 and AVSS (analog) or IOVDD (digital) power-supply voltages under any circumstance.

Power-supply voltages AVDD1 and AVSS establish the range of the analog input. Bipolar input signals are only possible using bipolar supply voltages (such as AVDD1 = 2.5V and AVSS = -2.5V). Unipolar input signals are possible using unipolar supply voltages (such as AVDD1 = 5 V and AVSS = DGND). Operation in mid- and low-speed mode offer the option of operating AVDD1 at 3.3V and 3V (nominal) for reduced power consumption.

The AVDD2 power-supply voltage is with respect to AVSS. The IOVDD power-supply voltage is with respect to DGND. One application option is a single 5V voltage for all supplies with AVSS = DGND. The mid- and low-speed modes allow a single 3.3V and 3V voltage option for use with all supplies. 表 9-7 shows the possible power-supply voltages for AVDD1, AVSS, AVDD2, and IOVDD. All voltages are nominal values.

MODE	ANALOG CONFIGURATION	AVDD1 – DGND	AVSS – DGND	AVDD2 – DGND	IOVDD – DGND
Max-speed	Unipolar	5V	0V	1.8V to 5V	1.8V to 5V
	Bipolar	2.5V	–2.5V	0V to 2.5V	1.8V to 5V
High-speed	Unipolar	5V	0V	1.8V to 5V	1.8V to 5V
	Bipolar	2.5V	–2.5V	0V to 2.5V	1.8V to 5V
Mid-speed	Unipolar	3.3V to 5V	0V	1.8V to 5V	1.8V to 5V
	Bipolar	1.65V to 2.5V	-1.65V to -2.5V	0.15V to 2.5V	1.8V to 5V
Low-speed	Unipolar	3V to 5V	0V	1.8V to 5V	1.8V to 5V
	Bipolar	1.5V to 2.5V	-1.5V to -2.5V	0.3V to 2.5V	1.8V to 5V

表 9-7. Power-Supply Configurations

Power-supply bypassing at the device pins is essential to achieve data sheet performance. The ADC also requires capacitors for the CAPA and CAPD pins, and for the analog input and reference pins. Place the capacitors close to the device pins using short, direct traces with the smaller capacitor value placed closest to the device pins.

The recommended bypass components of the device pins are as follows:

- 1. AVDD1 to AVSS: Parallel combination of 1µF and 0.1µF capacitors across the pins
- 2. AVDD2 to AVSS: Parallel combination of 1µF and 0.1µF capacitors across the pins
- 3. IOVDD to DGND: Parallel combination of 1μ F and 0.1μ F capacitors across the pins
- 4. CAPA to AVSS: 1µF capacitor placed across the pins
- 5. CAPD to DGND: 1µF capacitor placed across the pins
- 6. REFP, REFN: Parallel combination of 1µF and 0.1µF capacitors across the pins
- 7. AINP, AINN: General recommendation 22Ω resistors in series, followed by 2.2nF across the pins, 220pF from each pin to AVSS



☑ 9-13 shows the component placement for the device configured for unipolar power-supply operation.



2 9-13. Device Capacitor Bypass Recommendation

9.4 Layout

9.4.1 Layout Guidelines

To achieve data sheet performance, use a minimum four-layer PCB board with the inner layers dedicated to ground and power planes. Best performance is achieved by combining the analog and digital grounds on a single, unbroken ground plane. In some layout geometries, however, using separate analog and digital grounds is necessary to help direct digital currents away from the analog ground. For example, current flow from pulsing LED indicators, relays, and so on. In this case, consider separate ground return paths for these loads. When separate analog and digital grounds are used, join the grounds at the ADC.

Use the power plane layer to route the power supplies to the ADC.

The top and bottom layers route the analog and digital signals. Route the input signal as a matched differential pair throughout the signal chain to reduce differential noise coupling. Avoid crossing or adjacent placement of digital signals with the analog signals. This layout is especially true for high-frequency digital signals such as the clock input, and SPI signals, SCLK, and SDO/DRDY. The pin placement of the package minimizes the need to cross digital and analog signals.

Place the voltage reference close to the ADC. Orient the reference such that the reference ground pin is close to the ADC REFN pin. Place the reference input bypass capacitors directly at the ADC pins. Use reference bypass capacitors for each ADC in multichannel systems. Connect the reference ground pin to the ground plane (or to AVSS in some bipolar supply systems) at one point. Route REFP and REFN as paired traces to each ADC.



9.4.2 Layout Example

 \boxtimes 9-14 is a layout example based on the circuit diagram of \boxtimes 9-8. A four-layer PCB is used, with the inner layers dedicated as ground and power planes. Cutouts are used on the plane layers under the amplifier input pins to reduce stray capacitance to increase amplifier phase margin. Thermal vias for the ADS127L21B and THS4551 WQFN package thermal pad are not used to enable bypass capacitor placement on the bottom layer underneath the devices. Place the smaller of the parallel supply bypass capacitors closest to the device supply pins.



図 9-14. Layout Example of a Typical Application Circuit

See the *QFN and SON PCB Attachment* application note for details of attaching the WQFN package to the printed circuit board.



10 Device and Documentation Support

10.1 Documentation Support

10.1.1 Related Documentation

For related documentation see the following:

- Texas Instruments, THP210 and ADS127L11 Performance application note
- Texas Instruments, PGA855 Low-Noise, Wide-Bandwidth, Fully Differential PGA data sheet
- Texas Instruments, ADS127L11 in Simultaneous-Sampling Systems application brief
- Texas Instruments, ADS127L11 CRC Calculator
- Texas Instruments, Four-Channel Synchronous IEPE Vibration Sensor Interface reference design
- Texas Instruments, THS4551 Low-Noise, Precision, 150-MHz, Fully Differential Amplifier data sheet
- Texas Instruments, REF60xx High-Precision Voltage Reference with Integrated ADC Drive Buffer data sheet
- Texas Instruments, Design Methodology for MFB Filters in ADC Interface Applications application note
- Texas Instruments, QFN and SON PCB Attachment application note

10.2 ドキュメントの更新通知を受け取る方法

ドキュメントの更新についての通知を受け取るには、www.tij.co.jpのデバイス製品フォルダを開いてください。[通知]をクリックして登録すると、変更されたすべての製品情報に関するダイジェストを毎週受け取ることができます。変更の詳細については、改訂されたドキュメントに含まれている改訂履歴をご覧ください。

10.3 サポート・リソース

テキサス・インスツルメンツ E2E[™] サポート・フォーラムは、エンジニアが検証済みの回答と設計に関するヒントをエキスパートから迅速かつ直接得ることができる場所です。既存の回答を検索したり、独自の質問をしたりすることで、設計で必要な支援を迅速に得ることができます。

リンクされているコンテンツは、各寄稿者により「現状のまま」提供されるものです。これらはテキサス・インスツルメンツの仕様を構成するものではなく、必ずしもテキサス・インスツルメンツの見解を反映したものではありません。テキサス・インスツルメンツの使用条件を参照してください。

10.4 Trademarks

TINA-TI^M and テキサス・インスツルメンツ E2E^M are trademarks of Texas Instruments. すべての商標は、それぞれの所有者に帰属します。

10.5 静電気放電に関する注意事項



この IC は、ESD によって破損する可能性があります。テキサス・インスツルメンツは、IC を取り扱う際には常に適切な注意を払うことを推奨します。正しい取り扱いおよび設置手順に従わない場合、デバイスを破損するおそれがあります。

ESD による破損は、わずかな性能低下からデバイスの完全な故障まで多岐にわたります。精密な IC の場合、パラメータがわずか に変化するだけで公表されている仕様から外れる可能性があるため、破損が発生しやすくなっています。

10.6 用語集

テキサス・インスツルメンツ用語集 この用語集には、用語や略語の一覧および定義が記載されています。

11 Revision History

資料番号末尾の英字は改訂を表しています。その改訂履歴は英語版に準じています。

DATE REVISION		NOTES				
October 2024	*	Initial Release				



12 Mechanical, Packaging, and Orderable Information

The following pages include mechanical, packaging, and orderable information. This information is the most current data available for the designated devices. This data is subject to change without notice and revision of this document. For browser-based versions of this data sheet, refer to the left-hand navigation.

重要なお知らせと免責事項

テキサス・インスツルメンツは、技術データと信頼性データ(データシートを含みます)、設計リソース(リファレンスデザインを含みます)、アプリケーショ ンや設計に関する各種アドバイス、Webツール、安全性情報、その他のリソースを、欠陥が存在する可能性のある「現状のまま」提供しており、商品性 および特定目的に対する適合性の黙示保証、第三者の知的財産権の非侵害保証を含むいかなる保証も、明示的または黙示的にかかわらず拒否しま す。

これらのリソースは、テキサス・インスツルメンツ製品を使用する設計の経験を積んだ開発者への提供を意図したものです。(1) お客様のアプリケーションに適した テキサス・インスツルメンツ製品の選定、(2) お客様のアプリケーションの設計、検証、試験、(3) お客様のアプリケーションに該当する各種 規格や、その他のあらゆる安全性、セキュリティ、規制、または他の要件への確実な適合に関する責任を、お客様のみが単独で負うものとします。

上記の各種リソースは、予告なく変更される可能性があります。これらのリソースは、リソースで説明されているテキサス・インスツルメンツ製品を使用するアプリケーションの開発の目的でのみ、テキサス・インスツルメンツはその使用をお客様に許諾します。これらのリソースに関して、他の目的で複製することや掲載することは禁止されています。テキサス・インスツルメンツや第三者の知的財産権のライセンスが付与されている訳ではありません。お客様は、これらのリソースを自身で使用した結果発生するあらゆる申し立て、損害、費用、損失、責任について、テキサス・インスツルメンツおよびその代理人を完全に補償するものとし、テキサス・インスツルメンツは一切の責任を拒否します。

テキサス・インスツルメンツの製品は、テキサス・インスツルメンツの販売条件、または ti.com やかかる テキサス・インスツルメンツ製品の関連資料などのいずれかを通じて提供する適用可能な条項の下で提供されています。テキサス・インスツルメンツがこれらのリソースを提供することは、適用されるテキサス・インスツルメンツの保証または他の保証の放棄の拡大や変更を意味するものではありません。

お客様がいかなる追加条項または代替条項を提案した場合でも、テキサス・インスツルメンツはそれらに異議を唱え、拒否します。

郵送先住所: Texas Instruments, Post Office Box 655303, Dallas, Texas 75265 Copyright © 2024, Texas Instruments Incorporated



PACKAGING INFORMATION

Orderable part number	Status	Material type	Package Pins	Package qty Carrier	RoHS	Lead finish/	MSL rating/	Op temp (°C)	Part marking
	(1)	(2)			(3)	Ball material	Peak reflow		(6)
						(4)	(5)		
ADS127L21BIRUKR	Active	Production	WQFN (RUK) 20	3000 LARGE T&R	Yes	NIPDAU	Level-2-260C-1 YEAR	-40 to 125	27L21B
ADS127L21BIRUKR.A	Active	Production	WQFN (RUK) 20	3000 LARGE T&R	Yes	NIPDAU	Level-2-260C-1 YEAR	-40 to 125	27L21B
ADS127L21BIRUKT	Active	Production	WQFN (RUK) 20	250 SMALL T&R	Yes	NIPDAU	Level-2-260C-1 YEAR	-40 to 125	27L21B
ADS127L21BIRUKT.A	Active	Production	WQFN (RUK) 20	250 SMALL T&R	Yes	NIPDAU	Level-2-260C-1 YEAR	-40 to 125	27L21B

⁽¹⁾ **Status:** For more details on status, see our product life cycle.

⁽²⁾ Material type: When designated, preproduction parts are prototypes/experimental devices, and are not yet approved or released for full production. Testing and final process, including without limitation quality assurance, reliability performance testing, and/or process qualification, may not yet be complete, and this item is subject to further changes or possible discontinuation. If available for ordering, purchases will be subject to an additional waiver at checkout, and are intended for early internal evaluation purposes only. These items are sold without warranties of any kind.

⁽³⁾ RoHS values: Yes, No, RoHS Exempt. See the TI RoHS Statement for additional information and value definition.

⁽⁴⁾ Lead finish/Ball material: Parts may have multiple material finish options. Finish options are separated by a vertical ruled line. Lead finish/Ball material values may wrap to two lines if the finish value exceeds the maximum column width.

⁽⁵⁾ MSL rating/Peak reflow: The moisture sensitivity level ratings and peak solder (reflow) temperatures. In the event that a part has multiple moisture sensitivity ratings, only the lowest level per JEDEC standards is shown. Refer to the shipping label for the actual reflow temperature that will be used to mount the part to the printed circuit board.

⁽⁶⁾ Part marking: There may be an additional marking, which relates to the logo, the lot trace code information, or the environmental category of the part.

Multiple part markings will be inside parentheses. Only one part marking contained in parentheses and separated by a "~" will appear on a part. If a line is indented then it is a continuation of the previous line and the two combined represent the entire part marking for that device.

Important Information and Disclaimer: The information provided on this page represents TI's knowledge and belief as of the date that it is provided. TI bases its knowledge and belief on information provided by third parties, and makes no representation or warranty as to the accuracy of such information. Efforts are underway to better integrate information from third parties. TI has taken and continues to take reasonable steps to provide representative and accurate information but may not have conducted destructive testing or chemical analysis on incoming materials and chemicals. TI and TI suppliers consider certain information to be proprietary, and thus CAS numbers and other limited information may not be available for release.

In no event shall TI's liability arising out of such information exceed the total purchase price of the TI part(s) at issue in this document sold by TI to Customer on an annual basis.



www.ti.com

TAPE AND REEL INFORMATION





QUADRANT ASSIGNMENTS FOR PIN 1 ORIENTATION IN TAPE



*All dimensions are nominal												
Device	Package Type	Package Drawing	Pins	SPQ	Reel Diameter (mm)	Reel Width W1 (mm)	A0 (mm)	B0 (mm)	K0 (mm)	P1 (mm)	W (mm)	Pin1 Quadrant
ADS127L21BIRUKR	WQFN	RUK	20	3000	330.0	12.4	3.3	3.3	1.1	8.0	12.0	Q2
ADS127L21BIRUKT	WQFN	RUK	20	250	180.0	12.4	3.3	3.3	1.1	8.0	12.0	Q2



www.ti.com

PACKAGE MATERIALS INFORMATION

24-Oct-2024



*All dimensions are nominal

Device	Package Type	Package Drawing	g Pins SPQ		Length (mm) Width (m		Height (mm)	
ADS127L21BIRUKR	WQFN	RUK	20	3000	367.0	367.0	35.0	
ADS127L21BIRUKT	WQFN	RUK	20	250	210.0	185.0	35.0	

RUK 20

3 x 3, 0.4 mm pitch

GENERIC PACKAGE VIEW

WQFN - 0.8 mm max height

PLASTIC QUAD FLATPACK - NO LEAD

This image is a representation of the package family, actual package may vary. Refer to the product data sheet for package details.





RUK0020B



PACKAGE OUTLINE

WQFN - 0.8 mm max height

PLASTIC QUAD FLATPACK - NO LEAD



NOTES:

- 1. All linear dimensions are in millimeters. Any dimensions in parenthesis are for reference only. Dimensioning and tolerancing per ASME Y14.5M. 2. This drawing is subject to change without notice.
- 3. The package thermal pad must be soldered to the printed circuit board for thermal and mechanical performance.



RUK0020B

EXAMPLE BOARD LAYOUT

WQFN - 0.8 mm max height

PLASTIC QUAD FLATPACK - NO LEAD



NOTES: (continued)

4. This package is designed to be soldered to a thermal pad on the board. For more information, see Texas Instruments literature number SLUA271 (www.ti.com/lit/slua271).

 Vias are optional depending on application, refer to device data sheet. If any vias are implemented, refer to their locations shown on this view. It is recommended that vias under paste be filled, plugged or tented.



RUK0020B

EXAMPLE STENCIL DESIGN

WQFN - 0.8 mm max height

PLASTIC QUAD FLATPACK - NO LEAD



6. Laser cutting apertures with trapezoidal walls and rounded corners may offer better paste release. IPC-7525 may have alternate design recommendations.



重要なお知らせと免責事項

テキサス・インスツルメンツは、技術データと信頼性データ (データシートを含みます)、設計リソース (リファレンス デザインを含みま す)、アプリケーションや設計に関する各種アドバイス、Web ツール、安全性情報、その他のリソースを、欠陥が存在する可能性のある 「現状のまま」提供しており、商品性および特定目的に対する適合性の黙示保証、第三者の知的財産権の非侵害保証を含むいかなる保証 も、明示的または黙示的にかかわらず拒否します。

これらのリソースは、 テキサス・インスツルメンツ製品を使用する設計の経験を積んだ開発者への提供を意図したものです。(1) お客様 のアプリケーションに適した テキサス・インスツルメンツ製品の選定、(2) お客様のアプリケーションの設計、検証、試験、(3) お客様の アプリケーションに該当する各種規格や、その他のあらゆる安全性、セキュリティ、規制、または他の要件への確実な適合に関する責任 を、お客様のみが単独で負うものとします。

上記の各種リソースは、予告なく変更される可能性があります。これらのリソースは、リソースで説明されている テキサス・インスツル メンツ製品を使用するアプリケーションの開発の目的でのみ、 テキサス・インスツルメンツはその使用をお客様に許諾します。これらの リソースに関して、他の目的で複製することや掲載することは禁止されています。 テキサス・インスツルメンツや第三者の知的財産権の ライセンスが付与されている訳ではありません。お客様は、これらのリソースを自身で使用した結果発生するあらゆる申し立て、損害、 費用、損失、責任について、 テキサス・インスツルメンツおよびその代理人を完全に補償するものとし、 テキサス・インスツルメンツは 一切の責任を拒否します。

テキサス・インスツルメンツの製品は、 テキサス・インスツルメンツの販売条件、または ti.com やかかる テキサス・インスツルメンツ 製品の関連資料などのいずれかを通じて提供する適用可能な条項の下で提供されています。 テキサス・インスツルメンツがこれらのリソ ースを提供することは、適用される テキサス・インスツルメンツの保証または他の保証の放棄の拡大や変更を意味するものではありませ ん。

お客様がいかなる追加条項または代替条項を提案した場合でも、 テキサス・インスツルメンツはそれらに異議を唱え、拒否します。

郵送先住所:Texas Instruments, Post Office Box 655303, Dallas, Texas 75265 Copyright © 2025, Texas Instruments Incorporated